
Parkside  Station Approach  Burton Street  Melton Mowbray  Leicestershire  LE13 1GH 

01664 502502 * contactus@melton.gov.uk * www.melton.gov.uk * @MeltonBC 

 

 
 

Agenda 

 
 

 

 

Meeting name Special Planning Committee 

Date Thursday, 11 August 2022 

Start time 6.00 pm 

Venue Parkside, Station Approach, Burton Street, 
Melton Mowbray, Leicestershire, LE13 1GH 

Other information This meeting is open to the public 
 

Members of the Planning Committee are invited to attend the above meeting 
to consider the following items of business. 
 
Edd de Coverly 
Chief Executive 
 
 
 
 
Membership 
 
Councillors P. Posnett MBE (Chair) T. Webster (Vice-Chair) 
 R. Browne P. Chandler 
 C. Evans C. Fisher 
 E. Holmes J. Illingworth 
 D. Pritchett R. Smith 
 P. Wood  
 
 
 
 
Quorum: 6 Councillors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Meeting enquiries Democratic Services 

Email democracy@melton.gov.uk 

Agenda despatched Wednesday, 3 August 2022 

 
 

Public Document Pack



 

No. Item 
 

Page No. 

1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

 

2.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
Members to declare any interest as appropriate in respect of items to 
be considered at this meeting. 
 

 

3.   SCHEDULE OF APPLICATIONS 
 

 

3.1   APPLICATION 20/01182/FUL 
Land East of Jericho Covert, Jericho Lane, Barkestone Le Vale 
 

1 - 120 

  



 

 

Planning Report 

20/01182/FUL - Land East Of Jericho Covert, Jericho Lane, Barkestone 
Le Vale - Installation of a solar farm comprising ground mounted solar PV 
panels with a net installed generating capacity (AC) of up to 49.9MW and 
associated infrastructure 

1 

 

 

Planning Committee 
11 August 2022 

Report of: Assistant Director for Planning and 
Delivery 

       

  
  

 

Planning Application 20/01182/FUL 

Land East Of Jericho Covert, Jericho Lane, 
Barkestone Le Vale  

Corporate Priority: Delivering sustainable and inclusive growth in 
Melton 

Relevant Ward Member(s): Cllrs C Evans and M Steadman (Long Clawson and 
Stathern) 

Cllrs D Pritchett and P Chandler (Bottesford) 

Date of consultation with Ward 
Member(s): 

12 November 2020 

Exempt Information: No 

1 Executive Summary 

1.1.1 Given its nature, the determination of this planning application has required the 

consideration of numerous technical matters in order to consider whether its impacts are 

outweighed by the potential public benefits. The officer’s report to Planning Committee is 

therefore necessarily longer than most. To help navigate the report and to focus on the 

main planning considerations, this executive summary provides an overview of the 

application, an analysis and consideration of national and Local Plan policies and 

signposts the factors that comprise the material planning considerations against which 

Planning Committee must arrive at its conclusion. To further assist, a contents page is 

included at the bottom of the Executive Summary.  

1.1.2 The application comprises the installation of a solar farm with a 49.9 MW output for a 

temporary period of 40 years and includes the mounting system, battery storage units, 

inverters, underground cabling, stock proof fence, CCTV, internal tracks and associated 

infrastructure, landscaping and environmental enhancements. The application site covers 

approximately 8 fields across approximately 74 ha of agricultural land in the northern part 

of the Borough, within Long Clawson and Stathern ward. The proposed location of the 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3.1

http://www.melton.gov.uk/
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


Planning Report 

20/01182/FUL - Land East Of Jericho Covert, Jericho Lane, Barkestone 
Le Vale - Installation of a solar farm comprising ground mounted solar PV 
panels with a net installed generating capacity (AC) of up to 49.9MW and 
associated infrastructure 

2 

 

substation lies within Bottesford ward. To assist in understanding the potential energy 

output of the proposal, the development would generate enough to power the equivalent 

of 15,000 homes. 

1.1.3 As with any planning application, under England’s plan-led planning system the basic 

principle is that planning decisions must be made in accordance with the development 

plan unless other material considerations indicate otherwise.  

1.1.4 The Melton Local Plan and Bottesford Neighbourhood Plan are applicable in the 

consideration of this application, specifically Policy EN10 of the Melton Local Plan (Energy 

Generation from Renewable and Low Carbon Sources and Policy 9 of the Bottesford 

Neighbourhood Development Plan (Renewable Energy and Low Carbon Technologies). 

1.1.5 Also relevant are Section 14 of the NPPF which looks at meeting the challenge of Climate 

Change whilst Section 16 of the NPPF addresses conserving and enhancing the historic 

environment. 

1.1.6 Support for renewable energy within Policy EN10 of the Melton Local Plan, is subject to a 

number of factors and these are considered in full within the report (see Page 12). 

1.1.7 The following are identified as the material planning considerations against which Planning 

Committee is recommended to make its assessment in balancing the potential public 

benefits of the proposal against any potential negative impacts: 

- Principle of development and climate change 

- Impact upon the character of the area, wider landscape and heritage 

- Cumulative impacts 

- Impact upon residential amenities, including noise 

- Impact upon highways, including public footpaths 

- Impact upon ecology 

- Impact upon archaeology 

- Consideration of loss of agricultural land 

- Impact upon flooding and drainage. 

1.1.8 One of the most significant considerations is the proposal’s impact upon the surrounding 

landscape and nearby heritage assets. Paragraph 202 of the NPPF sets out how harm to 

heritage impacts must be weighed against the public benefits of the renewable energy 

proposal.  

1.1.9 A significant consideration for Planning Committee is the proposal’s potential impact on 

the character of the landscape. The application has been accompanied by a Landscape 

Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) which includes an assessment of individual and 

cumulative landscape and visual effects of the development. This LVIA has been 

externally reviewed by a Landscape Consultant as part of the Council’s assessment. The 

full Landscape Consultant’s report can be found appended to this Committee Report at 

Appendix H. 

1.1.10 The proposed development is sited within the Vale of Belvoir. The landscape in the locality 

of the site has been assessed to have moderate sensitivity to changes to landscape 

character as it is low-lying and well-screened from most of the surrounding area. 

Page 2



Planning Report 

20/01182/FUL - Land East Of Jericho Covert, Jericho Lane, Barkestone 
Le Vale - Installation of a solar farm comprising ground mounted solar PV 
panels with a net installed generating capacity (AC) of up to 49.9MW and 
associated infrastructure 

3 

 

Significant mitigation proposals are also proposed (outlined on page 14 below) which 

would reduce views from adjacent and further afield, minimising the visual impact of the 

development. In terms of heritage, the three most significant heritage assets are Belvoir 

Castle, the Registered Park and Garden of Belvoir Castle and The Church of St Peter and 

St Paul in Barkestone Le Vale. A detailed Heritage Assessment and addendum has been 

submitted with the application. Full consideration of the significance of the heritage assets, 

impacts and public benefits of the scheme can be found on page 16 of the Report. 

1.1.11 The development would be seen from the upper floors of Belvoir Castle and the Castle 

would be visible from the site looking back, likewise with the Registered Park and 

Gardens. As such, the proposal would affect the way in which both heritage assets are 

experienced. The same goes for the Church of St Peter and St Paul. The harm to these 

heritage assets is assessed and, as required by NPPF, weighed against the public 

benefits of the scheme (see page 19 below). 

1.1.12 The public benefits include not only the significant production of renewable energy but 

also proposed biodiversity and landscape enhancements and employment generation 

during construction and maintenance. 

1.1.13 Archaeological work (page 21) by way of a geo-physical survey did not identify the 

presence of probable archaeological features but mitigation measures are recommended 

to be secured by condition 4 of Appendix C. 

1.1.14 Arising from ecological work undertaken by the applicant, a range of compensatory and 

enhancement biodiversity measures are proposed (detailed on page 23) that will bring 

about a net gain in biodiversity. 

1.1.15 Impacts upon residential amenity (page 22) have been considered with the main effect on 

residents being the potential for glint and glare from the solar panels. In this case however 

any such effect is considered to be negligible. Specialist glint and glare assessments that 

have been undertaken show how this conclusion can be reached. 

1.1.16 Due to the nature of the proposal and distance to neighbouring dwellings no adverse 

concerns are raised with respect to noise and odour. 

1.1.17 Both Policy EN10 and the Neighbourhood Plan Policy state that the development should 

avoid being located on the highest quality agricultural land (considered on page 26). The 

applicant has submitted an agricultural land classification report which concludes that the 

entire development site is located on sub-grade 3b and therefore not considered to be 

‘Best and Most Versatile’ land. The Council undertook an external review of the submitted 

report which confirms the findings of the applicant. The full external review can be found in 

Appendix I.  

1.1.18 Highway safety is considered on page 27. Two accesses are proposed, one for the 

construction traffic and one for operational traffic.  The accesses are considered to be 

suitable for the traffic proposed. The proposed substation access off Castle View Road is 

also suitable for the small number of service deliveries required to erect the substation 

infrastructure. It is not considered that the development would result in unacceptable 

adverse impacts on highway safety. 

1.1.19 The application has been supported by a detailed flood risk assessment which identifies 

that the entirety of the site is within Flood Zone 1 and with the majority of the site also a 

low/negligible risk of flooding from all other sources. The proposed drainage strategy 

Page 3



Planning Report 

20/01182/FUL - Land East Of Jericho Covert, Jericho Lane, Barkestone 
Le Vale - Installation of a solar farm comprising ground mounted solar PV 
panels with a net installed generating capacity (AC) of up to 49.9MW and 
associated infrastructure 

4 

 

utilises the existing topography and natural drainage regime to ensure that any overland 

flows, although not increased compared to the existing situation, will be allowed to run-off 

overland to the shallow valleys running through the site, as per the existing situation.  

1.1.20 Overall, it is considered that the development would accord with Policy EN10 of the Melton 

Local Plan and Bottesford Neighbourhood Plan Policy 9 which supports development of 

renewable and low carbon energy proposals. The proposal is further supported by national 

planning guidance within the NPPF which sets out how the balance between the impacts 

and benefits of renewable energy development must be assessed. 

 

Table of Contents 

 

1 Executive Summary................................................................................................................... 1 

2 Introduction and Recommendation ............................................................................................ 5 

3 Reason for Recommendations .................................................................................................. 9 

4 Key Factors ............................................................................................................................. 10 

5 Report Detail ........................................................................................................................... 11 

Position under the Development Plan Policies ........................................................................... 11 

Principle of Development and Impact upon the character of the area, wider landscape and 

Heritage Assets .......................................................................................................................... 11 

1. Siting, so as to gain maximum effect from wind/solar/water sources ...................................... 12 

2. The surrounding landscape, townscape and heritage assets ................................................. 12 

Significance ................................................................................................................................ 17 

Impact of the proposals .............................................................................................................. 18 

Public Benefits ............................................................................................................................ 19 

Archaeology ................................................................................................................................ 21 

3. Residential and visual amenity ............................................................................................... 22 

4. Noise impacts ......................................................................................................................... 23 

5. Odour impacts ........................................................................................................................ 23 

6. Designated nature conservation, geo-diversity or biodiversity considerations, including 

potential impact on ancient woodland and veteran trees ............................................................ 23 

7. Ecology ................................................................................................................................... 23 

8. Aircraft movements and associated activities, including effects on radar, communications and 

navigational systems .................................................................................................................. 26 

9. Electromagnetic transmissions ............................................................................................... 26 

10. High quality agricultural land ................................................................................................. 26 

11. Access for construction, maintenance and de-commissioning.............................................. 27 

12. Not creating demand for bio-energy fuels known to result in net carbon emissions through 

production methods, transport requirements and/or loss of carbon sinks ................................... 32 

Page 4



Planning Report 

20/01182/FUL - Land East Of Jericho Covert, Jericho Lane, Barkestone 
Le Vale - Installation of a solar farm comprising ground mounted solar PV 
panels with a net installed generating capacity (AC) of up to 49.9MW and 
associated infrastructure 

5 

 

13. General safety in terms of highways, power lines, icing, visual distraction ........................... 32 

14. Transport movements for importation of biomass fuel .......................................................... 33 

Conclusion on Policy EN10 of the Melton Local Plan and Bottesford Neighbourhood Plan Policy 

9.................................................................................................................................................. 33 

Flood Risk/Drainage ................................................................................................................... 34 

6 Consultation & Feedback ........................................................................................................ 35 

7 Financial Implications .............................................................................................................. 35 

Financial Implications reviewed by: N/A ..................................................................................... 35 

8 Legal and Governance Implications ........................................................................................ 36 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Tom Pickwell (Solicitor) ............................................................ 36 

9 Background Papers ................................................................................................................. 36 

 

2 Introduction and Recommendation 

2.1 The application site comprises approximately 74 hectares of agricultural fields to the north 

west of the village of Barkestone Le Vale and to the south east of the village of Granby. 

The Site is currently used for agricultural purposes and agricultural land lies immediately 

to the north, east and west of the site. 

2.2 The application proposes the installation of a solar farm with a 49.9 MW output for a 

temporary period of 40 years and includes mounting system, battery storage units, 

inverters, underground cabling, stock proof fence, CCTV, internal tracks and associated 

infrastructure, landscaping and environmental enhancements.  

2.3 The proposed solar panels would be static (non-rotating). The panels would be spaced to 

avoid shadow and elevated on angled frames supported by stakes. This is a standardised 

construction method within the sector and allows the scheme to be easily reversed in the 

future, by removing the framework as no in-ground foundations are required. 

2.4 The solar panels would be sited to achieve optimum exposure for solar energy absorption 

and once mounted would have a maximum height of up to 2.8m, with a gap of 

approximately 0.8m at its lowest edge which would still allow for grazing to occur in and 

around the panels thus allowing an element of agricultural activity to be retained within the 

field.  

2.5 Other infrastructure required at the site would consist of  

- Stock-proof fencing 

- CCTV at perimeter of the site 

- Stone tracks through the site 

- Inverter units 

- Battery storage units 

2.6 In addition to infrastructure, ecological enhancements are proposed including bird/bat 

boxes, wild flower meadows and management of hedgerows. 

Page 5



Planning Report 

20/01182/FUL - Land East Of Jericho Covert, Jericho Lane, Barkestone 
Le Vale - Installation of a solar farm comprising ground mounted solar PV 
panels with a net installed generating capacity (AC) of up to 49.9MW and 
associated infrastructure 

6 

 

2.7 The grid connection point is proposed at approximately 3.6 km from the site, off Castle 

View Road to the south of the A52. The proposed grid connection point is connected to 

the proposal solar farm via a trenched cable beneath the intervening farmland as shown 

on the proposed block plans. The grid connection infrastructure would comprise of 

electrical transmission componentry, with a cable connection being made to the adjacent 

132Kv Pylon (which would be replaced) and a step-up transformer and a storage cabinet. 

2.8 The solar farm site itself and the wider landscape is characterised by large, irregular 

shaped fields which are separated by established hedgerows and boundaries. The site is 

not within an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and is not within an area designated for 

its landscape quality. A Public Right of Way (G18 and G18a) runs along the south western 

side of the site and is proposed to be retained. 

2.9 The site is entirely within Flood Zone 1. With respect to the historic environment, there are 

no designated heritage assets identified within or immediately adjacent to the site itself 

however there are a number of listed buildings within the wider area, including the Grade 

II* Church of St Peter And St Paul and Grade II Farmhouse located approximately 550 

metres from the site within the village of Barkestone Le Vale. The Grantham Canal Site of 

Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) is situated to the south east of the site, adjacent to the 

development site. Further to the south east at a distance of approximately 4.5 km lies the 

Grade I Listed Belvoir Castle and Registered Park and Gardens. 

2.10 Access for the development would be as follows  

- Main Site Construction Access - To facilitate construction of the solar farm site itself, a 

haul road is to be constructed to the site from Sutton Road to the northeast via an 

existing field access, which is to be improved. The haul road is temporary and to be 

removed once construction is complete. 

- Sub-Station Construction and Operational Access - The sub-station, which is not part 

of the main site, is located on and accessed from Castle View Road;  

- Main Site Operational Access - To main site from Granby Road via 'Flawborough 

Lane'. 

2.11 The following plans and documents have been submitted as part of the planning 

application. A number have been revised or addenda submitted during the consideration 

of the application.  

- Site location Plan  

- Existing block plan  

- Proposed block plan  

- Elevations and technical drawings in respect of proposed componentry PV panels, 

fencing and inverters  

- Grid yard elevation 

- Planning, Design and Access Statement  

- Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment  

- Ecological Impact Assessment Report  

- Natural Environment Team – Biodiversity Plan  

Page 6



Planning Report 

20/01182/FUL - Land East Of Jericho Covert, Jericho Lane, Barkestone 
Le Vale - Installation of a solar farm comprising ground mounted solar PV 
panels with a net installed generating capacity (AC) of up to 49.9MW and 
associated infrastructure 

7 

 

- Heritage and Archaeological Assessment  

- Flood Risk Assessment 

- Transport Statement  

- Agricultural Land Classification  

- Glint and Glare Survey Report  

- Tree Survey Report  

- Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP)  

- Statement of Community Involvement 

2.12 The applicant undertook a comprehensive and robust scope of pre-application 

consultation activities with the local community and full details of this engagement are 

provided within the Statement of Community Involvement. 

2.13 A Screening Opinion was issued (reference 20/00836/EIA) in respect to a request for a 

Screening opinion for the proposed development. A decision was made on 28 August 

2020 that an Environmental Impact Assessment was not required, having taken into 

account the relevant thresholds and the criteria in the Schedule 3 of the 2017 

Environmental Assessment Regulations concluding that any effects on the environment as 

a result of the proposal would not be considered to be of more than local importance.  

2.14 Site Location Plan and route of cable 

 

2.15 Cable Route to substation 

Page 7



Planning Report 

20/01182/FUL - Land East Of Jericho Covert, Jericho Lane, Barkestone 
Le Vale - Installation of a solar farm comprising ground mounted solar PV 
panels with a net installed generating capacity (AC) of up to 49.9MW and 
associated infrastructure 

8 

 

 

2.16 Proposed Solar Panel Site Plan 

 

 

Page 8



Planning Report 

20/01182/FUL - Land East Of Jericho Covert, Jericho Lane, Barkestone 
Le Vale - Installation of a solar farm comprising ground mounted solar PV 
panels with a net installed generating capacity (AC) of up to 49.9MW and 
associated infrastructure 

9 

 

2.17 Proposed Substation Site Plan 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION(S) 

1. It is recommended that the Planning application is APPROVED subject to conditions as set out in 
Appendix C 

3 Reason for Recommendations 

3.1 Planning law requires that planning applications should be determined in accordance with 

the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The proposed 

development would result in a solar farm with a 49.9 MW output for a temporary period of 

40 years, including battery storage units, associated infrastructure, permanent grid 

connection hub and ecological enhancements. 

3.2 The expected site energy generation would provide the energy equivalent of the demand 

from 15,000 houses, equating to an annual reduction in carbon emissions of 21,500 

tonnes of carbon. The development would provide a significant environmental benefit, 

especially given significant and growing climate change pressures. 

3.3 In addition, it should be noted that In July 2019 MBC formally declared a climate 

emergency. A Climate Change Policy Development Group was established to ‘develop an 

action plan for how the Council will work towards ensuring its operations become carbon 

neutral by 2030 and further promote cutting of emissions within the wider Borough of 

Melton. The Council will explore a number of areas including how to improve the energy 

efficiency of local homes and increasing renewable energy’.  

Page 9



Planning Report 

20/01182/FUL - Land East Of Jericho Covert, Jericho Lane, Barkestone 
Le Vale - Installation of a solar farm comprising ground mounted solar PV 
panels with a net installed generating capacity (AC) of up to 49.9MW and 
associated infrastructure 

10 

 

3.4 The climate emergency is a material consideration in planning decisions. 

3.5 Although there would inevitably be some impacts upon the landscape, particularly visual, 

associated with a development of this scale, it is considered that these can be suitably 

mitigated through an appropriate landscaping scheme and this development proposal 

would result in slight / negligible visual harm. Further, any minor conflicts that have been 

identified with the development plan policies, including those of heritage are significantly 

outweighed by the benefits of the proposal. In carrying out that balance, the Council has 

had regard to the great weight that should be given to the conservation of heritage assets 

(NPPF, section 16), and having regard to the statutory duties set out in sections 66 and 72 

of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

3.6 It is not considered that the proposal would result in adverse impacts upon other material 

planning considerations including highway safety, flood risk, residential amenities, and 

noise. Indeed, there would be an overall net gain in biodiversity across the site arising 

from the development. 

3.7 The proposal accords with the requirements of Policies SS1, SS2 and specifically Policy 

EN10 which strongly emphasise that Renewable proposals, including solar, will be 

supported and considered in the context of sustainable development and climate change. 

In addition, Bottesford Neighbourhood Plan Policy 9 supports development that delivers 

renewable energy. 

4 Key Factors 

4.1 Reason for Committee Determination 

4.1.1 This application is required to be presented to the Committee due to receiving more than   

10 letters of objection contrary to the recommendation and the application poses planning 

considerations which are considered by the Director for Growth and Regeneration (in 

consultation with the Chair of Planning Committee) likely to raise matters which should be 

referred to the Planning Committee. 

4.2 Relevant Policies 

4.2.1 The Melton Local Plan 2011-2036 was adopted on 10th October 2018 and is the 

Development Plan for the area, as well as the ‘made’ Bottesford Neighbourhood Plan. 

4.2.2 The Local Plan Policies remain up to date and consistent with national planning policies 

and guidelines as contained in the National Planning Policy Framework (2021). 

4.2.3 There is no made Neighbourhood Plan for the Parish of Barkestone, Redmile and Plungar. 

However the proposed substation site is located within the ‘made’ Neighbourhood Plan 

Area of Bottesford. 

4.2.4 Please see appendix E for a list of all applicable policies. 

4.3 Main Issues 

4.3.1 The main issues presented by the application are considered to be: 

- Principle of development and climate change 

- Impact upon the character of the area, wider landscape and heritage 

- Cumulative impacts 

Page 10



Planning Report 

20/01182/FUL - Land East Of Jericho Covert, Jericho Lane, Barkestone 
Le Vale - Installation of a solar farm comprising ground mounted solar PV 
panels with a net installed generating capacity (AC) of up to 49.9MW and 
associated infrastructure 

11 

 

- Impact upon residential amenities, including noise 

- Impact upon highways, including public footpaths 

- Impact upon ecology 

- Impact upon archaeology 

- Consideration of loss of agricultural land 

- Impact upon drainage/flooding 

5 Report Detail 

Position under the Development Plan Policies 

5.1.1 Planning law states that planning decisions must be made in accordance with the 

development plan unless there are material considerations which indicate otherwise 

(section 70(2) Town and Country Planning Act 1990 & section 38(6) of the Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004). 

5.1.2 The Melton Local Plan, forms the key part of the development plan and was adopted on 

10th October 2018 and has full weight in decision making. The Bottesford Neighbourhood 

Plan has been ‘made’ and also forms part of the development plan. 

5.1.3 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the associated National Planning 

Policy Guidance (NPPG) are very important material considerations that carry great 

weight and also contain policies and advice and guidance to the decision maker. 

5.1.4 The site is within open countryside to the north west of Barkestone Le Vale and policies 

SS1 and SS2 of the Melton Local Plan apply which reflect the presumption in favour of 

sustainable development within the NPPF. 

5.1.5 Policy EN10 of the Melton Local Plan sets out the Council’s policy on Energy Generation 

from Renewable and Low Carbon Sources and states that proposals for renewable and 

low carbon energy proposals appropriate for Melton, including biomass power generation, 

combined heat and power (CHP), hydro, wind, solar and micro generation systems, will be 

supported and considered in the context of sustainable development and climate change. 

5.1.6 Policy EN10 goes on to state that proposals for renewable and low carbon energy 

technology, associated infrastructure and integration of renewable and low carbon 

technology on existing or proposed structures will be assessed both individually and 

cumulatively on their merits taking account of a number of factors (set out below). 

5.1.7 Other material considerations are the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) 

Act 1990 and the Planning Practice Guidance for Renewable and Low Carbon Energy. 

Principle of Development and Impact upon the character of the area, wider 

landscape and Heritage Assets 

5.1.8 Policies SS1 and SS2 of the Melton Local Plan set out the presumption in favour of 

sustainable development and confirm the Development Strategy for the Borough which 

requires new development in the open countryside be restricted to that which is necessary 

and appropriate. 

5.1.9 Policy EN10 sets out the consideration of proposals for renewable and low carbon energy 

development. The development of a solar farm is considered to fall under the provisions of 

Page 11



Planning Report 

20/01182/FUL - Land East Of Jericho Covert, Jericho Lane, Barkestone 
Le Vale - Installation of a solar farm comprising ground mounted solar PV 
panels with a net installed generating capacity (AC) of up to 49.9MW and 
associated infrastructure 

12 

 

Policy EN10 of the Melton Local Plan and is therefore supported subject to the 

consideration of the criteria set out within the Policy. 

5.1.10 It is also worth noting that solar farms help combat the effects of climate change, and 

secure home grown energy reducing reliance on foreign energy markets. This specific site 

is of a size to deliver significant environmental benefits and at a capacity of 49.9MW would 

generate clean renewable power for over 15,000 homes, making a meaningful contribution 

to meeting the UK’s greenhouse gas emission targets.  

5.1.11 With respect to whether the development is needed, paragraph 158 of the NPPF is clear 

that when determining planning applications for renewable and low carbon development, 

local planning authorities should: 

a) not require applicants to demonstrate the overall need for renewable or low carbon 

energy, and recognise that even small-scale projects provide a valuable contribution to 

cutting greenhouse gas emissions; and 

b) approve the application if its impacts are (or can be made) acceptable. 

5.1.12 In addition, Policy EN10 does not require a demonstration of need, only that applications 

for renewable energy will be supported subject to a number of factors.  

5.1.13 With respect to the 13 criteria set out in Policy EN10 which are pertinent and relevant to 

solar PV development, the proposal is considered against each one in turn here. 

 

1. Siting, so as to gain maximum effect from wind/solar/water sources 

5.1.14 The proposed site is located within open countryside and occupies a number of 

agricultural fields. The applicant states that a thorough and robust process of site selection 

has been undertaken in order to select a site which is both viable to implement and 

suitable in planning terms – although there is no requirement for the developer to consider 

alternative sites. 

5.1.15 The applicant considers that the proposed site is within adequate proximity of existing grid 

infrastructure with capacity to receive the power generated from a solar farm of this scale.  

The relative proximity of a viable Grid connection provides an opportunity to keep trenches 

and cable runs sufficiently short, cost effective and below ground, thus also reducing the 

works required to lay the cable across the land and public rights of way.  

5.1.16 The location of the site would also ensure maximum generation from the scheme as there 

would be no issues with over-shading from adjoining hills or built form which would limit 

the generating potential of the scheme, thus gaining maximum effect in line with Policy 

EN10 criterion 1.  

5.1.17 Solar farm proposals require a large site area in order to utilise the full extent of the grid 

capacity and due to the height of the panels, the site’s location and proximity to the grid 

connection point it is considered that the proposal would be sited so as to gain maximum 

effect, as required by Policy EN10 criterion 1. 

 

 

2. The surrounding landscape, townscape and heritage assets 

Landscape  

Page 12



Planning Report 

20/01182/FUL - Land East Of Jericho Covert, Jericho Lane, Barkestone 
Le Vale - Installation of a solar farm comprising ground mounted solar PV 
panels with a net installed generating capacity (AC) of up to 49.9MW and 
associated infrastructure 

13 

 

5.1.18 Policy D1 of the Local Plan states that all new developments should be of high-quality 

design. Policy EN1 of the Local Plan aims to ensure new development is sensitive to its 

landscape setting and that it seeks, where possible, to enhance the distinctive qualities of 

the landscape character areas (as defined in the Landscape Character Assessment); and 

requires new developments to respect existing landscape character and features.  

5.1.19 Policy EN6 of the Melton Local Plan states that development proposals will be supported 

where they do not harm open areas which contribute positively to the individual character 

of a settlement or form a key entrance and/or gateway to a settlement.  

5.1.20 The application has been supported by a comprehensive Landscape Visual Impact 

Assessment (LVIA), and associated addendums which assess the individual and 

cumulative landscape and visual effects associated with the development.  

5.1.21 The following summary conclusions in respect of landscape impact are taken from the 

LVIA submitted by the applicant: 

“The site has a moderate sensitivity to solar farm development 

This is a low-lying, flat site containing few special landscape features. 

The site is located on low-lying flat land. At a national and regional scale, this type of 

site is favoured for solar energy production over undulating of higher ground as the 

effects upon landscape character and visual receptors are greatly reduced. 

The proposal is to install solar arrays within the existing hedged field boundaries. No 

hedgerows are to be removed such that the pattern of landscape remains as the 

baseline condition, and as described in landscape character areas descriptions. 

At a local level, the landscape character is rural and tranquil with the surrounding 

countryside free from any significant modern development. However, while the 

proposal will bring a new modern addition to the site it will not affect the field patterns 

or vegetation character of the area. The site has no landscape designations. 

On balance, the significance of the effect upon landscape character is assessed as 

slight rather than neutral. This is principally due to the addition of new human scale 

features. 

Described landscape characteristics, especially those listed in landscape 

management guidelines, will be enhanced by changing intense agricultural practice 

into a less-intense, nature-led, approach to landscape management. This will have 

benefits upon local biodiversity, as well as, reducing any residual visual effects.” 

5.1.22  In response officers have made their own assessment of the proposal’s impacts upon 

landscape, considering the proposal in its wider setting and context, taking account of the 

topography of the area and the presence of natural screening as well as looking at the 

more localised impacts on the landscape character and features of the application site and 

its immediate surroundings. 

5.1.23  It is acknowledged that the site is flat and as such the proposal would naturally be more 

discreet and less visible than on a more undulating site. The site is not subject to any 

landscape designation, for example it is not within an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

(AONB) or within a National Park where landscape sensitivity is generally considered to 

be more acute. The site is located away from immediate residential and road receptors,  

Page 13



Planning Report 

20/01182/FUL - Land East Of Jericho Covert, Jericho Lane, Barkestone 
Le Vale - Installation of a solar farm comprising ground mounted solar PV 
panels with a net installed generating capacity (AC) of up to 49.9MW and 
associated infrastructure 

14 

 

thus ensuring that users of the residential and road elements would not be adversely 

affected by their experience of the development within the landscape. 

5.1.24 The site is also outside all other environmental designations albeit in close proximity to the 

Grantham Canal SSSI. 

5.1.25 The Site benefits from existing hedged field boundaries which assist in the screening and 

filtering of views to the development from further afield. No hedgerows are to be removed, 

only strengthened and additional planting proposed. The introduction of the solar farm 

development would result in a visual appearance of the site, from agricultural crops to a 

solar farm along with fencing and associated infrastructure. However, as the site lies on 

low lying land set in a significantly open and expansive landscape, it is not considered that 

the introduction of the solar farm would result in significant adverse effects upon the 

immediate or wider landscape. 

5.1.26 Views at a long distance of the site are predominantly obscured due to the topography of 

the land and natural screening, with any views of the site interrupted by existing 

hedgerows. Mitigation measures proposed would also alleviate the landscape impacts to 

ensure that the proposed development would not result in severe visual interruption of the 

currently rural landscape. 

5.1.27 Glimpse views across a succession of hedgerows and through existing boundary 

vegetation are possible from dwellings and footpaths at Sutton Lane, Sutton, however 

these views form a small part of the overall and much wider landscape view. 

5.1.28 Views of the site from close to or adjacent the site would be where the most significant 

impacts are noticed, especially from the adjacent public right of way that runs through the 

south western corner of the site for approximately 420 metres, accessible from Jericho 

Lane. However, again, users of the public right of way would have a reduced visual impact 

once the mitigation measures have been implemented and established.  

5.1.29 As such, views of the development site from a significant distance, and those views from 

adjacent the site (once mitigation measures are established) are not considered to be 

significantly and adversely impacted. The proposal, although significant in size, is not 

considered to result in significant adverse impacts upon the character of the landscape.    

5.1.30 The mitigation proposals in summary are; 

- to reduce the cutting regime of the hedged boundary to allow them to grow to a 

minimum of 3m in height, 

- enhance hedgerows through infill planting where gaps are present, 

- provide additional tree planting within the existing and proposed hedged boundaries in 

particular in the proximity to CCTV poles to assist in the screening of their presence, 

- provide native woodland planting along north-western boundary, 

- provide a 5m margin of wildflower grassland around each field margin, 

- provide a large area of wildflower meadow in the south-west corner of the site, 

- grow short mown grass managed by grazing or strimming rather than used for 

agricultural crop 

Page 14



Planning Report 

20/01182/FUL - Land East Of Jericho Covert, Jericho Lane, Barkestone 
Le Vale - Installation of a solar farm comprising ground mounted solar PV 
panels with a net installed generating capacity (AC) of up to 49.9MW and 
associated infrastructure 

15 

 

5.1.31 The site lies within Leicestershire County Council’s Character Area – Vale of Belvoir 

(Melton). 

5.1.32 The Landscape Character Area Profile summarises the key characteristics of Vale of 

Belvoir as follows:  

“This area is situated in the northern part of Melton District, forming part of a larger 

vale that continues to the north into Nottinghamshire. This is a flat, expansive 

landscape, divided into rectangular fields bound by hedges which are under a 

mixture of pastoral and arable use. Trees are generally sparse and are found in 

hedgerows and along the Grantham Canal winds through the vale. Nucleated 

villages occur throughout the vale with vernacular buildings constructed of local 

stone. Roads are generally straight and narrow, excepting the A52 which crosses the 

area near Bottesford. The topography and limited tree cover enable long views, 

particularly to the adjacent Belvoir escarpment which forms a focal point to the south. 

Church spires in the villages are prominent and distinctive skyline features, providing 

a sense of orientation within the landscape.” 

5.1.33 With the key characteristics being as follows:: 

- Valued semi-natural habitats, including areas of semi-natural grassland and the 

important linear feature of Grantham Canal. 

- Nucleated villages (often within Conservation Areas) constructed of local stone. Well 

integrated into the landscape with surrounding woodland. 

- Remnant areas of ridge and furrow within the intensively farmed landscape. 

- Notable views towards Belvoir Castle and the Belvoir escarpment to the south. 

- The expansive character of the vale, with the spires of historic churches forming 

prominent skyline features. 

- High levels of tranquillity and strong rural character 

5.1.34 In this respect it is considered that the proposed development within the Vale of Belvoir 

landscape character is considered acceptable given that the site has a moderate 

sensitivity to changes to landscape character and is low-lying and well-screened from 

most of the surrounding area.  

5.1.35 Other infrastructure elements including the CCTV poles, perimeter fencing, battery storage 

units and inverters. The CCTV poles are to be screened by additional landscaping as part 

of the mitigation measures and the fencing, inverters and battery storage units are not 

considered to be significantly dominant given the size of the overall development. As such, 

the infrastructure elements aside from the solar panels are not considered to result in 

significant impacts upon the landscape. 

5.1.36 With respect to the cumulative impact of the development with existing solar farms in the 

wider area two operational solar farms were found within the 5Km study area and one 

further solar farm is located 5.8Km to the west. 

5.1.37 Operational Solar Farms are listed as: 

- 10MW Solar Farm at Langar Lane, near Colston Bassett (5.8Km west of the site, 

11Km west of Belvoir Castle). 

Page 15



Planning Report 

20/01182/FUL - Land East Of Jericho Covert, Jericho Lane, Barkestone 
Le Vale - Installation of a solar farm comprising ground mounted solar PV 
panels with a net installed generating capacity (AC) of up to 49.9MW and 
associated infrastructure 

16 

 

- 5MW Solar Farm north-east of Elton (2.7Km north of the site, 7.3Km north-west of 

Belvoir Castle). 

- 12.4MW Solar Farm at Lodge Farm, Orston (4.8Km north of the site, 8Km north-west 

of Belvoir Castle). 

5.1.38 There are no solar farms which have been approved but not yet implemented in the 

immediate vicinity. A large scale solar farm is being proposed on land near Muston 

(approximately 4.5km to the east) with a formal application submitted for consideration 

(application reference 22/00537/FUL). However due to the distance from the proposal 

here, it is not considered that there would be a significant cumulative impact on this 

proposal.  

5.1.39 Footpaths to the north of Elton and Orston with potential views towards both solar farms 

have been considered however from this footpath network the two existing solar farms are 

significantly screened by woodland and hedgerows. 

5.1.40 A public footpath does pass Langar Solar farm and then continues north-eastwards 

through Langar, Barnstone and Granby towards the site. However due to the significant 

distance from the application site any conjoined view of the Langar site and the proposal 

here would not be considered significant. 

5.1.41 Overall it is concluded that the landscape would not be adversely affected by the proposed 

development on its own or when considering other solar farms in the area. 

5.1.42 The Local Planning Authority has carried out an independent review of the Landscape and 

Visual Impact Assessment (full report at Appendix H) which concludes that there is no 

reason from a landscape and visual perspective why the development should not be 

consented. 

5.1.43 Overall there would inevitably be some visual impacts associated with a development of 

this scale, however, given the relatively low sensitivity of the landscape, it is considered 

that the impacts can be suitably mitigated through an appropriate landscaping scheme 

and as such, the proposal is considered to be in accordance with Policy D1, EN1, EN6 of 

the Melton Local Plan 

5.1.44 With respect to the proposed grid yard and connection to the Grid location a separate 

Zone of Theoretical Visibility (ZTV) has been generated to show a theoretical visibility 

envelope to and from the grid yard. The site is adjacent to Castle View Road and will be 

visible from a single dwelling at California. Otherwise, the site is isolated and distant from 

residential properties. 

5.1.45 The immediate proximity of existing large pylons within the field means that this kind of 

structure would not be a wholly new addition to the view and would be read as additional 

ancillary elements. The impacts are considered to be slight and not adverse. Again the 

adverse effects can be mitigated at ground level by allowing existing boundary hedges 

along the northern and eastern boundaries to grow higher as such, the proposal solar farm 

site is considered to be in accordance with Policy D1, EN1, EN6 of the Melton Local Plan 

and Bottesford Neighbourhood Plan Policies 2, 8 and 9.  

Heritage  

5.1.46 The Local Planning Authority has a statutory duty under section 66(1) of the Planning 

(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to have special regard to the 

Page 16



Planning Report 

20/01182/FUL - Land East Of Jericho Covert, Jericho Lane, Barkestone 
Le Vale - Installation of a solar farm comprising ground mounted solar PV 
panels with a net installed generating capacity (AC) of up to 49.9MW and 
associated infrastructure 

17 

 

desirability of preserving listed buildings or their setting or any features of special 

architectural or historic interest which they possess and to pay special attention to the 

desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of Conservation Areas 

under section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

Considerable importance and weight should be applied to these duties, even where the 

harm identified is less than substantial. 

5.1.47 In addition, Paragraph 197 of the NPPF states that in determining applications, Local 

Planning Authorities should take account of: 

the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and putting 

them to viable uses consistent with their conservation; 

the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to sustainable 

communities including their economic vitality; and 

the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character and 

distinctiveness. 

5.1.48 Paragraph 199 of the NPPF requires that: 

When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a heritage 

asset, great weight should be given to the asset's conservation (and the more important 

the asset, the greater the weight should be). This is irrespective of whether any potential 

harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its 

significance. 

5.1.49 Paragraph 200 of the NPPF advises that: 

Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage asset (from its alteration 

or destruction, or from development within its setting), should require clear and convincing 

justification. 

5.1.50 Paragraph 202 of the NPPF states: 

Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance 

of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of 

the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use. 

5.1.51 Policy EN13 of the Melton Local Plan states that the Council will take a positive approach 

to the conservation of heritage assets and the wider historic environment. 

5.1.52 A detailed Heritage Assessment and addendum has been submitted with and during the 

course of the application respectively. Historic England have also reviewed the submitted 

information and commented accordingly. As per the above policies, an understanding of 

the significance of each relevant heritage asset is considered here followed by an 

assessment of the impact to allow these then to be balanced against the public benefits of 

renewable energy generation at this location. 

Significance 

 Belvoir Castle 

5.1.53 Belvoir Castle is a large hilltop feudal palace which boasts impressive turrets and 

battlements, adding interest and intrigue to the skyline, Grade I Listed. 

Page 17



Planning Report 

20/01182/FUL - Land East Of Jericho Covert, Jericho Lane, Barkestone 
Le Vale - Installation of a solar farm comprising ground mounted solar PV 
panels with a net installed generating capacity (AC) of up to 49.9MW and 
associated infrastructure 

18 

 

5.1.54 The topography of the landscape and siting of the castle on the hilltop is spectacular and 

enhances the castle’s visual presence and dominance across the landscape. Its prominent 

and far reaching views have been important throughout history, originally as a strategic 

defence mechanism. The name Belvoir (‘beautiful view’), dates to Norman times, 

demonstrating the importance of the outward views across the landscape, even from its 

first conception. 

 The Registered Park and Garden of Belvoir Castle 

5.1.55 The Registered Park and Garden (RPG) of Belvoir Castle has evolved over almost a 

thousand years since the first Norman Castle was established. It contains a reservoir and 

several listed structures, the principal one being Belvoir Castle. Belvoir’s park extends for 

approximately 2km east, west and south of the Castle and  is recognised in its Grade II* 

designation. 

 The Church of St Peter and St Paul in Barkestone Le Vale 

5.1.56 The church is one of a number within the Vale of Belvoir landscape where their spires and 

towers act as prominent landmarks within the setting of Belvoir Castle. The height and 

prominence reference the high status on churches in the medieval times when they were 

constructed. The church’s prominence within the landscape forms an important part of its 

significance. 

Impact of the proposals 

5.1.57 There is potential for inter-visibility between these sites and the proposed development 

with respect to their setting.  

5.1.58 Historic England’s comments on the impacts of the proposals and the harm attributed with 

respect to Belvoir Castle, The Registered Park and Garden of Belvoir Castle and the 

Church of St Peter and St Paul can be located in Appendix F. 

5.1.59 At this point is should be worth noting Historic England’s summary on the application from 

their latest response. Historic England do not comment on the associated public benefits, 

only outlining the significance of the heritage assets and the impacts and associated harm 

that would result from the proposal. 

“The landscape in which the application site is located is historically important with 

heritage assets of outstanding importance in a setting with few modern interventions. 

It is therefore sensitive to large scale development. 

By virtue of its scale and man-made character the proposed solar farm would appear 

incongruous and alter the character of the landscape which forms the setting to 

several highly graded heritage assets. In our view it would cause less than 

substantial harm to the significance that Grade I Listed Belvoir Castle, its Grade II* 

Registered Park and the Grade II* Listed Church of St Peter and St Paul, 

Barkestone, derive from their setting. We question whether an intervention of this 

nature should be introduced to this landscape and have concerns about the 

precedent it could set. 

As the decision maker, your authority should assess whether the proposals would be 

justified or outweighed by public benefit in their current form in accordance with the 

paragraphs 194 and 196 of the NPPF. During this assessment you should consider 

whether proposals of this nature would be acceptable in this landscape. If you 

Page 18



Planning Report 

20/01182/FUL - Land East Of Jericho Covert, Jericho Lane, Barkestone 
Le Vale - Installation of a solar farm comprising ground mounted solar PV 
panels with a net installed generating capacity (AC) of up to 49.9MW and 
associated infrastructure 

19 

 

consider they would be, you should contemplate whether the proposals should be 

amended to reduce their impact”. 

5.1.60 As such, it is considered that the development would result in harm upon the setting of the 

heritage assets, Belvoir Castle, The Registered Park and Garden of Belvoir Castle and 

The Church of St Peter and St Paul in Barkestone Le Vale as a result of the inter-visibility 

between these sites. It is considered that the harm identified would be ‘less than 

substantial’. In line with paragraph 202 of the NPPF, where the development will lead to 

less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm 

should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal, which is considered below. 

Public Benefits 

5.1.61 The principal benefit of the scheme lies in the production of clean, green energy. This key 

benefit is of central importance to local, national and internationally binding political 

commitments to reduce CO2 emissions by 80% by 2050, this is especially pertinent given 

the recent Conference of the Parties 26 Climate Change Summit in Glasgow, (COP 26). 

5.1.62 Further to this Melton Borough Council has declared a climate emergency and in doing so, 

aims to “explore a number of areas including how to improve the energy efficiency of local 

homes; reducing emissions from its buildings and vehicles, and increasing the use of 

renewable energy”. 

5.1.63 It has already been stated that the proposed development is anticipated to generate 

46,743,166 kWh/Year, providing CO2 savings of 21,500 tonnes per annum and green 

energy for over 15,000 homes. 

5.1.64 Other benefits aside from the significant and extraordinary production of green, renewable 

energy include  

- Biodiversity enhancements 

- Generating employment associated with construction and maintenance 

- Help generate home grown energy 

- Public access through the existing right of way will be maintained and enhanced  

5.1.65 Overall, it is considered that a degree of "less than substantial harm" (in NPPF terms) 

identified to the three heritage assets referred to above would be outweighed by the public 

benefits of providing a scheme that would result in a renewable energy development 

which can contribute positively to the UK’s transition from imported fossil fuels to home 

grown de-carbonised green energy and help to reverse the effects of climate change and 

protect future generations. 

Other heritage assets 

5.1.66 With respect to other heritage assets apart from those reference above, there are 71 listed 

buildings within the 2km area of the site, the majority of which are located within the 

Conservation Areas of Granby, Redmile and Bottesford. 

5.1.67 The listed buildings within Bottesford are experienced within their enclosed and relatively 

built up immediate vicinity, and are not considered susceptible to impact by the proposals.  

5.1.68 The Grade I Church of St Mary the Virgin in Bottesford has a spire reaching over 200ft, 

however the Church like the rest of the buildings in Bottesford does not possess any 

Page 19



Planning Report 

20/01182/FUL - Land East Of Jericho Covert, Jericho Lane, Barkestone 
Le Vale - Installation of a solar farm comprising ground mounted solar PV 
panels with a net installed generating capacity (AC) of up to 49.9MW and 
associated infrastructure 

20 

 

extensive views into the surrounding landscape. The site is not situated so that it could be 

viewed alongside or within a view of the church from Belvoir Castle. 

5.1.69 Again the listed buildings within Redmile are situated within a more open landscape and it 

is not considered that there are listed buildings within Redmile that possess designed 

views in the direction of the Site. The Grade II* Church of St Peter in Redmile again was 

not considered to be susceptible to impact by the proposals. 

5.1.70 The listed buildings in Barkestone, Plungar, Sutton and Granby are all located in relatively 

close proximity to the boundaries of the site, however, they do not possess direct 

intervisibility or any historically meaningful relationship with this area of land which would 

render their settings susceptible to impact.  

5.1.71 Glimpsed views between hedgerows looking towards the site to the south were noted from 

Sutton Lane, in close proximity to the Grade II Highfield Farmhouse, however, the 

farmhouse is orientated to the west and overlooks its immediately adjacent garden and 

land. The asset is not considered susceptible to impact by the proposals. 

5.1.72 The Grade I Listed Church of All Saints in Granby is entirely surrounded by trees and build 

form, and does not possess any wide ranging views or specific views of the application 

site. 

5.1.73 The site is not located within a Conservation Area. Bottesford Conservation Area is 

situated approximately 4km to the north-east, Redmile Conservation Area approximately 

2km to the southeast and Granby Conservation Area approximately 2.5km to the west. It 

is considered that there are no distinct, clear or views from Bottesford, Redmile or Granby 

Conservation Areas towards to the site. 

5.1.74 There is also considered to be limited to non-intervisibility with the application site and the 

5 scheduled monuments which are within 2km of the site and as such the impacts upon 

the associated scheduled monuments are considered to be less than substantial. 

5.1.75 Overall, given the significant separation distances and the intervisibility with the application 

site and the above heritage assets (excluding Church of St Peter and St Paul, The 

Registered Park and Garden of Belvoir Castle and Belvoir Castle) it is not considered that 

the proposal would result in adverse harm that would not be outweighed by the public 

benefits of the proposal. 

5.1.76 Again, due to the limited scale of the proposed substation infrastructure and its siting 

adjacent to an overheard wire, and its intervisibility with the associated heritage assets, it 

is not considered that the proposed substation works would result in any greater harm 

than less substantial of which would not be outweighed by the public benefits referred to 

above. 

5.1.77 In light of the above matters, whilst the duty to safeguard heritage assets requires that 

great weight should be given to the asset's conservation, it can be concluded that there 

would be less than substantial harm in this instance, given the detailed consideration 

above and the benefits of bringing forward a significant renewable energy site, which 

would outweigh this identified harm to the associated heritage assets. Therefore, the 

development of the application site as proposed accords with Policy EN13 of the Local 

Plan, Bottesford Neighbourhood Plan Policy 12 and section 16 of the NPPF. 

 

Page 20



Planning Report 

20/01182/FUL - Land East Of Jericho Covert, Jericho Lane, Barkestone 
Le Vale - Installation of a solar farm comprising ground mounted solar PV 
panels with a net installed generating capacity (AC) of up to 49.9MW and 
associated infrastructure 

21 

 

Archaeology 

5.1.78 The application was supported by an archaeological desk-based assessment (as part of 

the Heritage Assessment) which stated that the archaeological potential was assessed as 

“low for all periods, with the exception of the prehistoric period, for which the potential is 

considered to be negligible to low”. The desk-based assessment provided a thorough 

review of known archaeology within the area and determined that the site area has 

relatively low archaeological potential. The work included a review of available Lidar data 

to determine the presence of any underlying archaeological features that may be present 

and survive as shallow earthworks. This shows remnants of medieval ridge and furrow 

and modern ploughing features which corresponded with the results of the desk-based 

assessment. 

5.1.79 The preservation of archaeological remains is, of course, a material consideration in the 

determination of planning applications.  

5.1.80 Following initial concerns by the County Archaeologist, provision was requested for a 

geophysical survey and a field evaluation by appropriate techniques including trial 

trenching. 

5.1.81 A geo-physical survey was subsequently submitted for consideration as well as mitigation 

measures that can be used should archaeological features be present. Firstly though, the 

geo-physical survey concluded as follows – 

“The survey has successfully evaluated the PDA and has not identified any 

anomalies of either possible or probable archaeological origin at either the solar farm 

or sub-station sites. All the anomalies are due to recent agricultural activity 

(ploughing, boundary removal or land drainage). Consequently, the PDA is assessed 

as of very low archaeological potential, confirming the conclusions of an earlier 

heritage and archaeological assessment”. 

5.1.82 Mitigation can be implemented to counter any negative effects on archaeology. Solar 

panels generally have small impacts from the piles used to hold the panels in place, 

although these are quite numerous. Solar farms do not have extensive groundworks 

associated with them. 

5.1.83 The County Archaeologist has reviewed the geo-physical survey and is satisfied that if 

further archaeological investigations are completed and archaeology are found then 

suitable mitigation can be agreed. Due to the construction of the solar panel arrays not 

requiring any foundations, there will therefore be very minimal ground disturbance from 

the development. Further archaeological work by way of a watching brief as part of a 

Written Scheme of Investigation is to be secured by condition. As such, given the limited 

known archaeology in the area and the County Archaeologist raising no concerns subject 

to conditions, the development is considered to be satisfactory in respect of archaeological 

matters. 

5.1.84 Therefore, although there would inevitably be some detrimental impacts, particularly 

visual, associated with a development of this scale, it is considered that these can be 

suitably mitigated through an appropriate landscaping scheme and the harm identified to 

the heritage assets are outweighed by the benefits of the proposal and the development 

would therefore accord with criterion 2 of Policy EN10 and Policy EN13 of the Melton 

Local Plan. 

Page 21



Planning Report 

20/01182/FUL - Land East Of Jericho Covert, Jericho Lane, Barkestone 
Le Vale - Installation of a solar farm comprising ground mounted solar PV 
panels with a net installed generating capacity (AC) of up to 49.9MW and 
associated infrastructure 

22 

 

 

3. Residential and visual amenity 

Residential amenity  

5.1.85 The submitted LVIA reviews residential properties with actual or potential views towards 

the application site. Overall, the residential properties that would have visibility of the 

proposed development are only considered to have weak or limited visual connection, with 

restricted views to the proposal as a result of hedgerow screening.  

5.1.86 With respect to the nearest main settlements, again there is considered to be limited visual 

connection between Barkestone-Le-Vale, Granby, Plungar and the development site. 

Although there is some visual connection from the southern side of Sutton Lane in the 

village of Sutton, this is considered to not be adverse due to the distance of approximately 

1.3 km and intervening hedgerows.  

5.1.87 Overall, only glimpse views across a succession of hedgerows and through existing 

boundary vegetation are considered to be possible with limited visual and intervisibility 

between the site and the nearest residential properties and wider settlements. 

5.1.88 For the proposed substation, the site will be visible from a single dwelling at California, 

Castle View Road however this is the only property as the site is isolated and distant from 

residential properties. Given the limited size of the substation and its overall ancillary 

appearance to the existing larger overhead lines, it is considered that the adverse effects 

can be mitigated at low level by allowing existing boundary hedges along the northern and 

eastern boundaries to grow higher. 

5.1.89 Overall there are not considered to be any significant impacts upon residential amenities 

from any part of the development due to the site’s relatively distant siting away from 

residential properties. Similarly the proposed cable route will not adversely impact upon 

the amenities of residential properties.  

5.1.90 The construction of the development again is not considered to result in adverse impacts 

upon residential amenity due to the routing of the construction traffic. Notwithstanding this, 

any impact during construction would be short term and temporary in nature.  

5.1.91 As such the development meets criterion 3 of Policy EN10 and Policy D1 of the Melton 

Local Plan. and Bottesford Neighbourhood Plan Policies 2 and 8. 

Visual amenity 

5.1.92 Overall, and as discussed in detail in the landscape considerations, due to the low-lying 

nature of the site within its wider context the solar arrays would be well screened from 

most directions. The most prominent visual additions to the landscape would be the masts 

and additional pylons associated with the grid yard however this type of structure would 

not be a wholly new addition within the concept of the surrounding area. 

5.1.93 The site is part of a contiguous wider landscape characterised by relatively flat land and 

open fields with the introduction of a solar farm not considered to result in significant 

adverse effects upon the rural landscape. 

5.1.94 The largest and most adverse visual effects will be experienced, in the short term, by 

users along the footpath which crosses the site at its southernmost sector however this is 

to be expected and mitigation measures will reduce this effect. 

Page 22



Planning Report 

20/01182/FUL - Land East Of Jericho Covert, Jericho Lane, Barkestone 
Le Vale - Installation of a solar farm comprising ground mounted solar PV 
panels with a net installed generating capacity (AC) of up to 49.9MW and 
associated infrastructure 

23 

 

5.1.95 Construction site traffic and infrastructure, including noise is to be considered as an impact 

upon visual amenity. However solar farms have short duration installations and 

considerate construction methods and protocols can reduce any temporary adverse 

effects. 

5.1.96 CCTV positions will be screened, through the addition of tree planting in these locations 

which would help to break the singularity of these columns within the landscape. The 

columns on which the cameras would be mounted have been reduced to 3 metres to 

assist in reducing their visual impact. 

5.1.97 The development of the solar farm is also fully reversible and can be removed from site 

should generation of electricity stop with full restoration details to be secured by planning 

condition, thus removing the identified visual impacts of the development. 

5.1.98 Overall, it is considered that the application site, by virtue of the lack of any landscape 

designations and with no loss of any particular landscape features or elements, would be 

acceptable for the development of a solar farm and would not result in significant adverse 

effects upon the rural landscape. It is therefore in accordance with Policy D1 of the Melton 

Local Plan and Bottesford Neighbourhood Plan Policies 2 and 8 and with respect to 

criterion 3 of Policy EN10 of the Melton Local Plan.  

 

4. Noise impacts 

5.1.99 The proposed solar panels would not emit noise or vibration and nor would the proposed 

battery storage units and the inverters. Any noise would be very limited however and 

would not cause undue impact upon residential amenity or to the wider receptors. The 

proposed substation would generate a low-level noise resulting from the transmission of 

the power to the grid but due to the separation distance to neighbouring properties this 

would be of a sufficient distance from the neighbouring dwellings so as not to result in 

adverse impacts upon residential amenity or other sensitive receptors. 

5.1.100 Indeed, the Environmental Health Officer raises no concerns and as such it is considered 

that the proposal would be satisfactory with respect to criterion 4 of Policy EN10 of the 

Melton Local Plan.  

 

5. Odour impacts 

5.1.101 Again the proposed panels would not emit odour as is similarly the case for the proposed 

substation. 

5.1.102 Again, the Environmental Health Officer raises no concerns and as such it is considered 

that the proposal would be satisfactory with respect to criterion 5 of Policy EN10 of the 

Melton Local Plan.  

 

6. Designated nature conservation, geo-diversity or biodiversity considerations, 

including potential impact on ancient woodland and veteran trees 

and 

7. Ecology 

Page 23



Planning Report 

20/01182/FUL - Land East Of Jericho Covert, Jericho Lane, Barkestone 
Le Vale - Installation of a solar farm comprising ground mounted solar PV 
panels with a net installed generating capacity (AC) of up to 49.9MW and 
associated infrastructure 

24 

 

5.1.103 Criteria 6 and 7 of Policy EN10 are considered together. Policy EN2 seeks to achieve net 

gains for nature and to proactively seek habitat creation as part of new development 

proposals. Policy EN3 states that a strategic approach to the delivery, protection and 

enhancement of green infrastructure will be taken by the Borough Council and new 

development proposals will be supported where they retain and enhance important green 

infrastructure elements. Bottesford Neighbourhood Plan Policy 3 states development 

proposals should conserve or enhance biodiversity value in the neighbourhood area. 

5.1.104 A comprehensive ecological assessment has been undertaken as part of the planning 

application and includes a breeding bird survey with some low levels of farmland bird 

breeding activity recorded. Proposed wildflower meadow would provide compensatory 

opportunities for the loss of this habitat. The report states no other protected species are 

likely to be affected by the proposed development, with the site dominated by grazing 

land, and with boundary trees and hedges to be retained. 

5.1.105 The site is located near to the Grantham Canal SSSI. The Jericho Covert Local Wildlife 

Site is situated adjacent to the site to the west. 

5.1.106 At this point is should be noted that LCC Ecology have stated that no further survey work 

is required. 

5.1.107 The submitted report includes a biodiversity budget calculation. From the result of this, as 

well as the submitted plans and ecology report results, the proposed compensation and 

enhancement measures, the development would provide a net gain in biodiversity. 

5.1.108 The following measures are to be provided as part of the proposed development:  

- Existing hedgerows are to be retained and buffered from the proposals with existing 

breaks used to provide access. The retained hedgerows are also to be infill planted to 

improve species diversity and structure strengthening these features and wildlife 

corridors 

- Retained hedgerows and trees will be protected during construction through the use of 

temporary barriers in accordance with best practice to prevent impacts from soil 

compaction affecting root systems and by accidental damage. 

- Enhancement of hedgerows is to be carried out through infill planting and 

management. 

- A 10m buffer along the north-eastern boundary and a 2m buffer along the rest of the 

site’s boundaries. This will be planted with wildflower meadow mix providing 

opportunities for skylark. 

- The majority of the existing breeding and foraging bird habitat is to be retained as part 

of the proposals and the enhancement of these features will increase quantity habitat 

available for the vast majority of birds known to be within the site. To create a further 

enhancement four nest boxes would be placed on the retained mature trees in order to 

increase nesting opportunities. 

- Proposed native woodland planting along north-western boundary and wildflower 

meadow will enhance the sites wildlife opportunities. 

- A minimum 2m margin of wildflower grassland is to be maintained around the margins 

of the site to provide new opportunities for wildlife including invertebrates, bats and 

birds. 

Page 24



Planning Report 

20/01182/FUL - Land East Of Jericho Covert, Jericho Lane, Barkestone 
Le Vale - Installation of a solar farm comprising ground mounted solar PV 
panels with a net installed generating capacity (AC) of up to 49.9MW and 
associated infrastructure 

25 

 

- The large area of wildflower meadow in the south-west corner of the site will provide 

opportunities for breeding birds and reptiles. 

- Habitats with potential to be used by bats, namely hedgerows and woodland edge, are 

to be retained and buffered from the proposals. As such no impacts to bats will occur 

and no mitigation measures in respect of this species group are required. Opportunities 

for bats will be increased post-development through the creation of new wildflower 

grassland and the provision of four bat boxes, such as the Schwegler 1F or similar, on 

suitable retained trees. 

- The development has been designed to retain the habitats of highest ecological 

importance, the hedgerows and trees. New cables for the solar farm are to be installed 

through moleing and therefore no hedgerows/trees are to be impacted during 

construction 

- Suitable reptile habitat comprising hedgerows and field margins are to be retained no 

impacts to reptiles would occur. Post development the creation of tussocky wildflower 

grassland margins would provide additional habitat for these species. 

- Management of woodland areas will be carried out through coppicing and thinning. 

- There are ponds within 250m of the site so there is a potential for some habitats on site 

to support great crested newt (GCN). Habitats with potential to support GCN, namely 

hedgerows and field margins, are to be retained and fenced during works to prevent 

impacts from occurring. 

5.1.109 Full details including management and maintenance are to be secured by condition. It 

should be worth noting that the proposed solar farm would be temporary for 40 years 

however the improved bio-diversity would be a permanent addition. 

5.1.110 A 10m buffer along the north-eastern boundary and a 2m buffer along the rest of the site’s 

boundaries is proposed as a formal Construction Exclusion Zone where no materials, 

machinery, chemicals etc. will be stored or work undertaken within these zones to protect 

biodiversity. Formal details again are to be secured by condition. 

5.1.111 The proposed development would therefore not generate significant ecological impacts, 

either individually or cumulatively. Where impacts may occur, they are addressed through 

mitigation, and enhancement proposals to ensure the development achieves an overall 

net gain in biodiversity across the site. 

5.1.112 Natural England have commented on the application with respect to biodiversity and raise 

no objection given that the proposed development will not have significant adverse 

impacts on designated sites. 

5.1.113 The Canals and Rivers Trust have also commented on the application with respect to the 

potential ecological impacts and also the Grantham Canal for which they are the current 

owners of the canal.  The Grantham Canal Partnership (GCP) was established in 1997 

with the stated aim reopen the Grantham Canal to full navigation from the River Trent in 

Nottingham to the centre of Grantham.  

5.1.114 The proposed solar farm itself is located some 35m from the canal at its nearest point and 

with the proposed additional planting around the site boundaries to supplement the 

existing hedgerows, the site should not appear as a prominent feature when viewed from 

Page 25



Planning Report 

20/01182/FUL - Land East Of Jericho Covert, Jericho Lane, Barkestone 
Le Vale - Installation of a solar farm comprising ground mounted solar PV 
panels with a net installed generating capacity (AC) of up to 49.9MW and 
associated infrastructure 

26 

 

the canal. Again the additional planting should help to enhance the value of the canal 

corridor as a wildlife habitat. 

5.1.115 The Canals and Rivers Trust have however raised queries regarding the proposed 

electrical cable required to link the solar farm to the grid connection point with the cable 

route crossing the canal in two places. Although it is proposed as a trenched cable, limited 

details have been provided with respect to the canal itself and the exact location of the 

crossing. The Canal and River Trust raise no objection overall and have no reason to 

expect that a solution to achieving cable crossings cannot be found however have 

requested that detailed arrangements for the design and means of undertaking the works 

for the cable crossings are secured via a planning condition. Therefore it is recommended 

this condition is also placed on any planning permission to ensure that the cable link 

between the solar farm and the grid connection point is designed and constructed in a 

manner that minimises adverse impacts on the ecological value and importance of the 

Grantham Canal Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) and the Grantham Canal County 

Wildlife Site (CWS). 

5.1.116 Given the limited work proposed at the grid yard connection site, it is not considered that 

the proposal would result in adverse ecological impacts at this location. 

5.1.117 As such, no significant impact or concern is raised in respect of biodiversity matters given 

the significant landscaping scheme and ecology strategy that is proposed and net gain in 

biodiversity across the site. Therefore, subject to the imposition of conditions, the proposal 

is considered to be in accordance with Policies EN2 and EN3 of the Melton Local Plan and 

Bottesford Neighbourhood Plan Policy 3 and the proposal would be satisfactory with 

respect to criteria 6 and 7 of Policy EN10 of the Melton Local Plan. 

8. Aircraft movements and associated activities, including effects on radar, 

communications and navigational systems 

5.1.118 Overall, solar farms maintain a low-profile in the landscape and do not pose a risk of direct 

contact with aircraft or interference with communications or radar systems. 

5.1.119 A Glint and Glare assessment has been undertaken with the associated report submitted 

as part of the application demonstrating that solar modules use “high-transmission, low 

iron glass” which absorbs more light, producing smaller amounts of glare and reflectance 

than normal glass. Overall given the site’s location and nature of the development it is not 

considered that the proposal would result in effects on aviation and the submitted Glint 

and Glare report concludes that there would no effects for nearby airfields, including four 

runways at Langar Airfield. As such the proposal would be satisfactory with respect to 

criterion 8 of Policy EN10 of the Melton Local Plan. 

9. Electromagnetic transmissions 

5.1.120 Electromagnetic transmissions are not an impact which are typically associated with solar 

farms. All cables would be trenched at an appropriate depth and the grid connection 

infrastructure would be securely installed beyond appropriate security fencing. As such the 

proposal would be satisfactory with respect to criterion 9 of Policy EN10 of the Melton 

Local Plan. 

10. High quality agricultural land 

5.1.121 Neighbourhood Plan Policy 3 requires that development should avoid being located on the 

highest quality agricultural land. 

Page 26



Planning Report 

20/01182/FUL - Land East Of Jericho Covert, Jericho Lane, Barkestone 
Le Vale - Installation of a solar farm comprising ground mounted solar PV 
panels with a net installed generating capacity (AC) of up to 49.9MW and 
associated infrastructure 

27 

 

5.1.122 The applicant has submitted an agricultural land classification report which confirms that 

the proposal would avoid the best and most versatile land. 

5.1.123 The site has been comprehensively surveyed to establish the grading of the land. The 

survey concludes that the entire site on which development is proposed is sub-grade 3b 

(land capable of producing moderate yields of a narrow range of crops or lower yields of a 

wider range of crops or high yields of grass) and is not therefore considered to be ‘Best 

and Most Versatile’ (BMV) land. 

5.1.124 The Council instructed an independent assessment of the applicant’s submitted report 

with respect to the methodology and approach used in the survey, the quality and 

consistency of data with published data, and the interpretation of the data in the light of the 

Agricultural Land Classification (ALC) guidelines. 

5.1.125 The independent report concludes that the applicants assessment is robust in that all of 

the agricultural land at the site is of Subgrade 3b quality. As such the development is not 

considered to have a significant detrimental impact on the borough’s agricultural land 

assets. 

5.1.126 Natural England have also commented on the application in this respect and raise no 

objection as a result of the applicant’s confirmation of the land to be Grade 3b. 

5.1.127 In addition the panels are elevated so that the land between and around them can 

continue to be grazed. 

5.1.128 Further, the application seeks permission for a temporary period of 40 years when there 

would be a requirement to remove the solar infrastructure, secured by condition, ensuring 

the site will be remediated and returned to its full agricultural use. As such, the proposal 

and effects are entirely reversible. 

5.1.129 No assessment has been made of the location of the substation however Neighbourhood 

Plan Policy 3 states that the land is classified 3a/3b. Given the limited size of the site and 

nature of the proposals in the corner of the field, it is not considered that the proposal 

would result in significant loss of high quality agricultural land. 

5.1.130 Therefore, the development is not considered to have a significant detrimental impact on 

the borough’s agricultural land assets and is in accordance with Neighbourhood Plan 

Policies 3 and 9 and criterion 10 of Policy EN10 of the Melton Local Plan. 

11. Access for construction, maintenance and de-commissioning 

5.1.131 Construction access was originally proposed to be via Flawborough Lane to the south 

west with construction vehicles using the Granby Lane from the A52 through Granby. 

However given the significant concerns raised on a number of reasons by officers and 

both Nottinghamshire and Leicestershire Highways, revisions were submitted with respect 

to the construction routing. 

5.1.132 After a number of revisions, the finalised Transport Statement was submitted detailing the 

following proposals 

- Construction Traffic Site Access Point - Sutton Road - All associated construction 

traffic through existing field gates; 

- Operational Site Access Point - Flawborough Lane (aka Gypsy Lane) -Operational 

traffic movements only through agricultural access point;  

Page 27



Planning Report 

20/01182/FUL - Land East Of Jericho Covert, Jericho Lane, Barkestone 
Le Vale - Installation of a solar farm comprising ground mounted solar PV 
panels with a net installed generating capacity (AC) of up to 49.9MW and 
associated infrastructure 

28 

 

- Substation Access Point - Castle View Road - Substation traffic only (there is 

anticipated to be only a small number of service deliveries required to erect the 

substation infrastructure. Future servicing requirements are expected to be minimal). 

Plan below shows the access points for the development –  

 

Construction Traffic Site Access Point and Routing 

5.1.133 The proposed construction access is proposed to be taken via Sutton Lane which runs 

southwards from the A52. The route would not result in construction vehicles travelling 

through villages when leaving the A52. The access is approximately 2 miles from the A52 

and would be via an existing agricultural field gate access point with an approximate 

construction phase of 6 months. Works at the construction site access would be entirely 

temporary. 

5.1.134 Speed surveys of the access onto Sutton Lane were undertaken and the speed survey 

concludes that the 85%ile speed northbound of the site is 54mph and southbound is 

52mph. As a result appropriate visibility splays (130metres to the north and 126metres to 

the south) have been demonstrated in line with and based on the 85%ile speed. The 

visibility splays identified are the minimum acceptable. In this particular instance this is 

considered appropriate given the volume of vehicles entering the site and its temporary 

nature, being during construction only.  

5.1.135 A Stage 1 Road Safety Audit was also undertaken for the construction traffic site access 

point and the recommendations are as follows 

- Advanced warning of the construction site access/slow moving vehicles are provided in 

advance of the bends on both approaches; 

- Wires are lifted and appropriate height restriction guarding used under the wires; 

Page 28



Planning Report 

20/01182/FUL - Land East Of Jericho Covert, Jericho Lane, Barkestone 
Le Vale - Installation of a solar farm comprising ground mounted solar PV 
panels with a net installed generating capacity (AC) of up to 49.9MW and 
associated infrastructure 

29 

 

- Due to the utility pole, vehicle movements should be controlled on Main Road when 

construction vehicles are required to exit the site. 

- Banksmen will be provided at the proposed construction traffic access junction. Priority 

will always be given to background traffic. 

5.1.136 Temporary access tracks would be installed from Sutton Lane to the proposed site which 

would be 4.0m wide allowing for 500mm tolerance either side to accommodate the swept 

path of the 16.5m articulated vehicle. Again these would be removed upon completion of 

the construction of the development. 

5.1.137 With respect to the width of the access onto Sutton Lane, the carriageway entrance is 

6.5m wide with 6.0m radii to the west and to the east. A swept path manoeuvre of a 16.5m 

HGV and a 12m rigid truck has been undertaken and submitted to demonstrate that they 

can safely enter the site, manoeuvre within, and exit the site in forward a gear. 

5.1.138 As stated above, all construction vehicles will enter and exit the site in forward gear. A 

construction compound would be provided within the site where vehicles will be able to 

turn. 

5.1.139 Temporary access tracks may be laid within the site itself to enable the support of the 

loading of HGVs and plan however any temporary access track would be removed upon 

completion of the construction. 

5.1.140 It is proposed that construction traffic would be routed from the A52 and in a south 

easterly direction to the proposed construction traffic access point. Construction traffic 

would encroach on a single 7.5T Environmental Weight Limit in Leicestershire County 

Council however the route would be required for access purposes only. 

5.1.141 Concerns have also been received regarding the use of this road from the A52 especially 

with respect the tight nature of a specific bend close to the A52 junction. Nottinghamshire 

Highways Authority have been consulted on this element and raise no objections to the 

proposed construction traffic route and state that ‘as it is not a busy road and the route 

avoids traffic through any villages we consider it the most suitable route for construction 

vehicles.’ 

5.1.142 Comments have been during the public consultation period regarding the number of 

vehicles required during the construction period. These concerns have been fully 

considered and shared with the Highways Authority who have raised no concerns 

regarding the number of vehicles accessing the site. The transport statement states that 

anticipated construction traffic movements would be on average 8 deliveries per day over 

the 6 week period. 

5.1.143 The justification for this within the Transport Statement was extracted from a similar Solar 

Farm development in Uttoxeter and increased to take account for the difference in the size 

of the proposed development. 

5.1.144 Notwithstanding this however, the proposed construction routing and access is considered 

to be acceptable for the construction of the development, even if there were an increase in 

movements above that set out in the transport statement. Due to the routing of the 

proposed construction traffic, it is not considered that the proposal would result in 

significant adverse impacts upon residential properties with respect to noise and 

disturbance. In addition this would be for a temporary period. 

Page 29



Planning Report 

20/01182/FUL - Land East Of Jericho Covert, Jericho Lane, Barkestone 
Le Vale - Installation of a solar farm comprising ground mounted solar PV 
panels with a net installed generating capacity (AC) of up to 49.9MW and 
associated infrastructure 

30 

 

5.1.145 The submitted transport statement states that construction traffic would not operate during 

school hours and would access the site during off peak times. 

5.1.146 A full and detailed construction traffic management plan would be secured by condition. 

5.1.147 Overall, no concerns are raised with respect to the construction site access point and it is 

not considered that this element would result in severe adverse impacts with regards to 

highway safety so is in accordance with criterion 11 of Policy EN10 and Policies IN2, D1 of 

the Melton Local Plan and Bottesford Neighbourhood Plan Policies 6, 7 and 8. 

 

Operational Site Access Point and Routing 

5.1.148 The proposed site access for when the site is operational is via Flawborough Lane (aka 

Gypsy Lane) which is located between Plungar Road and Granby Lane. The operational 

traffic associated with the site will be vehicles under 7.5t to comply with the Environmental 

Weight Restriction across the local highway. 

5.1.149 Speed surveys of the access onto Plungar Road and Granby Lane were undertaken and 

as a result the existing site access off Flawborough Lane complies with the appropriate 

visibility splays required, based on the 85%ile speed. As such the visibility splays of this 

access are considered appropriate and are achievable. 

5.1.150 The routing of traffic to the site once operational would be from the A52, south through 

Granby or via Belvoir Road and Long Lane and then through Plungar. Given that the 

operational traffic associated with the site would be vehicles under 7.5t (to accord with the 

Environmental Weight Restriction), and due to the minimal movements, no concerns are 

raised with respect to this matter. 

5.1.151 Following the revisions to the proposed access points, and removal of Flawborough Lane 

as the construction traffic site access, Nottinghamshire Highways Authority have removed 

their concerns and are now satisfied with the proposed arrangements, subject to 

conditions. As Flawborough Lane is within Nottinghamshire, they have commented with 

respect to Flawborough Lane, which is also Granby Byway no. 17. 

5.1.152 Nottinghamshire Highways consider that the use of Granby Byway no. 17 which is a single 

track lane, for post construction access during the operational phase will not overall 

significantly increase surface damage or conflict with other legitimate byway users. 

5.1.153 Sections of the byway surface between Plungar Road and the main site access is 

unsuitable for non 4 wheel drive vehicles and the track offers no turning provision for 

longer wheel based vehicles and even minimal additional vehicle movements during 

winter weather conditions could result in surface rutting or stranded vehicles. As such, a 

condition is recommended with respect to the surfacing of the vehicle access for 

operational use and surface water discharge details with respect to this lane.  

5.1.154 In addition, given Flawborough Lane’s status as a byway, it can be used by other rights of 

way users including equestrians however given the minimal use (approximately around 

one visit per month), it is not considered to result in adverse conflict to other users of the 

byway. 

5.1.155 Overall, with respect to the operational site access point, it is not considered that this 

element would result in severe adverse impacts with regards to highway safety, in 

Page 30



Planning Report 

20/01182/FUL - Land East Of Jericho Covert, Jericho Lane, Barkestone 
Le Vale - Installation of a solar farm comprising ground mounted solar PV 
panels with a net installed generating capacity (AC) of up to 49.9MW and 
associated infrastructure 

31 

 

accordance with criterion 11 of Policy EN10 and Policies IN2, D1 of the Melton Local Plan 

and Bottesford Neighbourhood Plan Policies 6, 7 and 8. 

 

Substation Access Point and Routing 

5.1.156 The proposed substation is to be located on Castle View Road with access to be taken 

from the A52.  

5.1.157 There is anticipated to be only a small number of service deliveries required to erect the 

substation infrastructure (only for artic vehicle movements are envisaged) and future visits 

once operational are expected to be minimal. The LHA is content with the proposed 

visibility splays of 2.4m by 79m to the north and 2.4m by 64m to the south from the 

tapered access arrangements. 

5.1.158 Given the small scale nature of the traffic movements, it is considered that the proposed 

development would not result in severe adverse highway safety impacts. Passing bays are 

to be provided along Castle View Road of which specific details can be recommended to 

be secured by conditions which is considered acceptable given the anticipated number of 

trips. 

5.1.159 Overall, with respect to the substation access point, it is not considered that this element 

would result in severe adverse impacts with regards to highway safety either during 

construction or once operational, subject to conditions in accordance with criterion 11 of 

Policy EN10 and Policies IN2, D1 of the Melton Local Plan and Bottesford Neighbourhood 

Plan Policies 6, 7 and 8. 

 

Public Rights of Way – Cable Route 

5.1.160 The proposed cable route crosses a number of Public Rights of Way (PROW) and 

therefore these would be disturbed during construction. Overall it is proposed that the 

preservation of all PROW routes would be preserved where possible but where not 

possible, it is proposed that temporary diversions would be put in place. 

5.1.161 It is proposed that any required trench digging that would affect any of the associated 

PROW routes would take place in a matter of hours whilst the trench is dug and the 

PROW would then be reinstated to its original condition. As such, the potential diversion to 

PROW would be of a very short temporary nature and once trenching complete, they will 

be re-instated to their original condition.  

5.1.162 It is proposed that trenches will be dug to install the cable line in sections of 50-100m at a 

time. For Byways G9 and G4, the trench will run along-side the by-way and not 

immediately beneath it. 

5.1.163 Full details are to be secured by appropriately worded condition to ensure there would be 

no adverse impact upon the users of the PROWs. 

5.1.164 A Health and Safety Plan will be contained within the Construction Environmental 

Management Plan which is to be agreed by the appropriate planning condition.  

5.1.165 Overall, it is not considered that this element would result in severe adverse impacts with 

regards to Public Rights of Way, either during construction or once operational, in 

Page 31



Planning Report 

20/01182/FUL - Land East Of Jericho Covert, Jericho Lane, Barkestone 
Le Vale - Installation of a solar farm comprising ground mounted solar PV 
panels with a net installed generating capacity (AC) of up to 49.9MW and 
associated infrastructure 

32 

 

accordance with criterion 11 of Policy EN10 and Policies IN2, D1 of the Melton Local Plan 

and Bottesford Neighbourhood Plan Policies 6, 7 and 8. 

De-commissioning 

5.1.166 The decommissioning works would comprises of the following to allow for the site to be 

solely agricultural use: 

- Remove and recycle all PV solar panels; 

- Remove, dismantle and recycle the steel PV Framework supports; 

- Remove temporary fencing, compounds and combined inverter housings and 

transformers; 

- Re-instate topsoil to affected areas; and 

- Re-instate any fences. 

5.1.167 Full details with respect to the de-commissioning access point and details regarding the 

de-commissioning process are to be secured by condition to ensure that there would be 

no adverse impacts upon highway safety. 

Conclusion on Highways 

5.1.168 It is concluded, following consultation from the relevant Highways Authority and review of 

the applicant’s Transport Statement that the development proposals would not result in 

severe highway safety impacts, either during construction, once operational or during de-

commissioning, in accordance with criterion 11 of Policy EN10 and Policies IN2, D1 of the 

Melton Local Plan and Bottesford Neighbourhood Plan Policies 6, 7 and 8. 

12. Not creating demand for bio-energy fuels known to result in net carbon 

emissions through production methods, transport requirements and/or loss of 

carbon sinks 

5.1.169 As detailed already, the main benefit of the proposal would be the production of clean, 

green energy with the proposal anticipated to generate 46,743,166 kWh/Year, providing 

CO2 savings of 21,500 tonnes per annum and green energy for over 15,000 homes. 

5.1.170 It should be considered though that the proposals would result in some impact given the 

production of the materials and the construction process itself. However the carbon 

footprint of solar power is many times lower than coal or gas with carbon capture and 

storage, and this accounts for emissions during manufacture, construction and fuel supply. 

5.1.171 As such, the proposed development would not result in unintended by-products which 

would undermine the carbon emission savings which the scheme would achieve, in 

accordance with criterion 12 of Policy EN10 of the Melton Local Plan. 

13. General safety in terms of highways, power lines, icing, visual distraction 

5.1.172 Overall the proposed development is sited away from roads, railways and other 

infrastructure which might otherwise conflict with the development. 

5.1.173 The submitted Glint and Glare assessment has also considered the impact upon the 

highways and railways. 

5.1.174 With respect to highways, solar reflections would be possible at 13 of the 14 road 

receptors assessed. It is considered that there would be potential impacts at these 

locations upon highways, with impacts considered as high using the initial bald-earth 

Page 32



Planning Report 

20/01182/FUL - Land East Of Jericho Covert, Jericho Lane, Barkestone 
Le Vale - Installation of a solar farm comprising ground mounted solar PV 
panels with a net installed generating capacity (AC) of up to 49.9MW and 
associated infrastructure 

33 

 

scenario. However upon reviewing the actual visibility of the receptors, glint and glare 

impacts would be none at all receptors. 

5.1.175 In terms of the railways and effects for train drivers, no effects are predicted.   

5.1.176 Icing is a predominantly related to wind energy and is not a relevant consideration for solar 

farm development. 

5.1.177 Overall, the effects on local receptors is considered to be negligible. No mitigation is 

required to be put in place; however, as discussed above, a number have been included 

as part of the LEMP. Therefore the proposal is considered to accord with criterion 13 of 

Policy EN10 of the Melton Local Plan.  

14. Transport movements for importation of biomass fuel 

5.1.178 Not pertinent to this proposal. 

5.1.179 Criterion 15-18 of Policy EN10 solely relate to wind turbine developments and as such 

are not pertinent to this proposal. 

Conclusion on Policy EN10 of the Melton Local Plan and Bottesford Neighbourhood 

Plan Policy 9 

5.1.180 Policy EN10 states that proposals for renewable and low carbon energy technology, 

associated infrastructure and integration of renewable and low carbon technology on 

existing or proposed structures will be assessed both individually and cumulatively on their 

merits taking account of a number of factors which have been assessed in full above. 

5.1.181 The proposed development would result in a solar farm with a 49.9 MW output for a 

temporary period of 40 years and would make a significant contribution to the government 

target of reducing carbon emissions to net zero by 2050.  

5.1.182 Given the details considerations above, it is considered that the proposals would accord 

with the criterion set out in Policy EN10. As discussed above, although there would 

inevitably be some detrimental impacts, particularly visual, associated with a development 

of this scale, it is considered that these can be suitably mitigated through an appropriate 

landscaping scheme. Impacts upon heritage benefits have been identified and assessed 

however these are considered to be outweighed by the significant public benefits of a 

clean, green energy development. 

5.1.183 Bottesford Neighbourhood Plan Policy 9: Renewable Energy and Low Carbon 

Technologies is relevant to this proposal given the proposed substation’s location within 

the Bottesford Neighbourhood Plan Area. Policy 9 is copied here with the relevant 

assessment under each point with regards to the proposed substation. Criteria 1, 2, 5 and 

6 are not relevant to the proposal. 

“3. Development of individual and community scale proposals that use renewable 

and low carbon energy resources will be supported where the scheme has 

demonstrated compliance with national policy in weighing the benefit in reducing 

carbon emissions against the impact on heritage assets”. 

5.1.184 This has been considered in full with respect to heritage assets with the significant public 

benefits of the scheme considered to outweigh the identified and assessed harm. 

“4. Development that delivers renewable energy will be supported where it can be 

demonstrated that it; 

Page 33



Planning Report 

20/01182/FUL - Land East Of Jericho Covert, Jericho Lane, Barkestone 
Le Vale - Installation of a solar farm comprising ground mounted solar PV 
panels with a net installed generating capacity (AC) of up to 49.9MW and 
associated infrastructure 

34 

 

a) does not have an unacceptably adverse impact on the amenity of residents and 

visitors (including: noise, vibration, views and vistas, shadow flicker, water pollution, 

odour, air quality, emissions, sensitivity and character of landscape); and 

b) does not have a significant adverse effect on any designated site (including SSSI, 

regionally or locally important geological sites, sites of ecological value, Local Green 

Spaces, Significant Green Gaps); and 

c) does not result in an unacceptably adverse effect on protected species, including 

migration routes and sites of biodiversity value; and 

d) does not result in the loss of the best and most versatile agricultural land in grades 

1,2 and 3a of the Agricultural Land Classification; and 

e) transmission lines should be located below ground wherever possible to reduce 

the impact on the open countryside”. 

5.1.185 Given the significant and detailed consideration above, it is not considered that the 

proposal would have an unacceptable impact on the amenity of residents, designated 

sites, protected species or agricultural land. 

“7. The inclusion of tree species as part of landscaping schemes on new 

development which will absorb CO2 and other harmful particles to improve air quality 

will be supported”. 

5.1.186 The proposed landscaping provided is significant and would help achieve an overall net-

gain in biodiversity with the appropriate local species being provided. 

5.1.187 Overall it is considered that the development would accord with Policy EN10 of the Melton 

Local Plan and Bottesford Neighbourhood Plan Policy 9 which supports development of 

renewable and low carbon energy proposals. 

5.1.188 All other planning matters including residential amenity, highway safety, biodiversity have 

been considered in full through assessing the proposal against the relevant criterion of 

Policy EN10. Therefore the only other outstanding planning consideration which is not 

covered by Policy EN10 is flooding and drainage which is considered next. 

Flood Risk/Drainage 

5.1.189 Policy EN11 of the Melton Local Plan seeks to ensure that development proposals do not 

increase flood risk and will seek to reduce flood risk to others. Policy EN12 states that 

proposals should demonstrate through a surface water drainage strategy that properties 

will not be at risk from surface water flooding. Neighbourhood Plan Policy 6 aims to reduce 

the risk of flooding within the Neighbourhood Plan Area. 

5.1.190 The application has been supported by a detailed flood risk assessment which identifies 

that the entirety of the site is within Flood Zone 1 and with the majority of the site also a 

low/negligible risk of flooding from all other sources. 

5.1.191 It has also been demonstrated through the submission that a means of safe/dry access 

and egress is possible to and from the site; and, that the proposed development is not 

considered to increase flood risk within the catchment through a loss of floodplain storage 

or impedance of overland flow routes. 

5.1.192 The proposed drainage strategy utilises the existing topography and natural drainage 

regime to ensure that any overland flows, although not increased compared to the existing 

Page 34



Planning Report 

20/01182/FUL - Land East Of Jericho Covert, Jericho Lane, Barkestone 
Le Vale - Installation of a solar farm comprising ground mounted solar PV 
panels with a net installed generating capacity (AC) of up to 49.9MW and 
associated infrastructure 

35 

 

situation, will be allowed to run-off overland to the shallow valleys running through the site, 

as per the existing situation.  

5.1.193 The proposed cable does run through flood zone 2 and 3 however this is not considered to 

result in adverse impacts upon flooding given the minor nature of the operations involved 

and that the land will be as the same condition as existing once installed. The 

Environment Agency have raised no objections to the proposal as the overall impact on 

the floodplain is likely to be minimal. 

5.1.194 The Lead Local Flood Authority also raise no objections given that the site is within Flood 

Zone 1 and at very low risk of surface water flooding for the majority of the site, with an 

area of medium to high surface water risk along the watercourse through the centre of the 

site. The proposals include an 8m easement around the watercourse.  

5.1.195 As the vast majority of the site will be comprised of raised solar panels, it is not considered 

impermeable. The proposed point of connection site will also be comprised of mostly 

permeable materials, with the transformer building comprising around 200m3 of 

impermeable roof space. However the Lead Local Flood Authority raise no concerns with 

this or the development as a whole due to this small increase in impermeable area being 

considered negligible. 

5.1.196 It should be noted though the proposed high voltage cable crosses the Grimmer brook, 

which is an ordinary watercourse and for which ordinary watercourse consent may be 

required from the Lead Local Flood Authority. Details of this process have been 

recommended for inclusion as an informative. 

5.1.197 The location of the substation is also within Flood Zone 1. 

5.1.198 Therefore, overall it is considered that the proposed development would not result in 

adverse impacts associated with flood risk, in accordance with Policies EN11 and EN12 of 

the Melton Local Plan and Neighbourhood Plan Policy 6. 

6 Consultation & Feedback 

6.1 The applicant undertook a significant level of pre-application submission consultation and 

these have been detailed within the submitted Statement of Community Involvement. 

6.2 A number of site notices were posted at the site, a press notice was also posted and 

neighbouring properties consulted.  

6.3 During the course of the application, a number of amended plans and revised documents 

received with subsequent re-consultation being undertaken. 

6.4 Overall, following the initial and revised consultations, approximately 229 letters of 

objection were received, 14 letters of support received and 3 public representations 

received neither stating whether they object or support.  

7 Financial Implications 

7.1 None. 

7.2 Comments have been received regarding a Community Benefit Grant being provided by 

the applicant to the Parish Councils, however such financial or other such contributions 

are outside the scope of planning and not a material planning consideration here. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: N/A 

Page 35



Planning Report 

20/01182/FUL - Land East Of Jericho Covert, Jericho Lane, Barkestone 
Le Vale - Installation of a solar farm comprising ground mounted solar PV 
panels with a net installed generating capacity (AC) of up to 49.9MW and 
associated infrastructure 

36 

 

8 Legal and Governance Implications 

8.1 The application engages the statutory duty under section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed 

Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to have special regard to the desirability of 

preserving listed buildings or their setting or any features of special architectural or historic 

interest which they possess. 

8.2 Legal implications are set out in the report where relevant. Legal advisors will also be 

present at the meeting. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Tom Pickwell (Solicitor) 

9 Background Papers 

9.1 20/00836/EIA - Screening opinion for proposed solar farm development/energy hub -  

Environmental Impact Assessment Not Required 

10 Appendices 

10.1 Appendix A: Summary of Statutory Consultation Responses 

10.2 Appendix B: Summary of Representation Received 

10.3 Appendix C: Recommended Planning Conditions 

10.4 Appendix D: Informatives 

10.5 Appendix E: List of Applicable Development Plan Policies 

10.6 Appendix F:  Historic England’s Response 

10.7 Appendix G: Site Photographs 

10.8 Appendix H.1: Council’s Landscape Review 

10.9 Appendix H.2: Council’s Landscape Review 

10.10 Appendix I: Council’s Agricultural Land Classification Review 

 

Report Author: Andrew Cunningham, Planning Officer 

Report Author Contact Details: 01664 502474 

ancunningham@melton.gov.uk  

Chief Officer Responsible: Paul Feehily, Interim Assistant Director for 
Planning 

Chief Officer Contact Details: 01664 502418 

pfeehily@melton.gov.uk 

 

Page 36

mailto:pfeehily@melton.gov.uk


Appendix A - Summary of Statutory Consultation Responses 

Barkestone, Plungar and Redmile Parish Council: 

- December 2020 
The Parish Council strongly objects to this application. 

Consultation process 

Notwithstanding the difficulties of the current pandemic, we have consulted with residents and 
found an overwhelming majority against the proposal. We consider that there are strong planning 
reasons to reject this application, and that there are substantial weaknesses in the applicant’s 
evidence and consequent assertions. 

It is wholly unreasonable to claim a lack of public interest, as the applicant suggests, based as it 
is on the inadequate public consultation exercise.  Moreover, those individuals who did send in 
their comments received scant responses from the agents.  Most people who object to the 
proposal have very sensibly delayed their response until the formal application was available.  
Since then, an online petition raised only in December has already had gathered over 260 
signatures, and the numerous individual objections continue to rise steadily.  

Submitted evidence 

Several residents have raised significant concerns over the submitted documentation. For 
example, the level of construction traffic has been severely under-estimated, and the Ecological 
Impact Assessment Report is based on the flimsy and incomplete evidence (e.g. desk based 
research only, few visits, no winter bird assessment).  The Parish Council is especially 
disappointed at the Council’s ‘screening opinion’ that an EIA is not required for this proposal; the 
assertion that the solar farm will not have a significant effect on landscape character is astounding, 
and, in our opinion, the applicant’s supporting documentation is not an adequate substitute for a 
formal EIA. 

As a result, the PC intends to commission our own assessments in key areas, and therefore this 
initial response represents is a holding objection pending the results of further investigation. 

We are aware from consultee responses that there is a number of outstanding matters for the 
applicant to address, so given the likely deferment to of any decision, the parish council seeks 
formal extension of time in which to submit its fully informed response of this complex proposal 
(including any intervening amendments). 

PLANNING REASONS FOR OBJECTION 

Scale and location of the proposal: 

Notwithstanding support for solar energy in principle, at appropriate scale and location, the 
massive size of this development is of fundamental concern. 

The solar park would completely change a piece of quintessential English countryside, turning an 
agricultural landscape into a quasi-industrial one.  The PC is aware of a trailing proposal for 
another huge solar park some two miles away, and the combined size of the two solar parks, if 
passed would be over 400 acres.  We are very concerned that the rural landscape which is so 

Page 37

Appendix A



highly treasured by our parish residents, and which fosters an array of indigenous wildlife, is in 
grave danger. 

This proposal is for a massive solar park on agricultural land in the heart of the Vale of Belvoir. 
The site is remote from a suitable grid connection, does not have easy access, and is not in a high 
solar output area of the UK.  For these reasons, it needs to be exceptionally large to make it cost 
effective. The size has been pitched at 49.9MW, which is just 0.1 MW below the level at which the 
proposal would have to be decided at a national level.  Even so, if it were in existence today, this 
would be within the top 5 largest solar parks in the UK. 

Landscape and visual impact 

This part of the Vale of Belvoir is identified as ‘an expansive gentle vale landscape with a strong 
pattern of medium scale rectangular shaped pastoral and arable fields with managed hedgerows 
and the Grantham canal, punctuated by nucleated villages with prominent church spires’ (Melton 
Local Plan: Landscape Character Assessment). The solar park would radically change the 
landscape, described in Melton Local Plan as ‘sensitive to change’, and amongst one of the more 
sensitive areas in the County (moderately to highly sensitive in the County Study). 

Barkestone Church (Grade II*) has one of the prominent spires mentioned above, and the views 
Southwards towards that church would be significantly impacted by this solar park. The footpath 
in this area is being retained but it is doubtful whether anyone would choose to walk it any more.  
In addition, the presence of the solar park would blight other walking paths in the locality, including 
that along the Grantham Canal, which is an SSSI, and the disused railway line, which the Parish 
Council has just acquired under license to create a footpath and bridleway. 

There is a campaign underway, led by Alicia Kearns MP, to secure AONB status for the Vale of 
Belvoir, bringing with it an enhancement of the tourism offers and sustainable rural economy which 
are already emerging in this area.   That campaign would surely be blighted by this huge industrial 
development in the heart of the Vale (on an Ordnance survey map, the very spot where “Vale of 
Belvoir” is written). 

Environment and ecology 

The land has been assessed by the applicants as not best and most versatile agricultural land, 
but it is still good agricultural land, typical of that in the Vale of Belvoir, an area which has helped 
to make Melton the “food capital of England”.  The farm was successfully farmed for many years 
by a tenant farmer until recently, and could quite easily be so farmed for years to come. 

The applicants claim that flat land suitable for solar parks is hard to find in England, but that 
statement is hard to substantiate. 

The applicant has proposed a land management plan which is described as ‘environmental 
enhancement’; in fact, it amounts to poor mitigation for the environmental harm caused by this 
solar park.  The development will not improve the landscape from a visual point of view or 
ecologically, quite the opposite.   

Natural England and the RSPB among others recommend that solar parks should not be sited 
near protected areas.  The Grantham Canal SSSI is less than 50m away from this site, and the 
disused railway line, which provides habitat for an abundance of wildlife, is even closer. 

The area has significant populations of birds which are on the RSBP’s Red and Amber lists, as 
well as other important species including raptors such as the Red kite, Sparrowhawk and several 

Page 38



species of owl.  The existence of this bird life also suggests that the landscape is a successful 
ecosystem which would be seriously impacted by an industrial type managed development.  
Certainly a more detailed study of the impact of this proposal on the wildlife of the area should be 
conducted. 

Policy considerations 

In paragraph 151 the NPPF endorses the use and supply of renewable and low carbon energy, 
but only if ensuring that adverse impacts, including cumulative landscape and visual impacts, are 
addressed satisfactorily.  In our view the adverse impacts of this development on the landscape, 
visual amenity, recognised landscape character, biodiversity and ecology far outweigh the benefits 
of any solar energy gain, especially given the inherent inappropriateness of the site in terms of its 
access to the grid and its inaccessibility.  

The NPPF (paragraphs 170-172) says that planning decisions should ‘conserve and enhance the 
natural local environment by, among other things, protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, 
and recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside’.  Contrary to the applicant’s 
submissions, it is difficult to see how the development could fulfil such objectives. 

Paragraph 174 of the NPPF also states that “to protect and enhance biodiversity and geodiversity, 
plans should …. Identify, map and safeguard components of local wildlife-rich habitats, and if 
significant harm to biodiversity resulting from a development cannot be avoided …….. then 
planning permission should be refused.”  There are further points made in paragraphs 174-177 of 
the NPPF which have so far not been given adequate attention in this application. 

Similarly, the Melton LP Policy EN1 is aimed at ensuring that the character of Melton Borough’s 
landscape and countryside will be conserved and, where possible, enhanced. 

The Melton LP recognises that solar parks can have significant impacts on the character and 
appearance of the landscape (7.20.5).  It refers to the balance between protecting the rural 
character and the need to reduce greenhouse gases/support low carbon energy (7.20.6).  The 
Parish Council is convinced that, in this case, that balance weighs infinitely in favour of protecting 
the inherent character of the Vale from this unacceptably intrusive development.  

The Melton Local Plan policy on renewable energy is policy EN10.  Out of 14 factors which need 
to be considered in relation to proposals, at least seven are impacted by the proposal. It is the 
strongly held view of the PC that the proposal is likely to have net adverse impacts on the 
surrounding landscape and heritage assets, residential and visual amenity, biodiversity and 
ecology, best use of agricultural land and access for construction.  These adverse impacts 
outweigh the advantages of this site in terms of its suitability for solar energy generation, for which 
there are many alternative acceptable locations. 

Despite the consultant’s assertions, there would seem to be very few social or economic benefits 
to the local economy from this proposal.   On the contrary there would be adverse impacts on the 
tourism and diversification of the rural economy in the wider locality.   

 

- May 2021 
We are writing to give our comments mainly on the Transport Statement Addendum (TSA) 
supplied by the applicant. We also have further comments on a number of other issues relating to 
this application. 

Page 39



On the TSA our view is that the proposals submitted are totally unacceptable. One of the problems 
with this site is its remoteness from main roads, and even from any roads at all. The weight limits 
in place in all the nearby villages are there for good reason, those villages not being suitable for 
heavy or frequent traffic. It appears to us that the applicant, having realised the impracticality of 
their original plan, is now busy trying to hammer a square peg into a round hole. 

From recent discussions with the agent for the applicant (after submission of the TSA), it appears 
that they are continuing to revise their strategy to address individual issues, without solving the 
fundamental problem that the site’s location is unsuitable for such a major construction project. 
For example, they have revised the size of HGV proposed to drive along the route from Castle 
View Road to the site, having discovered that an 11m truck would breach the EWL. This of course 
means there would an even larger number (as yet unquantified) of smaller trucks driving along 
this route, including through the middle of Plungar, with even more safety concerns and 
aggravation to local residents etc. 

We have read the comments recently submitted to you by Mr Chris Noakes. Mr Noakes clearly 
sets out the complete inadequacy, in fact the complete inaccuracy, of the TSA. We have read Mr 
Noakes’ comments in detail and discussed them with him, and we do not propose to repeat his 
detailed observations. We agree with him that the Planning Authority currently has no reliable 
information on which they can make an assessment of the impact of the transport proposals.  

In addition no effort at all has been made by the applicant to assess the impact of their revised 
proposals, for example to explain how many small trucks will be required to transport the cargo of 
one large HGV, or what exactly will need to be brought to the site to enable the construction works 
for the access etc., and what extra transport will be needed for that. 

With the figures for expected amounts of traffic along the route not even having been worked out 
in relation to the size of this project, we still have no idea how much traffic is expected to pass 
through the narrow lanes of Plungar, and the other country roads which will be used. We can be 
sure however that it will be a great deal, causing substantial safety issues, as well as noise and 
pollution. This area is used by many horse riders, pedestrians and cyclists and so it is not just 
local motorists and residents who will be endangered. In addition we can be sure that this will not 
be a short period of disruption, but again the TS does not help at all in providing any reliable data 
on this question.  

We summarise below our main concerns regarding the TSA: 

1. The TSA provides no reliable data on the amount of traffic which will pass along the route from 
the Grid Connection site to the Solar Farm site. 

2. The use of the village of Plungar for the passage of the large number of HGV which would be 
required, over a substantial period of time, is unacceptable. Plungar has narrow roads on blind 
bends, and even if weight limits are not breached, there are significant safety concerns, in addition 
to issues of noise and pollution. There will also be a huge increase in heavy goods traffic over an 
extended period of time, and the road quality may well suffer. Some residents in houses bordering 
the route have voiced concerns to us about potential cumulative impact on the fabric of their 
homes, some of which are over 250 years old. There is also an old railway bridge along the route 
out of Plungar which is already showing signs of deterioration and this is likely to be exacerbated 
by frequent HGV use. 

3. The use of Flawborough Lane (aka Gypsy Lane) for access to the site is unacceptable. The 
lane is situated partly in Nottinghamshire, where it is a BOAT and an adopted highway, and partly 

Page 40



in Leicestershire, where it is a PROW. Nottinghamshire County Council has already stated “what 
has been submitted is unsatisfactory to determine that the proposal is acceptable in terms of 
highway safety for vehicles, equestrians and pedestrians, so [they] object to the proposal.” The 
lane is currently a rutted country track used by pedestrians, cyclists, horse riders and farm traffic, 
with connections to other PROW’s. Whatever proposals are put forward by the applicants, it is 
impossible to conceive that this lane will not be out of action for all these users for the duration of 
the construction period. This will be particularly difficult for farm traffic at busy times of the year. 

4. The TS and the TSA also do not make it clear what the status of Flawborough Lane is proposed 
to be over the course of the 40 years that the application covers. There is bound to be a 
requirement for vehicles to access the site for the whole of that period. It is likely if not certain that 
the solar panels will be required to be upgraded, perhaps on a wholescale basis. It is known that 
these panels do not have a 40-year life. The agent has recently mentioned to us a proposal to use 
temporary mats to cover the lane for HGVs to pass over (although this proposal has not been 
submitted as part of the application). Leaving aside that this will also require further HGV 
movements to deliver the mats, this will not take care of the ongoing requirement for access. In 
addition, clearly the need for traffic to the site to continue over the 40 year period will result in a 
continuation of all the transport issues for the whole of that period. Neither the TS not the TSA 
cover this point at all. It is clear that most approved solar farms have been at sites where the 
access issues are not going to be a long term issue as well as a short term one. 

5. The TSA will require a large number of HGVs to visit the Grid Connection site, using Castle 
View Road, a very narrow road unsuitable for such vehicles. The road would be ruined by such 
use. The argument that the EWL is not breached because the HGVs are accessing the grid 
connection site is a clever piece of sophistry. In fact the purpose of the HGVs’ journey is to 
transport the solar panels and other construction materials through Castle View Road. In this 
respect the Grid Connection site is being used as a transport depot, and the applicant should 
apply for planning permission for that use as well. 

6. The junction of Castle View Road with Long Lane is on a bend along which other vehicles travel 
at speed and because of poor visibility at this junction, there are serious safety concerns. 

7. The other country roads proposed as part of the route in the TSA, including Long Lane, are 
frequently used by cyclists, pedestrians and horse riders, even those not subject to the EWL. Such 
users are welcome in the Vale of Belvoir, which we wish to see continue to develop as a tourist 
destination, bringing pleasure to visitors and much needed growth to the local economy. A large 
increase in traffic on these roads is likely not only to cause safety issues for those users, but also 
to discourage them from visiting the area. 

Other areas requiring further investigation 

The poor quality of the Transport Statement, and subsequently the TSA, is only one area in which 
we feel that the documentation submitted with this application is inadequate, and in some aspects 
misleading. 

This application, along with many others submitted throughout the country, is for a huge 
development, but significantly 0.1 MW in capacity below the level at which the application should 
by law received consideration at a national level. Given the size of the project, the Local Panning 
Authority deserves to have the fullest information from applicants to enable them to give the 
application the scrutiny it requires. The applicant should not be able to rely on the LPS not have 
the information or resources it needs to come to a proper conclusion. 

Page 41



These are the specific areas where we consider that further investigation is required:  

- The Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment appears to be selective in assessing 
the impact of the site from various viewpoints. Most astonishingly, in fails even to 
mention the view of the site from just outside the church of St Peter and St Paul in 
Barkestone, and the even more impacted view from halfway down Jericho Lane. On 
Jericho Lane, the view chosen is by the canal bridge, where the site is at eye level and 
screened by hedges. 

- A number of local residents with farming knowledge of the land state that it is good 
quality farmland capable of growing a variety of crops including wheat. On Melton 
Borough Council’s own assessment, the land is graded as mixed Grade 3a/3b (not 
specified as 3b, which is separately identified). The current landowner themselves 
recently removed some hedgerow, applying for permission to do so on the grounds 
that it would enable them better to farm the land. Current fertility will clearly depend on 
the extent to which the land has been well farmed. We consider that the objection 
raised in respect of this need to be taken seriously, and that further investigation should 
be made to determine the proper capacity of the land for farming, and particularly to 
determine whether the land is grade 3a in part, since if only 20ha of it is so, the 
proposal would need amendment. 

- Very little mention has been made of the important SSSI, the Grantham Canal, which 
is at one point less than 50m from the site boundary. The wildlife significance of the 
canal is enhanced by the disused railway line bordering it, which has recently been 
acquired under licence by the Parish Council for development as a footpath, and is 
partly designated as a Local Wildlife Site. Natural England offered no objection to the 
proposals, but the standing advice submitted with their comments states that they 
should be specifically consulted in circumstances where a development proposal might 
affect an SSSI. Given the proximity of the SSSI to the site, we consider that Natural 
England should be consulted on this specific issue, or that confirmation is provided by 
Natural England that they have already considered it in their comment. 

- The LCC Ecology officer says that the Ecology report is “satisfactory”, but her brief 
report does not give the reader any confidence that a rigorous assessment of the 
applicant’s data and assertion has been made. We understand that there is a 
perceived wisdom about the effect of solar farms on biodiversity and wildlife in general, 
but our observation of solar farm in operation suggests that the noble Ecology 
Management Plans submitted are seldom observed in practice. Many residents have 
pointed out that the Ecology report was based on one summer visit and there has been 
no winter birds study done. They have also pointed out that the number of species of 
birds in the area has been grossly understated, being based upon the records 
available, which have not historically been maintained to a high standard in the area. 
The landowner of this site themselves point out the rich wildlife in the area. We 
question whether the records used for the Ecology report can be relied upon, and we 
would like to see much more detail to justify the assertion that the solar farm will result 
in a biodiversity net gain. 

- The LCC archaeologist recommends that the planning authority defer determination of 
the application and request that the applicant complete an Archaeological Impact 
Assessment of the proposals. As far as we know no such assessment has been done. 

- As far as we know, no assessment has been made of the cumulative impact of this 
solar farm proposal and the one at Muston for which it is widely known that application 
is pending, nor has there been any assessment of the impact of these two proposals 
on spare grid capacity, which might otherwise be available for smaller and more 

Page 42



appropriate solar farms in the area. 
Conclusion 

The TS and the subsequent TSA are not fit for purpose. A transport proposal is required which 
enables decision makers to see just how much and what type of traffic will result for the proposal 
over the full life of the solar farm. 

The inadequacy of the transport proposal tends to reinforce our view that in other areas, outlined 
above, this application has not received the level of scrutiny which it requires, given its size and 
controversial choice of site. 

Bottesford Parish Council:  

- May 2021 
The Parish Council considered the Transport Statement Addendum (dated 16th March 2021) at 
its meeting on 17th May 2021. 

This Addendum is a response to feedback relating to planning application 20/01182/FUL.  

The Parish Council is of the opinion that the transport impact of such a scheme would be severe 
and would summarise its concerns as follows; 

1. Castle View Road is a very narrow road and as such completely unsuitable for use in the manner 
outlined in this scheme. The dissatisfaction with HGV's going through Granby Village expressed 
by Nottinghamshire County Council must not result in an unacceptable traffic scheme being 
pushed into Leicestershire. 

2. Due to the narrow nature of Castle View Road this scheme would likely result in an increase in 
accidents among both motorised and non-motorised users, particularly vulnerable road users such 
as walkers, cyclists and horse riders who use this stretch of road. 

3. This scheme would add pressure at junctions already known to be dangerous. This proposed 
addition of significant HGV movements where the transport infrastructure is inadequate would 
considerably add to the risk to all road users. 

4. The Parish Council is concerned about the impact of this scheme on the bridges over the 
Winterbeck River and the Canal. 

In summary the Parish Council is of the opinion that there are plenty of alternatives to this scheme 
and that the proposed HGV Routing Plan contained in this Transport Statement Addendum is 
entirely unsuitable and must be reconsidered. 

 

- September 2021 
Although this application site is itself outside the Bottesford Parish boundary the proposal includes 
the use of Castle View Road as an access point, including creating 4 passing places, plus work at 
the transformer site – all within the Parish. 

Bottesford PC has previously objected to the use of Castle View Road but the access proposals 
have not altered. The road in question is a lovely small lane most suited to use by pedestrians, 
cyclists and horse riders. The junction on to Belvoir Road is already very dangerous and its use 
as proposed by this scheme would be an accident waiting to happen. Bottesford PC agreed 

Page 43



unanimously at its recent meeting to object to this application primarily due to the impact on Castle 
View Road. 

The original scheme used access roads in Nottinghamshire, but that County objected on highway 
and environmental grounds. Hence the revised scheme. It is the view of the Bottesford PC that 
Leicestershire Highways Authority should have taken a similar view to Nottinghamshire and stated 
that Castle View Road, the Winterbeck Bridge, and the junction with the A52 were unsuitable and 
no alterations could be justified. 

There is no justification for the proposed off-loading arrangements at such a distance from the 
actual site that is going to be the solar farm in the supporting documents. Bottesford PC asserts 
that proposing that big lorries come to the substation, drop off material for the solar farm which 
then must be uploaded onto smaller vehicles, who then go a considerable distance to the solar 
farm site is nonsense. If the Solar Farm needs materials surely a closer site for storing materials 
should be located, such as Langar Airfield? Until there is specific evidence of a proper search this 
application should be deferred or dismissed. 

The Parish Council noted concerns raised by the Canal and River Trust with regards to the impact 
upon the Grantham Canal over which the Cable run has to pass over in two places. Cllrs also 
observe that the Bottesford Tree Charter proposes that an avenue of trees be planted along the 
road as far as the Winterbeck. 

The uncertainty and absence of information, despite it being a Full application, in this scheme 
should ensure that the Planning Authority refuse the application. 

 

- October 2021 
Bottesford Parish Council welcomes the fact that Castle View Road is no longer intended to be 
used as a drop off point. We would ask that this be formally included as a condition of any approval 
granted. The Council also requests that work on the sub station be time limited, and the access to 
the sub station be restored to reflect its rural location with landscaping being provided as soon as 
the work is completed. Finally, the Council also requests that there be a condition put in place to 
ensure that any footpaths and rights of way within Bottesford Parish affected by the digging of 
trenches are restored and replacement landscaping provided. 

Granby Parish Council:  

November 2020 

Granby cum Sutton Parish Council wish to OBJECT to the Transport Statement in relation to the 
above Planning Application. An examination of the Transport Statement shows that; 

- The route to and from the construction site in Leicestershire is from the A52 at Granby Lane over 
'Thorough Bridge', a mid-18th Century Grade 2 listed structure across the River Smite, up Granby 
Hill, through Granby, a conservation village which has a 7.5T limit, along Main Street then Plungar 
Road and out of the village beyond the 7.5T limit before turning onto a track described in the 
application as 'Flawborough Lane' with a national speed limit of 60mph, but known locally as 
'Gypsy Lane', mapped as a Byway Open to All Traffic (Granby BOAT 17) and shown on an 
Ordnance Survey map published in 1972, scale1:2,500, as a track. This track (Granby BOAT 17) 
is the responsibility of Nottinghamshire County Council to maintain but has been unsafe for 
walkers, cyclists and horses for many years. 

Page 44



- The Transport Plan summarises Heavy Goods Vehicle movements at Table 5.1, as 482 
deliveries and returns, equating to an average of 16 daily HGV movements using Granby as a rat 
run into and out of Leicestershire over a six week period.  

- One activity requires 67 x 10m Rigid/Tipper Trucks each carrying around 15 cubic metres of 
stone equating to over 20T per delivery which nearly triples the weight restriction limit through 
Granby. Another activity requires 230 x 16.5m Articulated vehicle movements through the village. 

Weight Restriction Orders are used to protect old/weak bridges and rural roads/villages. It is also 
an offence under the Road Traffic Act 1984 to drive a vehicle through the restricted area where 
the vehicle exceeds the weight limit imposed unless they are delivering or collecting within the 
weight restriction. Every misuse of weight restricted lorries will be reported and may be subject to 
a financial penalty of up to £1,000 for each occasion. 

LCC Highways:  
 
No objections subject to conditions. 
 

Nottinghamshire Highways Authority:  
 
No objection subject to conditions. 
 

Highways England: 

No objection. 

Historic England:  

Latest response – May 2021 

Summary 

The landscape in which the application site is located is historically important with heritage assets 

of outstanding importance in a setting with few modern interventions. It is therefore sensitive to 

large scale development.  

By virtue of its scale and man-made character the proposed solar farm would appear incongruous 

and alter the character of the landscape which forms the setting to several highly graded heritage 

assets. In our view it would cause less than substantial harm to the significance that Grade I Listed 

Belvoir Castle, its Grade II* Registered Park and the Grade II* Listed Church of St Peter and St 

Paul, Barkestone, derive from their setting. We question whether an intervention of this nature 

should be introduced to this landscape and have concerns about the precedent it could set. 

As the decision maker, your authority should assess whether the proposals would be justified or 

outweighed by public benefit in their current form in accordance with the paragraphs 194 and 196 

of the NPPF. During this assessment you should consider whether proposals of this nature would 

be acceptable in this landscape. If you consider they would be, you should contemplate whether 

the proposals should be amended to reduce their impact. 

MBC Conservation Officer: 

No comments received. 

Page 45



LCC Archaeology:  

No objections subject to conditions. 

LCC Ecology:  

No objections. 

Natural England:  

No objections. 

Vale Barn Owl Conservation Group: 

We are writing on behalf of the Vale Barn Owl Conservation Group. Since 2008 we have been 
working with landowners in the Vale of Belvoir to re-establish and encourage the local breeding 
population of Barn Owls. Through the establishment of a network of nest boxes and a degree of 
habitat management, we have had significant success in our aims to date. Furthermore, in 
conjunction with bird ringers working under licence from the British Trust for Ornithology (BTO), 
we monitor the birds nesting in the area and this gives us a clear picture of their fortunes. 

We do not wish to either support or object to the proposed development, but we would like to draw 
your attention to certain environmental matters, and particularly those concerning the Barn Owl – 
a protected, Schedule 1 species. No mention is made of this species in the planning 
documentation, yet it is present throughout the planned development area. 

From what we can see on the planning documents and maps, at least two of our nest boxes will 
be affected by the development area (at SK 77047 35453 and SK 76909 35940). Barn Owls 
regularly breed in both of these boxes and we have recorded breeding in eight out of the last ten 
years. The proposed development is likely to cause significant disturbance in these two areas 
(e.g. site noise, light pollution and passing vehicles). Because Barn Owls are included in Schedule 
1 of the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981, it is an offence to disturb this species when breeding (the 
season can stretch from March until November). For further details, see here: 
https://www.barnowltrust.org.uk/barn-owls-law/protection-nesting-barn-owls/ 

There is mention of erecting new nest boxes in the plans, but it is not clear whether or not these 
would provide suitable mitigation as we cannot find any mention of precise location, nest box 
design or considerations such as suitable habitat and lack of disturbance – all of which have 
significant bearing on the chances of Barn Owls using them successfully. As an organisation, we 
would welcome the chance to be involved in mitigation action and could provide advice and 
suitable boxes.  

In addition, we would like to point out the importance of rough grassland to the Barn Owl. A pair 
needs at least 14ha to provide enough food for successful breeding and overwinter survival (see: 
https://www.barnowltrust.org.uk/how-to-manage-land-for-barn-owls/barn-owl-habitat-
requirements/). 

This need not be in a single block, but can comprise a patchwork of margins and buffer strips. 
Potentially, the development could improve the habitat for Barn Owls in this respect and alongside 
enhanced hedgerows would not only benefit the owls, but most farmland bird species (except 
Skylark) and a range of other flora and fauna. However, this and the proposed meadows would 
need careful grazing/cutting management. For Barn Owls, autumn cutting (with arisings removed) 
and/or grazing on a biennial cycle is ideal. Doing this earlier in the year will negate any benefits 

Page 46



for Barn Owls, and could in fact make things worse. The BTO’s Barn Owl Monitoring Programme 
found that Barn Owls fared better in arable areas with grassy margins as opposed to heavily 
grazed grassland. Again, we would happily discuss plans with the developers to determine the 
most productive management practices with regard to Barn Owls and in terms of biodiversity 
enhancement in general. 

Canal and River Trust: 

No objection subject to conditions. 

Grantham Canal Partnership: 

Please treat this response as an objection until we are able to engage with the applicants and find 
out more information regarding their methodology and intentions regarding safeguarding the 
Canal infrastructure. I have seen the response of the landowner of the canal site, the Canal and 
River Trust of 20 November 2020 and we would like to endorse their comments and also add that 
we are also concerned regarding the method of cabling and in particular if such cabling were to 
be installed under the canal structure which is essentially fragile paddled clay. There do not seem 
to be any ground surveys provided the applicant analysing the type of challenges such a route 
might face and their proposals for overcoming them including how any repairs/renewals might be 
dealt with should the cabling fail. Equally any cabling in an highway overbridge which might have 
to be rebuilt to cope with future navigation on the restored Canal would be an anathema to us as 
it would add to the complexities and cost of regeneration. Any proposal which is not future proofed 
to protect the restoration of the Canal, an aim endorsed by the LPA as part of the Grantham Canal 
Partnership, will be something which we would oppose. Thank you for considering this response 
in your deliberations. 

MBC Environmental Health:  

No comments to make. 

Leicestershire police Designing out Crime Officer: 

General recommendations provided. 

LLFA:  

No objection, refer to standing advice. 

Environment Agency: 

The overall impact on the floodplain is likely to be minimal and, it is assumed that the 
permit/consent 

obtained from the LLFA will assess the flood risk as part of this process. Therefore we have no 
formal comment to make. 

Severn Trent Water: 

No comments received. 

Page 47



Network Rail: 

No observations to make. 

Health and Safety Executive: 

No comment to make. 

MBC Building Control: 

No comments received. 

Ramblers: 

No comments received. 

Rushcliffe Borough Council: 

No comments received. 

Nottinghamshire County Council Planning Policy Team: 

No strategic policy comments to make. 

National Grid Plant Protection: 

No comments received. 

Western Power Wayleavers: 

No comments received. 

LCC Forestry: 

No comments received. 

 

Page 48



Appendix B - Summary of representations received 

Neighbours:  
 
244 letters of objections have been received on the following grounds: 
 
These have been arranged and detailed by month so as to note that a number of responses 
received are no longer pertinent due to the revised information submitted during the course of the 
application. 
 

November 2020 

• Development is not required  

• Granby is a conservation area  

• Use of BOAT would require removal of hedgerow  

• Other land locations would be more suitable for this development 

• Disruption to wildlife and biodiversity  

• A range of species would be affected - ground feeding and ground nesting birds, migratory 
species  

• Negative impact on resident birds habitats 

• Impact on the ecosystem   

• Unsuitable route and vehicle access for traffic and construction traffic 

• Grassy cart track section  

• Unsuitable surface  

• Will not accommodate HGV usage - width is not wide enough  

• Unlawful access route  

• No mention of what reparation would be made due to any damage incurred   

• Propose a new access route for construction drivers  

• Construct a new entrance  

• Unclear how the construction traffic will be managed  

• Unsuitable tonne weight restriction contrary to the applicant's Statement of Community 
Involvement 

• Site is currently not suited for use by lorries 7.5 tonnes and over  

• Granby is a weight restricted area  

• Added danger of extra HGVs  

• Overweight vehicles crossing the bridge  

• Weight Restriction Order 

• The roads and infrastructure will not be able to cope with the high level of heavy traffic  

• Unsuitable protection of all hedgerows and trees' contrary to the applicant's Statement of 
Community Involvement  

• The plan presented does not show how restrictions will not be broken  

• Concerns about traffic regularly using the small historic bridge (Grade II Listed Bridge) 

• the bridge has poor visibility and is prone to flooding  

• unable to cope with heavy vehicles  

• too narrow for passing traffic  

• preserving the bridge and the history  

• Concerns regarding road traffic accidents  

• Increased traffic  

Page 49

Appendix B



• Safety concerns for school children cyclists, horses and riders, local motorists, pedestrians 
and ramblers, dogs and their walkers     

• Lanes would be used by the local equestrian population and would be highly unsafe for 
them  

• Could cause potential stress, fear and injuries to any animals  

• Residents cars that are parked on the road for necessity will be affected  

• A total of 241 HGV deliveries and 482 two-way movements  

• Noise pollution  

• Air pollution due to the increase in passing traffic  

• Congestion issues  

• The village would not benefit from this development  

• Highways concerns 

• Potholes  

• Road into the village is unsighted  and narrow  

• Road damage - break up the edges of the road surface  

• Flawborough Lane is too narrow and impractical and unsuitable for passing vehicles due 
to being deeply rutted and waterlogged  

• Difficulty already for buses, farm vehicles and refuse collection lorries at the top of Granby 
Hill  

• Danger of vehicles turning in and out on a 60mph road  

• Vibrations from passing vehicles can be detected  

• Unsuitable Transport Statement  

• Illegal and potentially damaging and dangerous  

• Impact on the village green  

• Insufficient information within the Transport Statement  

• Does not provide any sort of commentary as to the nature of the proposed route  

• Vehicles travelling through would be dangerous   

• Overtaking with no clear view  

• The current Transport Plan may encourage criminal offences to be committed under the 
Road Traffic Act 1984  

• Fines  

• Disruption to village  

• Damage to properties  

• Gain access through an alternative points/routes with no weight restrictions  

• Impacting mental wellbeing  

• No application has been made to Nottingham County Council Highways regarding 
accidents along the route  

• No consultation with Parish, borough or County Councils in Nottinghamshire  

• Unable to gain access to properties due to the single track being used by the additional 
vehicles  

• Damage to the Parish Church and burial ground  

• Concerns regarding the safeguarding the Canal infrastructure  

• Cabling concerns  

• Proposed development is adjacent to flood risk land  

• Development site is in too much of a close proximity to a residential area  

• Proposed development size is very large  

• Occupies a large area of natural beauty  

• The proposed would be in the top 5 largest solar parks in the country  

Page 50



• Proposed use is unsuitable  

• Safety risk to the community as a whole  

• Safety of school children that use the village green  

• Poor visibility when entering the village  

• Visual pollution  

• Visible from multiple locations - visible from Barkestone church (Grade II Listed Building) 

• Disrupt views  

• Proposed development is close to a Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) 

• Reduction in openness  

• Proposal is contrary to the government's National Planning Policy Framework Section 15  

• The proposed development is unnecessary  

• The Lane is not within the red line boundary  

• Short cuts around the development site may lead to increased anti-social behaviour  

• An irrevocable change to the rural character of the area  

• The impact on the environment is far greater than the benefit gained  

• In close proximity to the airfield  

• Significant danger and confusion to aeroplanes   

• The proposal is contrary to the National Planning Policy Framework  

• Negative effect on tourism  

• Impact on local businesses  

• Production is not environmentally friendly  

• Adding to carbon emissions  
 
December 2020 

• Unsure as to the grade of the soil  

• The development does not contribute to or enhance the natural landscape  

• More suitable use for the land i.e. farming  

• The use ancient of Ridge and Furrow fields  

• Solar panels should be placed on existing government owned buildings  

• The countryside stewardship and woodland scheme would go to waste if the proposed 
development continued  

• The 38 Degrees Petition 'Don't Spoil the Vale of Belvoir' has incurred a lot of objections  

• The proposed solar farm should be scaled back and the environmental and community 
safeguard significantly increased  

• Too close to Belvoir Castle  

• No consultations  

• Application is out of proportion to the surrounding area  

• Not a temporary fixture 

• Devalue the area  

• Drainage problems may occur  

• There is another solar farm within close proximity  

• Loss of prime farmland  

• Loss of public footpaths  

• Contradictive proposal  

• Footpaths and bridleways would be impacted  

• Housing prices will decrease  

• Size and scale of development inappropriate for area  

Page 51



• Local tourism negatively affected by development  

• Significantly change or damage the rural landscape, wildlife and traditional farming  

• Impacts on public right of ways e.g. bridleways and Footpaths  

• Loss of farmland and natural habitat  

• Development will open the door to further future developments on both small and large 
scale 

• 40 years cannot reasonably be considered as temporary  

• Development within an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty  

• The Vale of Belvoir is renowned for their beauty 

• Will prevent area being awarded AONB 

• Solar Farms ordinarily situated on brownfield, coalfield and airfields rather than green 
farmland 

• Construction traffic disrupting wildlife  

• Adjacent to SSSI site 

• Development will destroy recreational appeal  

• Loss of space for wildlife when also considering the amount of housing proposals also in 
for construction  

• A project of half the scale would not be so objected 

• Eyesore  

• Contributor would like to see reduction in scale of development to protect wildlife 

• There are more suitable locations 

• The planned traffic route takes many very heavy vehicles through Granby which is a 
conservation village and a weight restricted area with a Thorough Bridge which is grade 2 
listed - breach of Road Traffic Act 1984 for over 7.5 tonne lorries to use bridge 

• Huge amounts of construction traffic traveling on roads that are completely unsuitable by 
their own nature and status  

• Bad for the community  

• Road system unfit for construction and maintenance traffic required  

• Financial gain  

• Development land could be put to more appropriate use e.g. farming land, biomass crops 

• Concerns regarding waste disposal of solar panels after their lifespan  

• Development will cause harm to visual amenity and to the character of the landscape 

• Site not being of benefit to surrounding area as energy generated is fed back to the national 
grid - is there not a caveat or condition that can be applied so that the local community can 
at least reap the benefits? 

• Ruins a lovely amenity that locals enjoy and need for mental and physical well-being 

• Vale of Belvoir should be preserved not destroyed with development as once farm land is 
gone it is gone forever 

• Farmers have farmed land on the estate for years, those farms and their livelihoods will be 
affected 

• Completely unnecessary to choose specific location 

• Unacceptable use of an area of natural beauty  

• Keep the countryside the countryside 

• The scale and nature of the proposal feels contrary to the national planning policy and also 
the local plan for the Melton area 

• Does not contribute to or enhance the local landscape and will not create long-term 
employment 

Page 52



• Very little being done to compensate the environmental destruction involved in constructing 
the solar development - will not benefit wildlife or eco-systems 

• Why not feed the solar farm directly into the tenants of Belvoir Estates Houses e.g. Knipton, 
Redmile benefitting all with free electricity 

• Will cause significant harm to the wildlife, should consider planting the entire plot with mixed 
species of woodland and donating profits to charitable causes that will do good for the 
community 

• Insufficient allowance for rainwater 

• Animals such as bats, badgers and newts are prevalent and ecological surveys show that 
newts especially are often found with in this area 

• Roads cannot take any more traffic in our villages  

• It is likely that a smaller farm could meet the financial objectives of the Belvoir estate without 
compromising the local arable and livestock farm community 

• The development will have a negative impact on house prices within the area 

• This development is another step towards reducing the amount of domestic arable lane, 
leading to increased reliance on imports and pollution that comes with it - I would suggest 
brown-field sites are prioritised for such developments  

• Insufficient allowance for rainwater  
 
January 2021 

• Inappropriate location   

• Using good quality arable land 

• Alternate options on brown field sites  

• Other alternatives to green energy  

• Planting more trees  

• The impact of Brexit, food security and home grown produce  

• Supplying cereals to the food industry  

• Effect on water absorption capacity  

• Proposal is contrary to the Melton Local Plan 2018  
 
February 2021 

• The negatives outweigh the positives  

• One of the few remaining untouched countryside locations  

• Several other solar farms within a 10 mile radius of the proposed site  

• Area Of Natural Beauty (AONB) status is currently being campaigned for - the proposed 
development would have an impact on this  
 
March 2021 

• Security measures indicate an heightened risk of rural crime 

• Agricultural to industrial land  

• Proposed site is occupying valuable farmland  

• April 2021 

• The proposal conflicts with The Landscape Policy of the adopted Melton Plan (EN1)  

• Will not benefit the community as a whole  

• Light pollution  

• Less grid capacity  

• Cable crossing  

• The build duration and disruption is likely to last more than 6 months  

Page 53



• Other similar projects have provided the community with a Q&A and a sustainable 
community grant for the Parish Council  

• Revised access plan is still unsuitable  

• Castle View Lane has a 7.5 tonne weight restriction  

• Decanting into smaller vehicles will significantly increase the number of journeys needed  

• New proposed route to the development site is unsuitable and impracticable  

• Roads into Plungar are narrow  

• Disturb a quite village  

• Bridges would not be able to cope with increased traffic  

• Noise  

• Damage and damage to properties  

• Road traffic accidents - blind spots, unclear visibility  
 
May 2021 

• Revised traffic assessment is unsuitable  

• Lack of quantity analysis  
 
August 2021 

• Concerns on material use  
 
September 2021 

• Inadequate explanation on the quantity of HGVs driving within the village  
 
October 2021 

• Inadequate explanation on the quantity of HGVs driving within the village  
 

January 2022 

• Environmental Damage 

• Use of brownfield sites and rooftops should be considered 

• Heavy traffic and pollution, noise and disruption during construction 

• Impact wildlife and immediate environment 

• Insufficient justification and unviable proposal 

• Not effective use of agricultural land and in a heritage setting 
June 2022 

• Loss of farm land 

• Unsightly site in an area of beauty 

• Far too large for the area 

• Destruction to wildlife 

• Not in accordance with local plan  

• Impact upon the local landscape 
 
13 letters of support have been received on the following grounds: 
 

• Clean, green low impact way to generate renewable electricity/energy  

• Long term benefits outweigh the short term inconvenience  

• The additional noise and dust is small in comparison to the clean non-polluting electricity 
this development will produce over the next 40 years  

• The proposed development will benefit the community  

Page 54



• The applicant has worked to preserve the countryside and protect wildlife  

• The proposal is unobtrusive  

• Supporting local jobs and local businesses  

• No more traffic than present  

• The development will not impact the village's natural beauty  

• The land is evolving  

• Climate change is apparent and immediate action is needed  

• Important for future generations  

• Species and wildlife are being affected by climate change  

• Excellent way to produce electricity 

• Limited noise and almost no pollution 

• Little visual impact 
 

 
3 letters of representations neither objecting nor supporting have been received on the following 
grounds: 
 

• Proposal should be placed as close as possible to the main road to avoid destroying small, 
narrow country roads  

• Improved road surface  

• Protection of Barn Owls - a protected schedule 1 species  
 

 
 

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix C - Recommended Conditions and Reasons 

 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of three 

years from the date of this permission. 

Reason: In order that the development is commenced in a timely manner, as set out in 

Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 

 

2. The permission hereby granted shall expire 40 years from the date when electrical 

power is first exported from the solar farm to the electricity grid network, excluding 

electricity exported during initial testing and commissioning. Written confirmation of the 

first export date shall be provided to the Local Planning Authority no later than one 

calendar month after the event.  

Reason: The proposed scheme has a 40 year lifespan.  

 

3. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following list of approved plans: 

 

Site Location Plan (sheet 1 of 2) 20.11_100_1 Rev. C 

Site Location Plan (sheet 2 of 2) 20.11_100_2 Rev. C 

DNO Sub Station Site Block Plan - Proposed 20.11_302  

Received 15th October 2020  

 

Grid Yard Elevation 20.11_100_2 

Received 26th November 2020 

 

Site Block Plan - Proposed 20.11_301 Rev. B  

Received 22nd October 2021  

Reason: To define the permission and for the avoidance of doubt. 

 

4. No development shall take place until a programme of archaeological work, including 

a Written Scheme of Investigation, has been submitted to and approved by the local 

planning authority in writing. The scheme shall include an assessment of significance 

and research questions; and:  

i) The programme and methodology of site investigation and recording including details 

of a watching brief 

ii) The programme for post investigation assessment. 

Page 57

Appendix C



iii) Provision to be made for analysis of the site investigation and recording.  

iv) Provision to be made for publication and dissemination of the analysis and records of 

the site investigation.  

v) Provision to be made for archive deposition of the analysis and records of the site 

investigation.  

vi) Nomination of a competent person or persons/organisation to undertake the works 

set out within the Written Scheme of Investigation.  

The development shall not be occupied until the site investigation and post investigation 

assessment has been completed in accordance with the programme set out in the 

Written Scheme of Investigation approved under condition (X) and the provision made 

for analysis, publication and dissemination of results and archive deposition has been 

secured.  

Reason: To ensure satisfactory archaeological investigation, recording, dissemination 

and archiving in accordance with Policies EN10 and EN13 of the Melton Local Plan and 

Paragraph 194 of the NPPF. 

 

5. Development must not commence until a construction method statement has been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The construction 

method statement shall set out details of all on-site construction works together with 

details of their timetabling. It shall include details of, and measures to secure: 

• the phasing of construction works; 

• the formation and position of the temporary construction compounds; 

• dust management and suppression; 

• cleaning of site entrance, facilities for wheel washing and cleaning the adjacent public 

highway; 

• pollution control, including the protection of water courses and ground water; subsoil 

surface water drainage; bunding and siting of fuel storage areas; sewage and foul water 

drainage and disposal; and emergency procedures and pollution response plans; 

• temporary site illumination during the construction period; 

• the methods to be adopted to reduce the effects of noise occurring during the 

construction period to the lowest practicable levels and in accordance with B.S. 5228: 

Noise control on construction and open sites; 

• storage of materials and disposal of surplus materials;  

• the construction of the accesses into the site, the erection of any entrance gates and 

the creation and maintenance of associated visibility splays; 

• method of working cable trenches, including soil storage and back-filling; and details of 

cable boring methodologies below roads, water courses and hedges; 

• general soil storage and handling;  

Page 58



• post-construction restoration/reinstatement of the working areas, including cable 

trenches and area covered by any matting or other areas where the soil has been 

disturbed or compressed; 

• the sheeting of all heavy goods vehicles construction materials to, or spoil from, the 

site to prevent spillage or deposit of any materials on the highway; 

• details of control of surface water to prevent it entering the public highway or carrying 

sediment to the surface water drainage network in the vicinity of the site. 

• identification of buffer strips adjacent to water courses or retained vegetation features 

such as hedges or trees and sites where birds are nesting; 

• Details of proposed measures to protect root protection areas during construction 

• means to exclude small animals from excavations.  

Construction works must be carried out in full accordance with the agreed construction 

method statement. 

Reason: To protect the interests of the rural character of the area, the integrity and 

safety of the highway network and to protect the amenity of residents, ecological 

interests and to ensure the site can be restored to agricultural use, in accordance with 

Policies EN1, EN2, EN3, EN6, EN10 and EN13 of the Melton Local Plan.  

 

6. Cabling works to cross the Grantham Canal must not be commenced until details of 

the exact location, design and methodology of construction of the means of crossing 

(including details of any required mitigation and/or remedial/making good works as may 

be required post-construction) have been submitted to and approved by the Local 

Planning Authority. The development must be carried out in accordance with details 

approved by this condition. 

Reason: To ensure that the cable link between the solar farm and the grid connection 

point is designed and constructed in a manner that minimises adverse impacts on the 

ecological value and importance of the Grantham Canal Site of Special Scientific 

Interest (SSSI) and the Grantham Canal County Wildlife Site (CWS) in accordance with 

Policies EN2, EN3 and EN10 of the Melton Local Plan. 

 

7. Before any works on the substation area shown on drawing no. 20.11_302 are 

commenced, further details of the plant, fencing and any associated landscaping must 

be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 

development must be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

Reason: To protect the rural character of the area and in accordance with Policies EN1, 

EN2, EN3, EN6, EN10 and EN13 of the Melton Local Plan and Neighbourhood Plan 

Policy 9. 

 

8. There shall be no permanent illumination on the site unless otherwise agreed in 

writing by the local planning authority. 

Page 59



Reason: To protect the rural character of the area and in accordance with Policies EN1, 

EN2, EN3, EN6, EN10 and EN13 of the Melton Local Plan.  

 

9. All Landscape features within the site shall be implemented or managed in 

accordance with the submitted Landscape & Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) 

received by the Local Planning Authority on 22nd October 2021. An up-to-date written 

record of compliance with the implementation and management programme shall be 

maintained and this shall be made available for inspection within 14 days of any request 

in writing from the Local Planning Authority. Any revisions to the LEMP following a 

review shall be submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Any 

revised LEMP shall be implemented in full.   

Reason: So that vegetation and landscape features on the site are properly managed in 

the interest of ecological mitigation, and wider visual amenity, in accordance with 

Policies EN1, EN2, EN3, EN6, EN10 and EN13 of the Melton Local Plan. 

   

10. If the solar farm hereby permitted (or any substantial sub-part of the farm) fails to 

produce electricity for supply to the grid for a continuous period of two years and there is 

no realistic prospect of the solar farm becoming operational again, a scheme shall be 

submitted to the Local Planning Authority for its written approval within 3 months of the 

end of that 6 month period for the repair or removal of the solar farm.  

Where repairs or replacements are required the scheme shall include a proposed 

programme of remedial works. Where removal of the solar farm is required the scheme 

shall include the same details required under the decommissioning condition of this 

permission. The relevant scheme shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with 

the approved details and timetable.  

Reason: To ensure the solar farm beneficially generates electricity or is otherwise 

removed to the benefit of the character and appearance and the agricultural potential of 

the area, in accordance with Policies EN1, EN2, EN3, EN6, EN10 and EN13 of the 

Melton Local Plan. 

 

11. Prior to the commencement of development details of passing bays to be sited and 

constructed along Castle View Road from the A52 to the substation access points shall 

be submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. The approved 

passing bays shall be constructed and made available for use prior to the 

commencement of construction of the substation site.  

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to ensure that appropriate provision is  

made for vehicles to pass each other along Castle View Road in accordance with 

Policies D1, IN2 and EN10 of the Melton Local Plan and Policy 9 of the Bottesford 

Neighbourhood Plan. 

 

Page 60



12. Not later than 12 months before the expiry of this permission, as confirmed by 

condition 2 of this permission, a decommissioning and site restoration scheme shall be 

submitted for the written approval of the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall 

make provision for the removal of the solar panels and all other associated equipment & 

paraphernalia and the subsequent restoration of the site. The scheme shall include 

details of: 

• the extent of equipment and foundation removal and the site restoration to be carried 

out; 

• the management and timing of any works; 

• a traffic management plan to address likely traffic impact issues during the 

decommissioning period; 

• an environmental management plan to include details of measures to be taken during 

the decommissioning period to protect wildlife, habitats and tree features on the site; 

• location of material laydown areas; 

• full details of the removal of the solar arrays, associated buildings and plant, any 

trackways and sub-surface cabling and all associated works of ground restoration 

including trench backfilling; 

• full details of all other works to restore the land to allow for agricultural production 

following the removal of structures from the site; 

• a programme of implementation. 

The approved scheme shall be implemented within 6 months of the expiry of this 

permission and then proceed fully in accordance with the agreed details in accordance 

with the decommissioning programme. 

Reason: To ensure the site is fully restored to allow agricultural use and to maintain the 

rural appearance of the area in accordance with Policies EN1, EN2, EN3, EN6, EN10 

and EN13 of the Melton Local Plan. 

 

13. The site must only be accessed in accordance with the route shown on the 

submitted HGV Routing Plan drawing no. 16421-HYD-XX-XX-RP-TP-4002-P1 - 0001 

Figure 1 received by the Local Planning Authority on 15 September 2021.  

Reason: In the interests of Highway Safety and to avoid unnecessary noise and 

disruption to local residents, in accordance with Policies D1, IN2 and EN10 of the Melton 

Local Plan. 

 

14. The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until the vehicle 

access for operational use has been surfaced in a bound material (not loose gravel) for 

a minimum of 15 metres as measured from the byway. The surfaced vehicle access 

shall then be maintained in such bound material for the life of the development. 

Page 61



Reason: To reduce the possibility of deleterious material being deposited on the byway 

(loose stones etc) in accordance with Policies D1, IN2 and EN10 of the Melton Local 

Plan. 

 

15. The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until the vehicle 

access for operational use has been constructed with provision to prevent the 

unregulated discharge of surface water from the access to the byway. The provision to 

prevent the unregulated discharge of surface water to the byway shall then be retained 

for the life of the development.  

Reason: To ensure surface water from the site is not deposited on the byway causing 

dangers to road users in accordance with Policies IN2 and EN10 of the Melton Local 

Plan. 

 

16. The construction access arrangements shown on Hydrock drawing number 16421-

HYD-XX-XX-DR-TP-0001 Revision P1.05 shall be implemented in full prior to 

commencement of main construction works. 

Reason: To ensure that vehicles entering and leaving the site may pass each other 

clear of the highway, in a slow and controlled manner, in accordance with Policies D1, 

IN2 and EN10 of the Melton Local Plan and in the interests of general highway safety 

and in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2021). 

 

17. No construction works on the main site shall take place until such time as vehicular 

visibility splays 2.4m by 125m to the left and 2.4m by 126m to the right have been 

provided at the main construction access. These shall thereafter be permanently 

maintained with nothing within those splays higher than 0.6 metres above the level of 

the adjacent footway/verge/highway.  

Reason: To afford adequate visibility at the access to cater for the expected volume of 

traffic joining the existing highway network, in accordance with Policies D1, IN2 and 

EN10 of the Melton Local Plan and in the interests of general highway safety, and in 

accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2021). 

 

18. The sub-station access arrangements shown on Hydrock drawing number 16421-

HYD-XX-XX-DR-TP-0001 revision P1.09 shall be implemented in full prior to 

commencement of sub-station construction works.  

Reason: To ensure that vehicles entering and leaving the site may pass each other 

clear of the highway, in a slow and controlled manner, in accordance with Policies D1, 

IN2 and EN10 of the Melton Local Plan and in the interests of general highway safety 

and in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2021). 

 

19. No construction works on the sub-station site, nor operational trips to and from the 

sub station, shall take place until such time as vehicular visibility splays 2.4m by 79m to 

Page 62



the left and 2.4m by 64m to the right have been provided at the sub-station access. 

These shall thereafter be permanently maintained with nothing within those splays 

higher than 0.6 metres above the level of the adjacent footway/verge/highway. 

Reason: To afford adequate visibility at the access to cater for the expected volume of 

traffic joining the existing highway network, in accordance with Policies D1, IN2 and 

EN10 of the Melton Local Plan and in the interests of general highway safety, and in 

accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2021). 

 

20. No part of the development shall be occupied until such time as the offsite works 

shown on Hydrock drawing number 16421-HYD-XX-XX-DR-TP-0002 revision P1.04 

have been implemented in full. 

Reason: To mitigate the impact of the development, in accordance with Policies D1, IN2 

and EN10 of the Melton Local Plan and in the general interests of highway safety and in 

accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2021). 

 

21. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied until such time as the 

access arrangements shown on Hydrock drawing number 16421-HYD-XX-XX-DR-TP-

0001 Rev P1.01 have been implemented in full. 

Reason: To ensure that vehicles entering and leaving the site may pass each other 

clear of the highway, in a slow and controlled manner, in accordance with Policies D1, 

IN2 and EN10 of the Melton Local Plan and in the interests of general highway safety 

and in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2021). 

 

22. No development shall commence on the site until such time as a construction traffic 

management plan, including as a minimum details of the routing of construction traffic, 

wheel cleansing facilities, vehicle parking facilities, arrangements for banksmen and 

temporary signage, arrangements for dilapidation surveys at Sutton Road culverts, 

Sutton Road, and Castle View Road, and a timetable for their provision, has been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The construction of 

the development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details 

and timetable. 

Reason: To reduce the possibility of deleterious material (mud, stones etc.) being 

deposited in the highway and becoming a hazard for road users, to ensure that 

construction traffic does not use unsatisfactory roads and lead to on-street parking 

problems in the area in accordance with Policies D1, IN2 and EN10 of the Melton Local 

Plan and in the interests of general highway safety and in accordance with the National 

Planning Policy Framework (2021). 

 

23. The development shall be carried out in full accordance with the Avoidance 

Measures, Mitigation Measures and Compensation Measures detailed in the Summary 

Balance Sheet contained within Section 4.46 of the submitted Ecological Impact 

Page 63



Assessment Report (Tyler Grange, 14/10/2022, Ref. 13246_R01b) received by the Local 

Planning Authority on 15th October 2020.  

Reason: In order to protect the protected wildlife species and their habitats that are 

known to exist on site in accordance with Policies EN1, EN2, EN3, EN6, EN10 and 

EN13 of the Melton Local Plan. 

 

Page 64



Appendix D - Informatives  

1. The proposed high voltage cable crosses the Grimmer brook, which is an ordinary 
watercourse. Depending on the method used to cross the watercourse, ordinary 
watercourse consent may be required from the LLFA. 
 

2. Prior to construction, measures should be taken to ensure that users of the Public Right(s) 
of Way are not exposed to any elements of danger associated with construction works; 
 
- If the developer requires a Right of Way to be temporarily diverted, for a period of up 

to six months, to enable construction works to take place, an application should be 
made to networkmanagement@leics.gov.uk at least 12 weeks before the temporary 
diversion is required; 

- Any damage caused to the surface of a Public Right of Way, which is directly 
attributable to the works associated with the development, will be the responsibility of 
the applicant to repair at their own expense to the satisfaction of the Highway Authority; 
and 

- No new gates, stiles, fences or other structures affecting a Public Right of Way, of 
either a temporary or permanent nature, should be installed without the written consent 
of the Highway Authority. Unless a structure is authorised, it constitutes an unlawful 
obstruction of a Public Right of Way and the County Council may be obliged to require 
its immediate removal. 

 
3. The applicant is advised that the Grantham Canal is owned by the Canal & River Trust. Any 

works on Trust land, including the proposed cable linking the development to the grid 
connection point, will require the prior consent of the Trust in the form of a commercial 
agreement. The Applicant should contact the Trust’s Utilities Team to discuss matters and 
to ensure that all necessary consents can be obtained. Please contact Beth Woodhouse, 
Senior Utilities Surveyor, at beth.woodhouse@canalrivertrust.org.uk or on 07484 911355 
in the first instance. 
 

4. Planning Permission does not give you approval to work on the public highway. To carry 
out off-site works associated with this planning permission, separate approval must first be 
obtained from Leicestershire County Council as Local Highway Authority. This will take the 
form of a major section 184 permit/section 278 agreement. It is strongly recommended that 
you make contact with Leicestershire County Council at the earliest opportunity to allow 
time for the process to be completed. The Local Highway Authority reserve the right to 
charge commuted sums in respect of ongoing maintenance where the item in question is 
above and beyond what is required for the safe and satisfactory functioning of the highway. 
For further information please refer to the Leicestershire Highway Design Guide which is 
available at https://resources.leicestershire.gov.uk/lhdg  
 

5. To erect temporary directional signage you must seek prior approval from the Local 
Highway Authority in the first instance (telephone 0116 305 0001). 
 

6. The applicant should be advised to contact Leicestershire County Council’s Network 
Management Team at the earliest opportunity to discuss access to the road network to carry 
out works. The team can be contacted at: networkmanagement@leics.gov.uk. 

 
 

Page 65

Appendix D

https://resources.leicestershire.gov.uk/lhdg
mailto:networkmanagement@leics.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix E - Applicable Development Plan Policies 

 
Melton Local Plan: 

• Policy SS1. Presumption in favour of Sustainable Development 

• Policy SS2. Development Strategy 

• Policy C9. Healthy Communities 

• Policy EN1. Landscape 

• Policy EN2. Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

• Policy EN3. The Melton Green Infrastructure Network 

• Policy EN5. Local Green Spaces 

• Policy EN6. Settlement Character 

• Policy EN8. Climate Change 

• Policy EN9. Ensuring Energy Efficient and Low Carbon Development 

• Policy EN10. Energy Generation from Renewable and Low Carbon Sources 

• Policy EN11. Minimising the Risk of Flooding 

• Policy EN12. Sustainable Drainage Systems 

• Policy EN13. Heritage Assets 

• Policy IN2. Transport, Accessibility and Parking 

• Policy D1. Raising the Standard of Design 
 
Bottesford Neighbourhood Plan: 

• Neighbourhood Planning Policy 1: Sustainable Development and the Village Envelopes  

• Neighbourhood Plan Policy 2: Protecting the Landscape Character  

• Neighbourhood Plan Policy 3: Protecting and Enhancing Biodiversity  

• Neighbourhood Plan Policy 6: Reducing the Risk of Flooding 

• Neighbourhood Plan Policy 7: Improving Connectivity 

• Neighbourhood Plan Policy 8: Ensuring High Quality Design 

• Neighbourhood Plan Policy 9: Renewable Energy and Low Carbon Technologies 

• Neighbourhood Plan Policy 12: Protecting Heritage Assets 
 

Other 

• National Planning Policy Framework (2021) 

• National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) 

• Melton Borough Areas of Separation, Settlement Fringe Sensitivity and Local Green Space 
Study Final Report and Appendices, Influence, 2015 

• Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990  

• Section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.  

• Leicestershire County Council Landscape Character Type: Vale Of Belvoir (Melton). 

• Planning Practice Guidance for Renewable and Low Carbon Energy 
 

 

Page 67

Appendix E



This page is intentionally left blank



 
   

 

 

 

THE AXIS  10 HOLLIDAY STREET  BIRMINGHAM  B1 1TF 

Telephone 0121 625 6888  
HistoricEngland.org.uk 

 

 

Historic England is subject to both the Freedom of Information Act (2000) and Environmental Information Regulations (2004). Any 
Information held by the organisation can be requested for release under this legislation. 

 

 
 

 
Mr Andrew Cunningham Direct Dial: 0121 625 6870   
Melton Borough Council     
Parkside, Station Approach Our ref: P01296230   
Burton Street     
Melton Mowbray     
Leicestershire     
LE13 1GH 5 May 2021   
 
 
Dear Mr Cunningham 
 
T&CP (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 
& Planning (Listed Buildings & Conservation Areas) Regulations 1990 
 
LAND EAST OF JERICHO COVERT, JERICHO LANE , BARKESTONE LE VALE 
Application No. 20/01182/FUL 
 
Thank you for your letter of 14 April 2021 regarding further information on the above 
application for planning permission. On the basis of this information, we offer the 
following advice to assist your authority in determining the application. 
 
Summary 
 
The landscape in which the application site is located is historically important with 
heritage assets of outstanding importance in a setting with few modern interventions. It 
is therefore sensitive to large scale development.  
 
By virtue of its scale and man-made character the proposed solar farm would appear 
incongruous and alter the character of the landscape which forms the setting to 
several highly graded heritage assets. In our view it would cause less than substantial 
harm to the significance that Grade I Listed Belvoir Castle, its Grade II* Registered 
Park and the Grade II* Listed Church of St Peter and St Paul, Barkestone, derive from 
their setting. We question whether an intervention of this nature should be introduced 
to this landscape and have concerns about the precedent it could set. 
 
As the decision maker, your authority should assess whether the proposals would be 
justified or outweighed by public benefit in their current form in accordance with the 
paragraphs 194 and 196 of the NPPF. During this assessment you should consider 
whether proposals of this nature would be acceptable in this landscape. If you 
consider they would be, you should contemplate whether the proposals should be 
amended to reduce their impact.  
 
Historic England Advice  

Page 69

Appendix F



 
   

 

 

 

THE AXIS  10 HOLLIDAY STREET  BIRMINGHAM  B1 1TF 

Telephone 0121 625 6888  
HistoricEngland.org.uk 

 

 

Historic England is subject to both the Freedom of Information Act (2000) and Environmental Information Regulations (2004). Any 
Information held by the organisation can be requested for release under this legislation. 

 

 
 

 
Significance 
 

a) Belvoir Castle 
 
Belvoir Castle is a large hilltop feudal palace which boasts impressive turrets and 
battlements, adding interest and intrigue to the skyline. 
 
The topography of the landscape and siting of the castle on the hilltop is spectacular 
and enhances the castle’s visual presence and dominance across the landscape. Its 
prominent and far reaching views have been important throughout history, originally as 
a strategic defence mechanism. The name Belvoir (‘beautiful view’), dates to Norman 
times, demonstrating the importance of the outward views across the landscape, even 
from its first conception.  
 
The Norman Castle was largely rebuilt in the earlier 16th century and mid to late 17th 
Century by James Wyatt. A great fire destroyed the north-west and north-east fronts 
and was re-built in the 19th Century. 
 
The Castle is little changed since the early 19th century. Its main feature is Thoroton's 
huge projecting tower on the centre of the north-east front, which echoes Wyatt's tower 
on the south-west side.  
 
The Castle’s exceptional architectural and historic interest are recognised in its Grade 
I listing which places it in the top 2.5% of listed buildings in the country.  
 

b) The Registered Park and Garden of Belvoir Castle 
 
The Registered Park and Garden (RPG) of Belvoir Castle has evolved over almost a 
thousand years since the first Norman Castle was established. It contains a reservoir 
and several listed structures, the principal one being Belvoir Castle. 
 
Belvoir's park extends for approximately 2km east, west and south of the Castle. While 
the RPG is mostly early 19th century it incorporates late 17th and 18th Century 
elements. The RPG is largely laid out to a plan of 1780 by Lancelot ‘Capability’ Brown 
(1716-83), the pre-eminent English landscape designer of the mid to late 18th century 
who had a profound influence on the parks and gardens surrounding many country 
houses in England. 
 
Belvoir is one of the later designs by Brown. After his death, his plans and folio album 
continued to be used when alterations and improvements were initiated on the estate, 
altogether shaping the land and views following the ideals of the landscape park. 
 
The RPG at Belvoir’s more than special interest is recognised in it Grade II* 

Page 70



 
   

 

 

 

THE AXIS  10 HOLLIDAY STREET  BIRMINGHAM  B1 1TF 

Telephone 0121 625 6888  
HistoricEngland.org.uk 

 

 

Historic England is subject to both the Freedom of Information Act (2000) and Environmental Information Regulations (2004). Any 
Information held by the organisation can be requested for release under this legislation. 

 

 
 

designation.  
 

c) The Church of St Peter and St Paul in Barkestone Le Vale 
 
Is a parish church which is mainly from the 14th Century with some 15th Century 
elements. A south aisle was added and the clerestory rebuilt in 1840 by William 
Parsons, the church was restored in 1857. Built from ironstone with ashlar dressings 
and slate roofs the church is Grade II* Listed which places it in the top 9% of listed 
buildings in the country. 
 
The church is one of a number within the Vale of Belvoir landscape where their spires 
and towers act as prominent landmarks within the setting of Belvoir Castle. The height 
and prominence reference the high status on churches in the medieval times when 
they were constructed. Their spires and towers would have acted as visual way points 
to help people navigate the landscape for centuries. The church’s prominence within 
the landscape forms an important part of its significance.  
 
Impact of the proposals 
 

a) Historic England’s Previous advice 
 
Historic England first commented on this application in our letter dated 16 November 
2020. In this advice we expressed concerns regarding the lack of information 
submitted with the proposals and advised that further detailed assessment of the 
proposals impact to the setting of Belvoir Castle, its RPG and the Church of St Peter 
and St Paul should be carried out.  
 

b) The proposals 
 
The proposed development concerns a solar farm extending 183.5 acres, including 
free-standing solar panels rising to a height c. 2.8m to be orientated to the south 
together with necessary service infrastructure and a site compound.  The anticipated 
operational life of the proposal is up to 40 years. The proposals have been amended 
slightly to exclude panels from the south west corner of the site, the area of land south 
of the public right of way (PROW) that passes through the site. 
 

c) Definition of setting 
 
The NPPF glossary defines the setting of a heritage asset as follows; 
 
“The surroundings in which a heritage asset is experienced. Its extent is not fixed and 
may change as the asset and its surroundings evolve. Elements of a setting may make 
a positive or negative contribution to the significance of an asset, may affect the ability 
to appreciate that significance or may be neutral.” 

Page 71



 
   

 

 

 

THE AXIS  10 HOLLIDAY STREET  BIRMINGHAM  B1 1TF 

Telephone 0121 625 6888  
HistoricEngland.org.uk 

 

 

Historic England is subject to both the Freedom of Information Act (2000) and Environmental Information Regulations (2004). Any 
Information held by the organisation can be requested for release under this legislation. 

 

 
 

 
d) Belvoir Castle 
 

We welcome the additional supporting information which accords with our previous 
advice. The supporting information demonstrates that the proposed development 
would be visible from Belvoir Castle, both within the castle and from its immediate 
surroundings, including the Cannonade. 
 
While the views from the cannonade are sheltered by the exiting tree belt the 

supporting information details that these may not be a permanent feature; “However, it 
is noted that these trees, which are located immediately in front of the view from 
the canons, are not part of the designed setting of the castle and may be removed 
as part of the ongoing work at Belvoir to restore its surrounding RPG. They are 
therefore considered to be a temporary screen which may change in the future. 
Should these trees be removed from the view, it is evident that the solar array 
would become visible within the landscape.” You should bear this in mind during 
your assessment of these proposals.  
 
The proposed development would clearly be seen from the upper floors of the castle. 
Viewpoint 2A demonstrates that the extent of the site in these views would be 
considerable. 
 
Although there is a presence of human activity and disturbance (pylons, road, 
farmland) within the setting of the castle the area retains a predicted naturalness and 
rurality, the introduction of these manmade features would be incongruous and detract 
from these elements which we consider to contribute to the setting of Belvoir castle. 
 
Development within the setting is predominantly small, human scale of the features 
across the vale. The proposed scale goes against this characteristic of the setting 
which we consider it to contribute to the significance it derives from its setting.  
 
Within the setting of the castle the landscape, including the application site has a 
strong rectangular field pattern of mixed farming bounded by hedges. The proposed 
development would subsume these boundaries and erode this character.  

 
The supporting information also shows the castle would be visible from the site looking 
back. So, one will experience the modern intervention in the landscape within the 
setting of the castle.  
 
We consider these proposals would alter the way in which the castle would be 
experienced, the incongruous nature and large scale would alter the character of the 
castle’s setting causing less than substantial harm to the significance it derives from its 
setting. We have concerns that this could set a negative precedent for development 
within this landscape. 

Page 72



 
   

 

 

 

THE AXIS  10 HOLLIDAY STREET  BIRMINGHAM  B1 1TF 

Telephone 0121 625 6888  
HistoricEngland.org.uk 

 

 

Historic England is subject to both the Freedom of Information Act (2000) and Environmental Information Regulations (2004). Any 
Information held by the organisation can be requested for release under this legislation. 

 

 
 

 
e) Impact on the RPG 

 
The designed setting of the castle and registered park at Belvoir stretches beyond the 
area of the registered park and garden. Enclosure of the estate landscape contrasts 
with the designed landscape of the park, which retained the character of a chase 
landscape with little enclosure.  
 
As noted in the Heritage Statement, Redmile was enclosed in the late 18th century, 
contemporary with Lancelot ‘Capability’ Brown’s designs for the park and castle. 
Knipton, to the south, was also enclosed at a similar time and more specifically 
integrated into the park landscape.  
 
Approaches such as the Redmile Avenue, planted with an avenue of trees, provide a 
designed approach to an ‘announcement’ for the castle. Tree planting in hedgerows 
and fields contribute to the estate character of the landscape. Woodland planting on 
the Belvoir Scarp is also a part of the designed setting of the Castle and its park, 
prominent in views from the surrounding landscape, and offering a burst view from the 
Great Riding to the Castle. It is therefore clear that the designed landscape and 
designed setting doesn’t end at the registered boundary. 
 
The supporting information shows that the proposals would be visible from the RPG 
and in views looking back to it. Consequently, they would affect the way in which it 
would be experienced. The landscape around Belvoir Castle has largely retained its 
historic rural character, which would be altered by the installation solar panels. 
Hedgerows will be retained, which means that the structure of the historic landscape 
will not be lost, but its character would be altered. This would contribute to the less 
than substantial harm to the significance, derived from their setting, of the Castle and 
park, in addition to the specific impact on views from the Castle and registered park, 
and views to the Castle from points in the surrounding landscape.  
 

f) Church of St Peter and St Paul 
 
We can see from the supporting information (view point 6) that St Peter and St Paul’s 
Church would be seen alongside the development. The large scale of the development 
would compete with its prominence in the landscape, causing harm to its significance. 
 
The landscape surrounding the church has inherent historic qualities which contribute 
to its individual significance. The proposals would alter the rural, agricultural character 
of the church’s setting, causing harm to the significance it derives from its setting. 
 
Legislation, Policy and Guidance  
 
As the application affects the setting of listed buildings, the statutory requirement to 

Page 73



 
   

 

 

 

THE AXIS  10 HOLLIDAY STREET  BIRMINGHAM  B1 1TF 

Telephone 0121 625 6888  
HistoricEngland.org.uk 

 

 

Historic England is subject to both the Freedom of Information Act (2000) and Environmental Information Regulations (2004). Any 
Information held by the organisation can be requested for release under this legislation. 

 

 
 

have special regard to the desirability of preserving the setting of a listed building (s.66 
(1), 1990 Act) must be taken into account by the local planning authority when making 
its decision.  
 
Our advice reflects guidance in the good practice advice notes produced by Historic 
England on behalf of the Historic Environment Forum in GPA 2: ‘Managing 
Significance in Decision-Taking in the Historic Environment’ and GPA 3: ‘The Setting 
of Heritage Assets’. 
 
We also refer you to paragraphs 192, 194 and 196 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF).  
 
Paragraph 192 encourages local authorities to sustain and enhance the significance of 
heritage assets. Paragraph 193 outlines that ‘great weight should be given to the 
asset’s conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should 
be)’.  
 
Paragraph 194 details that ‘any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated 
heritage asset should require clear and convincing justification’.  
 
Paragraph 196 states that ‘where a development proposal will lead to less than 
substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should 
be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal’. 
 
Historic England’s Position 
 
Historic England has considered the proposals above. In our view they would cause 
less than substantial harm to the significance that Grade I Belvoir Castle, Grade II* 
RPG of Belvoir and the Church of St Peter and St Paul derive from their setting. This 
would be by virtue of the large scale of the development and its incongruous character 
in the agricultural landscape. We therefore question whether an intervention of this 
nature should be introduced to this landscape and have concerns about the precedent 
it could set. 
 
In accordance with the NPPF your authority should assess whether the proposals 
would be justified or outweighed by public benefit in their current form. During this 
assessment you should consider whether proposals of this nature would be 
acceptable in this landscape. If you consider they would, you should contemplate 
whether the proposals should be amended to reduce their impact. The resultant harm 
could be reduced if the proposals better respected the existing field boundaries and 
the amount of development was reduced.  
 
Recommendation 
 

Page 74



 
   

 

 

 

THE AXIS  10 HOLLIDAY STREET  BIRMINGHAM  B1 1TF 

Telephone 0121 625 6888  
HistoricEngland.org.uk 

 

 

Historic England is subject to both the Freedom of Information Act (2000) and Environmental Information Regulations (2004). Any 
Information held by the organisation can be requested for release under this legislation. 

 

 
 

Historic England has concerns regarding the application on heritage grounds. 
We consider that the issues and safeguards outlined in our advice need to be 
addressed in order for the application to meet the requirements of paragraphs 192, 
194 and 196 of the NPPF. 
 
In determining this application you should bear in mind the statutory duty of section 
66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to have 
special regard to the desirability of preserving listed buildings or their setting or any 
features of special architectural or historic interest which they possess. 
 
Your authority should take these representations into account and seek amendments, 
safeguards or further information as set out in our advice. If there are any material 
changes to the proposals, or you would like further advice, please contact us. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
Janine Dykes 
 
Janine Dykes 
Inspector of Historic Buildings and Areas 
E-mail: janine.dykes@HistoricEngland.org.uk 
 
cc: 
 
 

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix G - Site Photographs 

 
Solar farm site viewed from Jericho Lane - 

 
 

Page 77

Appendix G



 
 
Substation site viewed from Castle View Road -  

 

 
 

Page 78



 

Ref: 20/01182/FUL 1 

 

1st October 2021 

 

LANDSCAPE COMMENTS  

Reference:  20/01182/FUL 

Status:  FULL PLANNING APPLICATION  

Proposal:  Installation of a solar farm comprising ground mounted solar PV panels with a net 
installed generating capacity (AC) of up to 49.9MW, including mounting system, 
battery storage units, inverters, underground cabling, stock proof fence, CCTV, 
internal tracks and associated infrastructure, landscaping and environmental 
enhancements for a temporary period of 40 years and a permanent grid connection 
hub. 

Site address:  Land East Of Jericho Covert, Jericho Lane, Barkestone Le Vale 

Grid Reference: SK775361 E:477518 N:336187 

Applicant:   Green Farm Solar Ltd 

1.  Executive Summary 

1.1 During my review of all available material relating to landscape and visual matters, I believe 
there are significant inconsistencies, errors and gaps in the information provided, these are 
outline below and noted in sections 10 and 13 of these comments.  

1.2   When reviewing the LVIA by Richard Sneesy Landscape Architects the fundamental error is 
that the Site boundary assessed within this report does not reflect that shown on drawing 
‘SITE BLOCK PLAN – PROPOSED Rev A’ - Savills ref: 20.11.301. The southwest corner which is 
bisected by a Public Right of Way has not been considered in the assessment 

1.2 When producing both LVIA reports a methodology consistent with ‘GLVIA, Third Edition by 
The Landscape Institute’ has not been followed. The is no direct reference to ‘GLVIA, Third 
Edition by The Landscape Institute’ within the LVIA report by Richard Sneesby Landscape 
Architects, however it is listed as a reference in section 11 ‘Appendix 3’ and therefore I 
would expect the methodology given in this LVIA assessment to be broadly consistent with 
this. There are a number of occasions when I do not find this to be the case.  

1.3 It is my opinion that the desk-top elements of work for the LVIA material has not been 
thoroughly carried out, in particular there has been a lack of consideration for Landscape 
Character and Landscape Value.  

Page 79

Appendix H.1



 

Ref: 20/01182/FUL 2 

 

1.4 In reviewing the results tabulated in the ‘Viewpoint Assessment Tables’ found in pages 7-10 
of ‘LVIA Plans and Representative Views, October 2020’ by Richard Sneesby Landscape 
Architects I found all the viewpoints receptor sensitivities to be inconsistent with the 
methodology given in appendix 1, section 9.6 of the LVIA and therefore the significance of 
change are not valid. 

1.5 Within ‘Additional viewpoints, supporting information Rev C’ by Tetra Tech, an assessment 
consistent with ‘The Landscape Institute’s Guidelines for Landscape and Visual Impact 
Assessment, Third Edition’ has not been provided which gives a judgement on the sensitivity 
of the receptor, magnitude of change or significance of change. This report includes 3 
viewpoints for Belvior Castle and its grounds. Due to the historical significance of Belvoir 
Castle and its historical setting I deem this extremely important to ensure due diligence has 
been undertaken and for thoroughness of the LVIA to better understand what effects the 
Development Proposals may have. 

1.6 Comments from English Heritage noting that a view of the Site may be seen from The Church 
of St Peter and St Paul in Barkestone Le Vale and that a viewpoint for this building would be 
valuable to the LVIA assessment has not been considered within the LVIA material.  

1.7 Further to this landscape character and visual effects that the new CCTV poles, new access 
track, upgrade of the existing access track, construction compound and the permanent 
addition to the landscape of the Grid Yard providing a permanent grid connection hub have 
not been assessed. Nor has the seasonal change when predicting and describing the visual 
changes that a solar farm Development Proposal may bring to Jericho Covert. 

1.8 An assessment of the cumulative visual and landscape character impacts of a solar farm 
Development Proposals at Jericho Covert with those known to have planning consent or 
already existing within the landscape has not been provided. 

1.9 Due to the above reasons, I cannot make a judgement to whether the Development Proposal 
will result in material and visual harm.  

1.10 I broadly agree with mitigation proposed for the solar farm Development Proposals but these 
could be further enhanced by the planting of individual standard trees within or against the 
proposed and existing hedgerows to provide additional screening.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 80



 

Ref: 20/01182/FUL 3 

 

2.  Introduction  

2.1 On 22nd July 2021, Red Kite Network Limited (RKN) was instructed on behalf of Melton 
Borough Council (MBC) to comment on landscape and visual matters, advise on soil testing 
and agricultural classification and source a soil tester, Soil Fertility Services Ltd, pertaining to 
the above Planning application.  Red Kite Network Limited are Landscape Architecture, 
Green Space and Ecology Consultants of Coalport, Shropshire 

2.2 The Application proposal – “The planning application proposes the installation of a solar 
farm comprising ground mounted solar PV panels with a generating capacity of up to 
49.9MW, including mounting system, battery storage units, inverters, underground cabling, 
stock proof fence, CCTV, internal tracks and associated infrastructure, landscaping and 
environmental enhancements for a temporary period of 40 years and a permanent grid 
connection hub.” (Planning, Design and Access Statement (PDAS) 1.1.3). 

 
2.3 The Site – “The Site extends to circa 183.5 acres (74 ha) of agricultural land to the north of 

the Grantham Canal (disused) and a former railways track (dismantled)” (PDAS 1.1.2).  

2.4  At Pre-Planning Application stage this application was screened for an EIA (ref: 
20/00836/EIA) and on the 27th August 2020 it was determined by MBC that an EIA was NOT 
required in this instance. The reasons for this are that the proposed development falls within 
the description of development within Schedule 2 to the 2017 Regulations (3a. Energy 
generation projects) and exceeds the threshold in column 2 of the table in that Schedule 
(0.5ha). The location is near to a ‘Sensitive Area’ (SSSI Grantham canal) but MBC were 
satisfied that the impacts could be adequately addressed through MBC’s normal 
consultation and assessment procedures. Having considered the relevant thresholds and the 
criteria in the Schedule 3 to the 2017 Regulations it was determined by MBC that the 
proposal would not be likely to have significant effects on the environment by virtue of 
factors such as its scale, location in terms of the sensitivity to the local environment, or 
characteristics of the potential impacts. It was noted that the proposal would generate up to 
49.9 MW which is within the indicative criteria and thresholds. Any effects on the 
environment as a result of the Development Proposals were not considered to be of more 
than local importance. Accordingly, the development was not considered to be EIA 
development within the meaning of the Regulations. 

2.5 In order to inform my comments, I carried out an independent desk top of the relevant 
background, the baseline situation, and the landscape-related documents submitted with 
the Development Proposals. My assessment is subjective based on my own professional 
judgement. The landscape related documents reviewed are as follows: 

2.5.1 ‘Planning, Design and Access Statement’ (PDAS) - Savills (October 2020) 

2.5.2 ‘Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment’ (LVIA) (2020.10.13) – Richard Sneesby Landscape 
Architects 

2.5.3 ‘Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment Plans and Representative Views’ (2020.10.13) – 
Richard Sneesby Landscape Architects 

2.5.4 ‘Additional viewpoints, supporting information Rev C’ (2021.03.04) – Tetra Tech 

Page 81



 

Ref: 20/01182/FUL 4 

 

2.5.5 ‘SITE BLOCK PLAN – PROPOSED Rev A’ - Savills ref: 20.11.301 at 1:2500@A1 

2.5.6 ‘TYPICAL GRID YARD ELEVATION’ – Savills ref: 20.11_100_2 at 1:100 @ A1 / 1:200 @ A3 

2.5.7 ‘Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP)’ (2020.10.13) – Richard Sneesby 
Landscape Architects  

2.5.8 ‘Flood Risk Assessment (FRA)’ (2020.10.14) - Hydrock 

2.5.9 ‘Transport Statement (TS)’ (2020.10.02) - Hydrock 

2.5.10 ‘Glint and Glare Assessment (GGA)’ (2020.09.28) – Neo Environmental 

2.5.11 ‘Ecological Impact Assessment Report (EIAR)’ (2020.10.14) – Tyler Grange 

2.5.12 ‘Heritage and Archaeological Assessment (HAA)’ (March 2021) – HCUK Group 

 

2.6 With my comments based on the review of Landscape and Visual material and the other 
supporting documents for the application as listed above, prepared to date, I would like to 
reserve the right to amend any comments once outstanding information as identified in 
section 13 of these comments has been submitted to determine the application. 

 

3.  Planning History 

3.1 Historical planning information has been included by the Applicant within the PDAS and I am 
aware from MBC a Pre-Planning Application was submitted whereby it was agreed the Solar 
Farm at Jericho Covert fell outside the requirement for an EIA (refer to 2.4 above) 

3.2  Following information provided by MBC I have referred to other planning applications for 
solar farm sites. An existing solar farm at Elton and Orston to the north and another at 
Langar, to the west. There is also a larger solar farm that has been recently permitted at 
Foston, to the north of Jericho Covert.   

 

4 Planning Policy and Guidance related to Landscape 

4.1 Although views on planning related matters will be dealt by MBC’s Planning Officer, I have 
identified and commented on those relating to landscape relevant to the solar farm 
Development Proposals at Jericho Covert, which have been outlined in the following section.   

 Planning guidance for the development of large-scale ground mounted solar PV systems – 
BRE and Cornwall Council 

4.2  As this planning application is for a solar farm this guidance has been used as the main 
criteria to assess the landscape and visual material provided by the applicant for the 

Page 82



 

Ref: 20/01182/FUL 5 

 

Development Proposals. I have cited relevant ‘Planning Application considerations’ from 
within this guidance in relation to landscape and visual effects and beneath determine 
whether I believe that the information provided by the applicant available at the time of 
comments is consistent with these considerations.  

“b) Development in Relation to Current Land Use (Page 6 of ‘Planning guidance for the 
development of large-scale ground mounted solar PV systems’) 

4.3 Section 3.3 of the PDAS states that 98% of the Site is Grade 3b agricultural land and 
therefore the solar farm Development Proposals and site selection at Jericho Covert are in 
line with this guidance. 

“c) Assessment of the Impact upon Agricultural Land (Page 7 of ‘Planning guidance for the 
development of large-scale ground mounted solar PV systems’) 

4.4 As stated in para 4.3 of these comments, section 3.3 of the PDAS states that 98% of the Site 
is Grade 3b agricultural land and therefore the solar farm Development Proposals and site 
selection at Jericho Covert are in line with this guidance. 

“d) Ground Maintenance (Page 7 of ‘Planning guidance for the development of large-scale 
ground mounted solar PV systems’)  

4.5 On drawing ‘SITE BLOCK PLAN – PROPOSED’ and within section 6.3 of the LEMP, it is stated 
that the grassland beneath the PV panels will be managed through sheep grazing. Within 
section 4.1.4 of the PDAS it is stated that the PV panels will be “approximately 0.8m at its 
lowest edge”. Therefore, the solar farm Development Proposals at Jericho Covert are in line 
with this guidance.  

“e) Construction Compound  (Page 9 of ‘Planning guidance for the development of large-
scale ground mounted solar PV systems’)  

4.6 There are no details within the Development Proposal material for the temporary 
construction compound or details of stripping, storage or replacement of topsoil.  

“f) Soil stripping, Storage and Replacement (Page 9 of ‘Planning guidance for the 
development of large-scale ground mounted solar PV systems’).  

4.7  There are no details within the Development Proposal material of stripping, storage, or 
replacement of topsoil. 

 

 

Page 83



 

Ref: 20/01182/FUL 6 

 

“g) Access Tracks  (Page 11 of ‘Planning guidance for the development of large-scale ground 
mounted solar PV systems’)  

4.8  Section 4.6.2 of the PDAS describes the proposals for access at the solar farm Development 
Proposals at Jericho Covert and they are in line with the above guidance. Access will be via 
Flawborough Lane and an agricultural track is existing and stone track is proposed within the 
Site itself which is temporary, capable of removal and ‘reversible’. As per the ‘Planning 
Application considerations’ of the guidance, I consider that their landscape and visual impact 
would be minimal to the rural scene, but as noted later in para 7.2 of these comments this 
assessment has not been provided.  

4.9 However, the buffer strip from existing hedges and the solar panels is 4m as indicated on the 
cross section found on drawing ‘SITE BLOCK PLAN – PROPOSED’. This is 1m less than the 
recommended width within the guidance.  

“h) Security Fencing / Lighting (Page 11 of ‘Planning guidance for the development of large-
scale ground mounted solar PV systems’) 

4.10 In section 4.1.2 of the PDAS a photograph of a typical solar farm with boundary stock proof 
fence is shown and is compliant with the above guidance and will not result in an 
unacceptable landscape/visual impact. The LEMP states that there will be a change in 
hedgerow management to provide more screening in general which in turn will provide 
screening to fencing which is compliant with the above guidance.  

4.11  On drawing ‘SITE BLOCK PLAN – PROPOSED’ most CCTV poles are sited in corners with 
mature trees screening their locations from outside the boundary. The applicant should 
consider the placement of new standard trees as recommend in section 9 of these 
comments, in relation to CCTV poles to screen their presence where mature trees do not do 
this whilst not compromising the function of the CCTV.  

4.12 The height for fencing within the application material is consistent with standard security 
fencing height in the above guidance.   

4.13 4.31 of the EIAR states that “No lighting is proposed as part of the development works and as 
such impacts are not anticipated.” 

“k) Landscape / visual impact  (Page 14 of ‘Planning guidance for the development of large-
scale ground mounted solar PV systems’) 

4.14 According to OS map information, the Site at Jericho Covert is north sloping. Drawing ‘SITE 
BLOCK PLAN – PROPOSED’ shows that the existing hedges and established vegetation, 
including mature trees are to be retained with some hedge infilling proposed resulting in the 
pattern of landscape remaining as the baseline condition.  

Page 84



 

Ref: 20/01182/FUL 7 

 

4.15 No details have been provided of how the existing hedges and trees will be protected on site 
during construction or associated Tree Survey / hedge assessment.  

“Cumulative Impact  (Page 14 of ‘Planning guidance for the development of large-scale 
ground mounted solar PV systems’) 

4.16  Neither LVIA report by Richard Sneesby Landscape Architects nor ‘Additional viewpoints, 
supporting information’ by Tetra Tech submitted by the applicant review the cumulative 
visual and landscape character impacts of a solar farm at Jericho Covert with those known to 
have planning consent or already existing within the landscape. Details of other applications 
can be found in section 3.2 of these comments and should be considered as part of both 
assessments.  

4.17 I have made further comments about the LVIA report by Richard Sneesby Landscape 
Architects and ‘Additional viewpoints, supporting information’ by Tetra Tech which can be 
found in sections 5 and 6 of these comments. 

“l) Ecology (Page 15 of ‘Planning guidance for the development of large-scale ground 
mounted solar PV systems’) 

4.18 The existing ecological characteristics and features on site have been protected and 
enhanced through infill planting of the gaps in the existing hedges and the reduced 
management of hedgerows to allow these to grow naturally to provide further screening of 
the development from the surrounding area and ecological benefits. A large area of 
wildflower meadow in the south-west corner of the Site has been identified in drawing ‘SITE 
BLOCK PLAN – PROPOSED’ and has been stated will provide opportunities for breeding birds 
and reptiles within page 6 of the LEMP . Finally, a proposed native woodland planting along 
north-western boundary to enhance the Site’s wildlife opportunities is described within the 
LEMP however this is not clearly identified within the drawing ‘SITE BLOCK PLAN – 
PROPOSED’. 

4.19 The cross-section illustrating the ‘Buffer zone to edge of panel arrays – typical detail’ found 
on drawing ‘SITE BLOCK PLAN – PROPOSED’ does not identify the width between the 
proposed perimeter fencing and existing hedges to ensure that the Development Proposals 
are consistent with the recommended 4-5m buffer. Judging by other dimensions noted on 
the drawings, I do not believe that the buffer zone indicated is greater than 4m, therefore I 
recommend that this distance is increased to be compliant with the above guidance. 

4.20 It is noted that efforts have been made to enhance the potential biodiversity of the Site 
through changed land management and proposed habitats as illustrated in LEMP. However, I 
would urge the applicant should consider the planting of new standard trees as recommend 
in section 8 of these comments to further enhance the habitat opportunities of the Site. 

Page 85



 

Ref: 20/01182/FUL 8 

 

m) Historic Environment  (Page 16 of ‘Planning guidance for the development of large-scale 
ground mounted solar PV systems’)  

4.21  I recognise that the Heritage and Archaeological Assessment has been produced by HCUK 
Group which determines the significance of built heritage assets, and the potential for harm 
to arise from physical change, and/or change within their setting. It determines the 
significance of archaeological structures, and the potential for harm to arise from physical 
change and/or change within their setting. And it determines and assesses the potential for 
buried archaeology with the Site and to assess the significance of any relevant heritage 
assets identified.  

4.22 Whilst the original assessment; LVIA by Richard Sneesby Landscape Architects did not 
include viewpoints from Belvoir Castle Grade II* Registered Park and Garden circa 3.7km to 
the southeast and associated with the Grade I listed castle, an additional 3 viewpoints are 
found in ‘Additional viewpoints, supporting information’ by Tetra Tech. However, neither 
assessment includes viewpoints from other Listed Buildings such as the Church of St Peter 
and St Paul in Barkestone or Redmile Conservation Area found on higher ground and closer 
to the Site boundary. 

‘n) Drainage, Surface Water Run-off and Flooding  (page 17 of ‘Planning guidance for the 
development of large-scale ground mounted solar PV systems’) 

4.23 A Flood Risk Assessment by Hydrock has been provided as part of the submitted planning 
documentation. The assessment states in section 4.2.2 that the ‘main Site’ and 'point of 
connection' site are generally low risk of flooding. Access to the sites will be via the existing 
surrounding highway network, which is indicated to be at low risk of flooding within the 
immediate vicinity of the 'main' site, and in a southerly direction from the 'point of 
connection' site, based on the EA’s Flood Zone and Flood Risk from Surface Water mapping.  

‘…the proposed drainage strategy utilises the existing topography and natural drainage 
regime to ensure that any overland flows, although not increased compared to the existing 
situation, will be allowed to run-off overland towards the lower lying northern and central 
portions of the site as shallow ‘sheet flow’ (whereupon flows will then likely either be 
conveyed away from the site by the ditch within the approximate centre of the site, or 
continue to flow northwards /eastwards away from the site with the prevailing topography), 
as per the existing situation. Assuming that grass cover will be retained across the site (with 
the exception of the proposed gravelled access tracking and construction compounds), this 
will therefore maintain the existing hydrological regime, without resulting in any increased 
volume or intensity of run-off; alteration of catchment drainage patterns; or, unintentional 
creation of preferential flow paths.’ – Section 5.2. Therefore, the solar farm Development 

Page 86



 

Ref: 20/01182/FUL 9 

 

Proposals at Jericho Covert are in line with this ‘Planning Application consideration’ of the 
guidance. 

‘o) Glint and Glare  (Page 17 of ‘Planning guidance for the development of large-scale ground 
mounted solar PV systems’) 

4.24 A Glint and Glare Assessment by Neo Environmental Limited has been submitted by the 
applicant as part of this planning application. I note within this assessment that in the 
Executive Summary, sections 1.5, 1.6 and 1.7, that the impacts are judged to be ‘Low’ and 
‘None’ on residential receptors, ‘None’ on the road receptors, and ‘No Effects’ on nearby 
airfields, train drivers and railway infrastructure predicted. As a result of this effects on local 
receptors because of the Proposed Development are anticipated to be Negligible. No 
mitigation is recommended within the report. Therefore, I am satisfied that the proposed 
solar farm at Jericho Covert is compliant this ‘Planning Application consideration’ of the 
guidance.  

4.25 However, I would expect the two LVIAs to reference the GGA within their assessment as it 
pre-dates both reports and co-ordination would have been possible. 

“p) Community Involvement and Gain  (Page 17 of ‘Planning guidance for the development of 
large-scale ground mounted solar PV systems’) 

4.26  Within section 6.2 of The PDAS details of the engagement undertaken with the local 
community for this solar farm Development Proposals are given including details of how 
engagement continued through the Covid-19 global pandemic. This states that some 
potential impacts upon the nearby public right of way was a significant concern amongst 
those consulted. As a result, a decision was made to remove a large area (circa 22.5 acres) of 
the site in order to minimise direct impacts upon the route. 

 Melton Local Plan (LP) 

4.27 Within the PDAS, the applicant has reviewed the solar farm Development Proposals at 
Jericho Covert against EN10 of the LP, which I will not repeat. However, there is not a review 
or analysis of other relevant LP policies within the PDAS or the LVIA and ‘Additional 
viewpoints, supporting information’ reports. Other policies which would be pertinent to this 
development type and Site that should be reviewed and considered are:  

 SS1 Presumption in favour of Sustainable Development 
 EN1 Landscape 
 EN2 Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
 EN3 The Melton Green Infrastructure Network 
 EN8 Climate Change 

Page 87



 

Ref: 20/01182/FUL 10 

 

 EN13 Heritage Assets 
 D1 Raising the Standard of Design 

4.28 The is no published Neighbourhood Development Plan available for Barkestone, Plungar & 
Redmile CP. 

5 Landscape and Visual Impact Assessments 

5.1 As the applicant has submitted two reports relating to Landscape and Visual Impact by two 
different authors within this planning application, I have reviewed each and outlined my 
finding for each separately below with a final subsection outlining my opinions which relate 
to both reports. 

Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (13.10.2020) by Richard Sneesby Landscape 
Architects 

5.2  Firstly it is noted that the Site boundary assessed within this report does not reflect that 
shown on drawing ‘SITE BLOCK PLAN – PROPOSED Rev A’ - Savills ref: 20.11.301. The 
southwest corner which is bisected by a Public Right of Way has not been considered in the 
assessment. This will have a land use and character change to wildflower meadow from the 
baseline condition and as such should be included in the assessment. Given this, it must be 
assumed that the areas and descriptions given in section 3.2.2 are incorrect and the Public 
Right of Way that is described as running around the southwest and western boundary 
actually can be found within the Site boundary. Due to this fundamental error this comment 
can be repeated through many sections of the report.  

5.3  I welcome the detailed and thorough description of the solar panels and their arrangements, 
and the consideration of the angle of the panels and materials found within the landscape 
within section 5.1.3 of the assessment. This proves useful when considering and 
understanding the landscape and visual effects described in the visual impact results.  

5.4 The is no direct reference to ‘GLVIA, Third Edition by The Landscape Institute’  within the 
LVIA report, however it is listed as a reference in section 11 ‘Appendix 3’ and therefore I 
would expect the methodology given in this LVIA assessment to be broadly consistent with 
this. As noted in the following paras there are a number of occasions when I do not find this 
to be the case. 

Landscape Character, Value and Effects 

5.5 When reviewing the National Landscape Character Areas in section 6.2 of the LVIA, a copy 
and paste of the key characteristics listed in ‘NCA Profile 48’ in which the Site falls can be 
found but there has been no filtering of relevant key characteristics or analysis of those 
relevant to the Site and its context or the proposed solar farm Development Proposals. 
There is  no reference to the ‘Statements of Environment Opportunities’ section found within 
the NCA Profile that would be useful to the assessment and relevant to the Development 

Page 88



 

Ref: 20/01182/FUL 11 

 

Proposals. And finally, there is no acknowledgement that the Site is close to the boundary 
with ‘NCA Profile 74’ and that some of the key characteristics in this NCA may exert 
influence on the Site or that the Site and its surroundings may display some key 
characteristics.  

 
5.6 Similarly when reviewing ‘Leicestershire County Council Landscape Character Type’ in section 

6.3 the LVIA offers no filtering or analysis of key information in relation to the Site or the 
Development Proposals and appears to predominately be copied and pasted from 
‘Landscape Sensitivity and Green Infrastructure Study for Leicester & Leicestershire, October 
2017’. 

5.7 A number of documents are noted as references within section 6. Baseline Conditions of the 
LVIA but not described, analysed, or noted as irrelevant to the Site or the type of 
development in the assessment. Para 5.15 of ‘GLVIA, Third Edition by The Landscape 
Institute’ states that ‘existing assessments should be reviewed, and interpretated to adapt 
them for use in LVIA – for example by drawing out more clearly the key characteristics that 
are most relevant to the proposals.’ I do not believe that process has been thoroughly 
carried out within the desk-top study section of the LVIA.  

5.8 Although it is noted within the LVIA that there are no landscape designations within the Site 
boundary, there are no references to the designations found adjacent to the Site, within the 
landscape context of the Site and may be influenced by the Development Proposals. Such 
designations include Grantham Canal SSSI which lies southeast and very close to the 
boundary of the Site and the Site lies within its Impact Risk Zone. Or Belvoir Castle Grade II* 
Registered Park and Garden circa 3.7km to the southeast, associated with the Grade I listed 
castle.  

5.9 A number of listed buildings can be found in surrounding villages within 2km of the Site and 
Redmile Conservation Area located circa 1.6km to the east are not referenced which the 
proposed development may exert landscape influence upon.  

5.10 Para 5.22 of ‘GLVIA, Third Edition by The Landscape Institute’ states that ‘A LVIA should 
consider the implications of the full range of statutory and non-statutory designations and 
recognitions and consider what they may imply about landscape values.’ I would expect to 
find a defined study area appropriate to the proposed development type and landscape in 
which the landscape designations and other pertinent landscape features would be listed 
and commented against. This has not been outlined in the LVIA methodology or included 
within the assessment itself and I conclude that this aspect of the LVIA has not been 
completed. 

5.11 Within an LVIA I would expect to find an assessment of the landscape value of the Site, 
defining important landscape features to establish the landscape baseline of the Site. As 
noted in ‘GLVIA, Third Edition by The Landscape Institute’ para 5.19, ‘Considering value at 
the baseline stage will inform later judgements about significance of effects’. This has not 

Page 89



 

Ref: 20/01182/FUL 12 

 

been outlined in the LVIA methodology or included within the assessment itself and I 
conclude that this aspect of the LVIA has not been completed. 

5.12 Para 6.3.10. of the LVIA states that, ‘The landscape is considered to have moderate sensitivity 
to residential development and moderate-high sensitivity to commercial development’. 
However, in section 7.3 it states that, ‘The site has a moderate sensitivity to changes to 
landscape character’. The LVIA should outline and provide a narrative for the justification of 
assessing the Landscape Character as moderate, and when reading the report this is not 
clearly demonstrated.  

5.13 This said, I agree with the ‘Response to described Key Characteristics’ in section 7.3.  

5.14 When reviewing ‘Response to guidance and opportunities to conserve and enhance 
landscape character’, I feel that the author concentrates on the visual aspects too heavily 
and refers to viewpoints assessed during the LVIA which confuses the narrative of the LVIA. 
The response does not address the following listed characteristics within para 7.3.3; 

 ‘Ensure that development does not detract from the setting of historic buildings and 
settlements.’ 

 ‘Retain the valued rural character of the vale and avoid urbanising influences’ 

5.15 I agree with the judgements made within the LVIA for the landscape sensitivities given in 
paras 7.5.1 to 7.5.7 and find them to be consistent with the methodology given in appendix 
1, section 9.5 of the LVIA but as noted in para 5.11 there is not an assessment for the 
baseline landscape value of the Site to assess the Development Proposals against.  

 
5.16  I agree with the magnitudes of effects for landscape character given in the table in para 

7.5.8 which are consistent with the methodology found in appendix 1, section 9.3. I confirm 
that the significance of the effects determined by the values given for the receptor 
sensitivity and magnitude of change is consistent with the methodology given in appendix 1, 
section 9.8. I agree with the comments made against each categorised sensitivity. 

 
5.17  I agree with the overall significance of effects for landscape character by the proposed solar 

farm at Jericho Covert given as ‘Moderate to Slight’ within para 7.6.1. However, the same 
paragraph states. “These beneficial or adverse effects are important but are not likely to be 
key decision-making factors. The cumulative effects of such issues may become a decision- 
making issue if leading to an increase in the overall adverse effect on a particular resource or 
receptor” 

 
5.18 As already expressed in para 4.16 of these comments, the LVIA does not assess the 

cumulative effects of a solar farm Development Proposals at Jericho Covert on the landscape 
character and value despite it being referenced as a consideration in the decision-making 
process in para 7.6.1.  

 
 

Page 90



 

Ref: 20/01182/FUL 13 

 

Visual Envelope and Effects 
 

5.19 It would assist when reviewing the LVIA that within para 6.5.5 a narrative with reasons for 
each viewpoint inclusion and their location illustrated on a plan in relation to the ZTV is 
provided. A further section later in the assessment should be given as to why these were 
discounted, moved or confirmed during the fieldwork to ensure due diligence has been 
undertaken in choosing each viewpoint and for thoroughness of the LVIA.  As noted in para 
4.7.2, ‘The ZTV provides a guide as to the potential location of possible viewpoints, for 
further evaluation. As a ZTV is theoretical, it should not be used in isolation and, as part of 
the assessment process, requires on-site verification’ 

5.20 The narrative for section 6.6 Visual Envelope is quite confusing as it begins to describe some 
of the results of the fieldwork found at various viewpoints within the Visual Envelope rather 
than demonstrating how the Visual Envelope was used to determine potential viewpoints.  

5.21  Para 6.6.8 – VP 5 is described as found within Sutton village but in reviewing the Viewpoint 
Locations drawing this VP appears to be on the periphery of Granby village. Clarification of 
this is requested from the applicant. 

5.22 Para 6.6.9 – VPs 6 & 7 are found on the PROW south of Granby village (which is northwest of 
the Site) when viewing the Viewpoint Locations drawing. However, the description within 
this para states ‘No views were found in the village of Granby or the PROW network which is 
found north and east of Granby village (Viewpoints 6 & 7).’  It is unclear from this para of the 
LVIA if VPs 6 & 7 have views due to inconsistencies described. 

5.23  Para 6.6.11 – VPs 9 & 10 are found within the Site boundary as illustrated within drawing 
‘SITE BLOCK PLAN – PROPOSED Rev A’, however they have not been assessed as such due to 
the differing site boundaries within the assessment. I would anticipate that there would be 
positive visual changes due to ecological enhancements proposed with wildflower meadow 
seeding shown west of the PROW in the block plan rather than pastural fields currently 
found.  

5.24 Para 6.6.16 - VP 14 is not marked on the Viewpoint Locations drawing or any other drawing 
found within the information provided and is not included in the ‘Viewpoint Assessment 
matrix’ or ‘photographic image’s. I concur with the comments given by Historic England that 
I can find no evidence that Belvoir Castle or Belvoir Castle Registered Park and Garden were 
visited as part of the field work for this LVIA and seems to have been dismissed based on the 
ZTV without verification by visiting these significant landscape features. This is despite that 
later in the LVIA within the ‘Response to described key characteristics’ in section 7.3 it is 
noted that ‘There is almost no inter-visibility between the site and Belvoir Castle. The 
exception is the extreme north-west part of the Site where the ZTV reveals some slight inter-
visibility and from where the castle can be seen just under 5Km from the site boundary at the 
extreme edge of the study area’. Considering the historical significance of Belvoir Castle and 
its context I feel at least a long-distance viewpoint from each should be included within the 
assessment.  

Page 91



 

Ref: 20/01182/FUL 14 

 

5.25  I recognise that some gaps in information have been addressed in an additional report 
provided by the applicant; ‘Additional viewpoints, supporting information Rev C’ by Tetra 
Tech, which includes viewpoints at Belvoir Castle. This report is reviewed separately in 
section 6 of these comments. 

Visual Effects Results 

5.26 In reviewing the results tabulated in the ‘Viewpoint Assessment Tables’ found in pages 7-10 
of ‘LVIA Plans and Representative Views, October 2020’ by Richard Sneesby Landscape 
Architects I found all the VPs receptor sensitivities to be inconsistent with the methodology 
given in appendix 1, section 9.6 of the LVIA.  

5.27 VPs 1 and 2 - These VPs are both found on the same local road which connects the villages 
or Redmile and Sutton and Whatton-in-the-Vale beyond. The LVIA judges these viewpoints 
to be low sensitivity whilst the methodology states that ‘The users of local roads will have a 
Medium sensitivity’.  

5.28 VPs 3-13 - These VPs are all located on PROWs. The LVIA judges these viewpoints to be 
moderate sensitivity whilst the methodology states that ‘Recreational walkers and 
equestrians (High sensitivity)’.  

5.29 VP 14 – this VP is not included in the ‘Viewpoint Assessment Tables’ and so there are no 
judgements given for the receptor sensitivity, visual change or significance of residual effects 
and therefore this viewpoint cannot be reviewed for this application.  

5.30 Para 7.9.5 - VPs 10, 11 and 12 consider views to the solar panels (east) but due to the 
differing Site boundary they do not consider changes in management for the parcel of land 
found west of the footpath will have on the visual effect. 

5.31 I broadly agree with mitigation proposed for VPs 9, 10, 11 and 13 within para 7.9.5, the new 
hedgerow management which will allow the boundary hedgerows to grow and provide 
additional screening. This will go some way in reducing adverse effects but would 
recommend that some individual specimen tree planting is undertaken within the existing 
hedgerow to further filter views from VPs 9, 10, 11 and 13. The applicant should consider 
the placement of new standard trees as recommend in section 9 of these comments. 

5.32 Within para 7.9.6. I broadly agree with mitigation proposed for VP 12, in the form of a new 
hedgerow planted between the footpath and the solar arrays. As with VPs 10 and 11, I 
would recommend that some individual specimen tree planting is undertaken within the 
proposed hedgerow to further filter views from VP 12. The applicant should consider the 
placement of new standard trees as recommend in section 9 of these comments. 

5.33 Para 7.9.9. - VP 4 is not marked on the ‘Viewpoint Locations’ drawing and so it is unclear to 
where this representative view is taken from.  

Page 92



 

Ref: 20/01182/FUL 15 

 

5.34 As already expressed in para 4.16 of these comments, the LVIA does not assess the 
cumulative effects of a solar farm at Jericho Covert on the visual effects despite it being 
referenced as a consideration in the decision-making process in para 7.6.1.  

5.35 It is welcomed that a separate assessment within the LVIA has been made of the permanent 
Grid Yard. However, this is not a full assessment consistent with ‘GLVIA, Third Edition by The 
Landscape Institute’, the viewpoints for this assessment are described but not located on a 
plan. A further assessment within the LVIA should be made for the Landscape Effect of the 
Grid Yard as this is a permanent addition to the landscape providing a permanent grid 
connection hub.  

5.36 Section 7.1 of the LVIA –  

‘RESPONSE TO LANDSCAPE AND VISUAL CHARACTER ASSESSMENT AND APPLICATION OF 
GOOD PRACTICE GUIDANCE ON SITING SOLAR PV DEVELOPMENTS TO THIS SITE 

vii. The proposal provides enhanced management of landscape features, and habitats as part 
of the development. This includes contributing to wider landscape scale targets and projects 
in LPA’s Biodiversity Action Plans, guidelines in Landscape Character Assessments, and 
landscape management objectives set out in local landscape character assessments.’ 

5.37 The above statement may be true, but the projects and targets are not discussed or 
analysed within this the LVIA by Richard Sneesby Landscape Architects and this is the first 
time they are mentioned within the report.  

 Associated LVIA Drawings for the LVIA by Richard Sneesby Landscape Architects 

5.38  ‘Zone of Theoretical Visibility (ZTV)’ drawing – it would have been useful when reviewing the 
LVIA if key reference points such as the surrounding villages and Grantham Canal, the 
potential receptors / viewpoint described in section 6.6 of the report and the Site boundary 
were marked on this drawing. 

5.39 ‘Viewpoint Locations’ drawing – viewpoint 4 does not appear to be marked on this drawing.  

5.40 ‘Viewpoint photography sheets’ – The methodology for photography within the LVIA is 
broadly consistent with ‘Photography and photomontage in landscape and visual impact 
assessment Landscape Institute Advice Note 01/11’. However, the viewpoint’s height above 
ground level and OS grid coordinates or date, time, weather or lighting conditions for each 
photograph are not provided. The following comments apply to the ‘Viewpoint photography 
sheets’; 

5.41 It would be useful for the LVIA and ease in reviewing the submitted information to note or 
indicate on the image and small inset location plans the assessed Site boundaries. 

Page 93



 

Ref: 20/01182/FUL 16 

 

5.42 I believe that many of the small inset location plans misrepresent the location and direction 
of view of where the photograph for this assessment was taken. For example, Viewpoint 6 
small inset location plan does not reflect the position shown on the ‘Viewpoint Locations’ 
drawing and Viewpoint 5 shows the viewing direction opposite to that of the Site. 

5.43 VP 5 does not provide any annotation on the photograph image to assist in assessing the 
viewpoint magnitude of change. VP 5’s small inset location plan shows the viewing direction 
opposite to that of the Site.   

5.44 I believe that VP 8’s small inset location plan misrepresents the location and direction of 
view of where the photograph for this LVIA was taken and does not provide any annotation 
on the photograph image to assist in assessing the viewpoint magnitude of change. 

5.45 VPs 9, 10 and 13 do not provide any annotation on the photograph image to assist in 
assessing the viewpoint magnitude of change and I believe that the small inset location plans 
shown do not show the viewing direction accurately. 

5.46 VP 11 photograph does not show a view looking westwards to the parcel of land which is 
included in drawing ‘SITE BLOCK PLAN – PROPOSED Rev A’. 

5.47 VP 12’s small inset location plan shows the viewing direction opposite to that of the Site. 

5.48 Several viewpoints note ‘Jericho Barn’ yet I cannot find a reference within the text as to 
whether this is part of Jericho Lodge.  

6 ‘Additional viewpoints, supporting information Rev C’ (2021.03.04) – Tetra Tech 

6.1 The methodology for photography within the LVIA is consistent with ‘Photography and 
photomontage in landscape and visual impact assessment Landscape Institute Advice Note 
01/11’. 

6.2 The methodology for visualisations is consistent with ‘The Landscape Institute’s Technical 
Guidance Note 06/19 Visual Representation of Development Proposals, 17 September 2019’. 
I agree with the author that it is appropriate for the use of Type 3 visualisations, 
photographs with wireline within this assessment. 

6.3 The site boundary used for the basis of the assessment reflects that of drawing ‘SITE BLOCK 
PLAN – PROPOSED Rev A’. 

6.4 A thorough description of each landscape receptor and context, the existing view and view 
with development is provided within the assessment, illustrating a competent 
understanding of the existing and proposed changes to the viewpoints.  However, it is very 
disappointing that the assessment is not consistent with ‘The Landscape Institute’s 
sensitivity of the receptor, magnitude of change or significance of change is not provided as 
part of the assessment. I understand through correspondence with Planning Officers at MBC 

Page 94



 

Ref: 20/01182/FUL 17 

 

that this report has been submitted to MBC as ‘fait accompli’, and that MBC had little input 
in discussing the methodology to be used and that the decision to not use this industry 
accepted methodology was not theirs.  

6.5 Due to the historical significance of Belvoir Castle and its historical setting an assessment in 
line with ‘The Landscape Institute’s Guidelines for Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment, 
Third Edition’ is deemed extremely important to ensure due diligence has been undertaken 
and for thoroughness of the LVIA to better understand what effects the Development 
Proposals may have.  

6.6 The additional viewpoints fill some of the gaps in the previous assessment; ‘Landscape and 
Visual Impact Assessment Prepared for Green Farm Solar Ltd 13th October 2020’ by Richard 
Sneesby Landscape Architects by providing 3 viewpoints from Belvoir Castle Grade II* 
Registered Park and the Grade I listed castle, the Public footpath G18/1, Grantham Canal 
SSSI and A52. It would be valuable to the assessment to describe the reason for the inclusion 
of the Public footpath G18/1 and A52.  I understand through correspondence with Planning 
Officers at MBC that there has been no consultation with them on additional viewpoint 
locations but comments received by English Heritage highlight the importance of including 
Belvoir Castle and its grounds. The comments from English Heritage also note that a view of 
the Site may be seen from The Church of St Peter and St Paul in Barkestone Le Vale but a 
viewpoint for this has not been provided.  

7 Comments applying to both LVIA Assessments provided by the applicant 

7.1 There is no assessment of the landscape and visual effects of the access arrangements to the 
solar panel farm on Jericho Lane and there is only a small reference to the visual effects of 
the Grid Yard (section 7.10 of ‘Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment Prepared for Green 
Farm Solar Ltd 13th October 2020’ by Richard Sneesby Landscape Architects) despite these 
being permanent features of the landscape unlike the temporary feature of the solar arrays 
for 40 years.   

7.2 Additionally neither assessment discusses the visual effects that the new CCTV poles or new 
access tracks found within the Site boundary could have. Nor does either assessment discuss 
the inclusion or not of a lighting strategy for the solar farm at Jericho Lane. As noted in para 
3.14, “No lighting is proposed as part of the development works and as such impacts are not 
anticipated.” 

7.4 Neither assessment discusses the visual and landscape character effects of the construction 
compound. 

7.5 Neither assessment gives consideration to seasonal change when predicting and describing 
the visual changes that a solar farm Development Proposal may bring to Jericho Covert. As 

Page 95



 

Ref: 20/01182/FUL 18 

 

cited in para 6.28 of ‘GLVIA, Third Edition by The Landscape Institute’, ‘Consideration should 
be given to the seasonal differences in effects arising from the varying degree of screening 
and/or filtering of views by vegetation that will apply in summer and winter’. This is 
particularly pertinent to this Development Proposal as a change to the management of the 
existing hedgerows found on Site are part of the proposed mitigation.   

7.6 As already expressed in para 4.16 of these comments, neither assessment assesses the 
cumulative effects of a solar farm Development Proposals at Jericho Covert on the landscape 
character and value. 

8 Comments on other Development Proposal Material within Application  

 Drawing ‘SITE BLOCK PLAN – PROPOSED Rev A’ 

8.1 The bat, bird and log pile locations and numbers are not identified within this drawing, I 
would recommend that in the event of the application being granted planning permission, 
this information it to be requested as a condition.  

8.2 The native woodland planting along north-western boundary, later referred to in page 4 of 
the LEMP, is not clearly identified.  

Landscape and Ecology Management Plan (2020.10.13) – Richard Sneesby Landscape 
Architects 

8.3 Firstly drawing ‘SITE BLOCK PLAN – PROPOSED’ included in the LEMP is out of date as Rev – 
is included rather than the more recent Rev A (page 4). 

8.4 The LEMP states that proposed native woodland planting along north-western boundary will 
be planted (page 5), however I cannot find details of the tree species, stock sizes or densities 
within the document or other associated information for this application.  

8.5 The LEMP states that a 2m margin for wildflower to the boundaries will be provided (page 
5). However, it is not clearly identified on drawing ‘SITE BLOCK PLAN – PROPOSED’ if the 
position of the stock fencing will allow this.  

8.6 I welcome the use of moling for the installation of cabling for the solar farm at Jericho Lane 
and that no hedgerows/trees are to be impacted during construction (page 6). However, I 
would recommend that in the event of the application being granted planning permission, 
that the planning conditions stipulate that moling beneath individual tree RPAs are avoided 
where possible.  

8.7 The LEMP states that ‘Management of woodland areas will be carried out through coppicing 
and thinning.’ However, I cannot find details of the location of this woodland or a schedule 
for the described operations within the LEMP.  

8.8 The LEMP states that ‘Post development the ponds within the ownership of the scheme 
would also be enhanced to increase the carrying capacity and suitability for GCN.’ (page 7). 
However, I cannot find details of the location of ponds for GNC or their construction within 
the LEMP or drawing ‘SITE BLOCK PLAN – PROPOSED’.  

Page 96



 

Ref: 20/01182/FUL 19 

 

8.9 Section 3.0 ‘Construction Exclusion Zones’ within the LEMP gives details for exclusion in 
relation to ecology but does not identify exclusions in relation to existing mature trees.  

8.10 Within section 6 of the LEMP there is not a specification section for the maintenance of the 
existing and mature hedgerows which I would expect as these are fundamental to the 
Landscape and Ecological Management Plan for ecological and visual screening reasons.  

8.11 Further in this section of the LEMP within section 6.4 the management of ‘Areas of longer 
grass/open herb layer’ is described. The narrative for this section is quite confused, it would 
be beneficial for this section to be split into ‘field margins’ and the larger swath of 
‘wildflower meadow’ found in the west corner as illustrated in drawing ‘SITE BLOCK PLAN – 
PROPOSED’. I would expect that two different wildflower seed types would be required for 
these two application types, one appropriate for hedgerow margins seeding and one for a 
more sunny position as expected for the larger swathe. In addition, I believe that there is 
reference to a ‘South-West Seeds’ mix in error within this section.  

8.12 The same comment as above also applied to ‘The Management Schedule: Pre-Construction 
Phase and Establishment Phase table’, item 9.  

8.13 Para 6.3.3 within the LEMP states that ‘In the absence of any regular grazing, the short grass 
shall be managed by strimming’, however, it is not stated how often strimming will be 
undertaken should grazing not occur.   

8.14  Section 6.2 and item 11.0 the ‘Management Schedule: Routine and Annual Maintenance and 
Management’ does not give details of cutting the side of the hedges.  

8.15 The new hedgerow planting species as outlined in page 21 would provide a ‘species-rich 
hedgerow’ and would be suitable for this development type. However, details of how 
regularly along the hedgerow and what stock size the individual supplementary tree species 
will be planted are not provided.  

8.16 Within the ‘Notes for Planting’ and ‘Ground Preparation’ details for importation of subsoil is 
provided but none is given for the importation of topsoil should this be required.  

8.17 There is no clarification of mulch type and locations or proposals for spiral guards or other 
protections whilst the planting establishes and staking.  

 

9 Recommendations for additional Mitigation Measures (in addition to those described 
within the Development Proposal material) 

9.1 I recommend that the planting of new standard trees within new and existing hedgerows is 
included in the Development Proposals for the solar farm at Jericho. As well as the visual and 
ecological reasons given throughout these comments the applicant should look to; 

 

Page 97



 

Ref: 20/01182/FUL 20 

 

 Improve the treescape of this wide open landscape  

 Leave a positive legacy within the landscape in the fields that are proposed to 
contain the PV panels once they are removed following 40 years of use 

 Provide enhancement to the LVIA baseline conditions and visual amenity 

 Provide successional tree planting within the landscape to replace existing mature 
trees found on Site once they reach the natural end of their lives   

 Provide landscape Development Proposals in line with SEO 2 of ‘Statements of 
Environmental Opportunities’ for NCA Profile 48 ‘Enhance the woodland and 
hedgerow network through the planting of small woodlands, tree belts, hedgerow 
trees and new hedgerows to benefit landscape character…’ and the ‘Landscape and 
Green Infrastructure guidance and opportunities’ for Vale of Belvoir within the 
‘Landscape Sensitivity and Green Infrastructure Study for Leicester & Leicestershire’. 

9.2  When reviewing the LEMP, page 21 gives ‘Supplementary tree species’, the two species given; 
Quercus robur and Alnus glutinosa are suitable but the applicant should include more species 
to give added ecological and seasonal interest value. I would suggest that native beech, horse 
chestnut, sweet chestnut and fruit trees amongst other native species are considered.   

 

10 Summary 

10.1 In summary the solar farm Development Proposals for Jericho Lane are broadly in line with 
‘Planning guidance for the development of large-scale ground mounted solar PV systems – 
BRE and Cornwall Council’ however there are elements that require further information as 
identified in section 3 of these comments.  

10.2  The main areas that contain gaps within the material submitted by the applicant for this 
planning application are; 

 Consideration for historic features - that development does not detract from of the 
setting of historic buildings and settlements. 

 Evaluation of Local Plan policies which would be pertinent to this development type 
and Site. 

 Unevenly weighted consideration towards Visual Effects in comparison to Landscape 
Character within the LVIA information. 

 Discrepancies in the methodologies used within the LVIA information – discrepancies 
between own methodology given for receptor sensitivities (LVIA) and The Landscape 
Institute’s Guidelines for Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment, Third Edition as a 
judgement on the sensitivity of the receptor, magnitude of change or significance of 
change (Additional Viewpoints). 

 Neither LVIA report review the cumulative visual and landscape character impacts of a 
solar farm at Jericho Covert with those known to have planning consent or already 
existing within the landscape. 

Page 98



 

Ref: 20/01182/FUL 21 

 

 No assessment of the landscape and visual effects of the access to the solar panel 
farm on Jericho Lane and there is only a small reference to the visual effects of the 
Grid Yard can be found despite these being permanent features of the landscape 
unlike the temporary feature of the solar arrays for 40 years. 

 Neither LVIA assessment discusses the visual effects that the new CCTV poles, new 
access tracks, a lighting strategy or construction compound found within the Site 
boundary could have on the visual and landscape character. 

 Neither LVIA assessment gives consideration to seasonal change when predicting and 
describing the visual changes that a solar farm Development Proposal may bring to 
Jericho Covert.  

 That the Site boundary assessed within the LVIA does not reflect that shown on 
drawing ‘SITE BLOCK PLAN – PROPOSED Rev A’ - Savills ref: 20.11.301. 

 Further detail or clarification is required for the wildflower seeding, native woodland 
planting and GCN ponds within the LEMP; 

 No details within the application material of stripping, storage or replacement of 
topsoil can be found. 

 No details have been provided of how the existing hedges and trees will be protected 
on site during construction or associated Tree Survey / hedge assessment in 
accordance with BS5837. 

 No details have been provided for the construction compound as recommended in  
‘Planning guidance for the development of large scale ground mounted solar PV 
systems’ and therefore not assessed as part of the LVIA material. 

10.3 I recognise that efforts have been made to create a landscape and ecology enhanced scheme 
for the solar farm at Jericho Lane but this could be taken further by the applicant addressing 
the Recommended Mitigation Measures found in section 8 and providing further information 
/ clarification where requested in these comments.  

10.4 The applicant should refer to the recommendations found in ‘Planning guidance for the 
development of large-scale ground mounted solar PV systems’ when providing a further 
revision of drawing ‘SITE BLOCK PLAN – PROPOSED’ as the current scheme does not comply 
with the required width for buffer strips against the existing hedges, and perimeter fencing as 
noted in paras 4.9 and 4.19 of these comments.  

 

11 Conclusions 

11.1 Further information is required from the Applicant to demonstrate that the Site can 
accommodate the Development Proposal of a solar farm at Jericho Covert as outlined 
throughout these comments in section 10 Summary and section 13 Recommendations.  

 

 

Page 99



 

Ref: 20/01182/FUL 22 

 

12  Decision 

12.1  In the absence of identified information I would recommend the decision of this Application 
with regards landscape and visual matters is deferred pending receipt of the items outlined in 
Recommendations (13 below). 

 

13  Recommendations (in outline refer to Summary): 

 Information outstanding to determine the application 

13.1 Provide information; plans and /or text for the proposals for the temporary construction 
compound  

13.2 Review drawing ‘SITE BLOCK PLAN – PROPOSED’ and the allocated width for the buffer strip 
between the existing hedges and the solar panels and adjust this distance to be compliant 
with ‘Planning guidance for the development of large-scale ground mounted solar PV systems’  

13.3 Review drawing ‘SITE BLOCK PLAN – PROPOSED’ and include new standard trees within the 
proposals in appropriate positions in relation to CCTV poles, create additional screening and 
filtering of views of the solar farm from the receptors identified within the LVIA material.  

13.4 Review the section illustrating the ‘Buffer zone to edge of panel arrays – typical detail’ found 
on drawing ‘SITE BLOCK PLAN – PROPOSED’ to ensure that the width between the proposed 
perimeter fencing and existing hedges are consistent with the recommended 4-5m buffer 
found within ‘Planning guidance for the development of large-scale ground mounted solar PV 
systems’. Provide an amendment to the existing section or an additional section showing the 
proposals for clarification. 

13.5 Provide a revision to drawing ‘SITE BLOCK PLAN – PROPOSED’ clearly noting / identifying the 
native woodland planting and ponds for GCNs as identified within the LEMP. 

13.6 Provide a review and analysis of pertinent and relevant Local Plan policies in relation to a solar 
farm development and the Site selected at Jericho Covert. 

13.7 Provide updated LVIA material with a review and analysis of ‘NCA Profile 48’, ‘NCA Profile 74’ 
and ‘Leicestershire County Council Landscape Character Type’ and the documents noted as 
references within section 6 of the LVIA by Richard Sneesby Landscape Architects. 

13.8 Provide updated LVIA material a defined study area appropriate to the proposed development 
type and landscape with a review and analysis of landscape designations and other pertinent 
landscape features found adjacent to the Site, within the landscape context of the Site and 
may be influenced by the Development Proposals. 

13.9 Provide updated LVIA material with an assessment for the existing landscape value of the Site, 
defining important landscape features to establish the landscape baseline of the Site. And 
provide an assessment of how Development Proposals may affect this. 

13.10 Provide a narrative and justification for the decision to change the landscape sensitivity from 
moderate-high to moderate within section 7.3 of the LVIA by Richard Sneesby Landscape 
Architects.  

Page 100



 

Ref: 20/01182/FUL 23 

 

13.11 Provide updated LVIA material with a response to the following key characteristics ‘Ensure 
that development does not detract from of the setting of historic buildings and settlements.’ 
And ‘Retain the valued rural character of the vale and avoid urbanising influences’.  

13.12 Provide updated LVIA material and viewpoint assessments with the Site boundary reflected in 
drawing ‘SITE BLOCK PLAN – PROPOSED Rev A’ - Savills ref: 20.11.301. 

13.13 Review the descriptions and locations given for VPs 5, 6, 7, 9 and 10 within the LVIA by Richard 
Sneesby Landscape Architects and provide clarification or additional LVIA material. 

13.14 Provide the missing information for VP 14 within the LVIA by Richard Sneesby Landscape 
Architects for review.  

13.15 Provide revised information for all the VPs receptor sensitivities which is consistent with the 
methodology given in appendix 1, section 9.6 of the LVIA by Richard Sneesby Landscape 
Architects and in turn Significance of Effects as a combination of magnitude and receptor 
sensitivity. 

13.16 Provide additional LVIA material consistent with ‘GLVIA, Third Edition by The Landscape 
Institute’ of the landscape character and visual effects that the new CCTV poles, new access 
track, upgrade of the existing access track, construction compound and the permanent 
addition to the landscape of the Grid Yard providing a permanent grid connection hub.  

13.17 Provided updated LVIA material which considers the seasonal change when predicting and 
describing the visual changes that a solar farm Development Proposal may bring to Jericho 
Covert 

13.18 Provide clarification for how the proposals contribute to the wider landscape targets and 
projects in LPA’s Biodiversity Action Plans as stated in the LVIA by Richard Sneesby Landscape 
Architects.  

13.19 Provide additional LVIA material with the cumulative visual and landscape character impacts 
of a solar farm Development Proposals at Jericho Covert with those known to have planning 
consent or already existing within the landscape.  

13.20 Provide a revision of drawing ‘Viewpoint Locations’ drawing by Richard Sneesby Landscape 
Architects which includes the location of VP4.  

13.21 Provide revisions to the ‘Viewpoint photography sheets’ by Richard Sneesby Landscape 
Architects as described in section 5 of these comments. 

13.22 Provide revised or additional LVIA material for the viewpoints reviewed in ‘Additional 
viewpoints, supporting information’ by Tetra Tech which is consistent with ‘The Landscape 
Institute’s Guidelines for Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment, Third Edition’. Information 
should include a judgement on the sensitivity of the receptors, magnitude of change and 
significance of change.  

13.23 Provide additional LVIA material with a visual assessment or reasoning for viewpoints at Listed 
Buildings such as the Church of St Peter and St Paul and Redmile Conservation Area being 
dismissed from the previously submitted LVIA material. 

Page 101



 

Ref: 20/01182/FUL 24 

 

13.24 Provide a revision to the LEMP or additional material for the maintenance of the existing and 
mature hedgerows, wildflower seeding and GNC ponds (if proposed. 

 Time Determined Conditions (should the MBC approve the planning application) 

13.25 Provide details for the bat, bird and log pile locations and numbers. 

13.26 Provide a detailed landscape management plan and maintenance schedule specified to the 
detail and appropriate duration (minimum 5years) to ensure the impact of the solar farm at 
Jericho Covert does not enhance significance through poor aftercare of the mitigation 
proposed. Include for the removal and replacement of failed trees/hedgerow planting. Include 
within this a schedule for woodland management as described in LEMP. Include clarification of 
amount of strimming required of short grass if grazing does not occur.  

13.27 Provision that cable moling beneath individual tree RPAs is avoided.  

 

Katie Lewis CMLI 

Landscape Architect 

 

For and on Behalf of Red Kite Network Limited 

 

Footnotes 

The following acronyms have been used: 

 1 LVIA - Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment 

2   ZTV –Zone of Theoretical Visibility 

3 LCA – Landscape Character Area 

4 SEO – Statement of Environmental Opportunities 

5 NCA – National Character Area 

6 GI – Green Infrastructure 

7 NCA - National Character Area 

8 MBC – Melton Borough Council 

9 NPPF – National Planning Policy Framework 

10 LP – Local Plan 

11 PDAS – Planning, Design and Access Statement 

12 LVIA – Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment 

13 VP – Viewpoint 

14 LI – The Landscape Institute 

15 GLVIA3 - The Landscape Institute’s Guidelines for Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment, Third Edition 

16 LEMP – Landscape and Ecological Management Plan 

17 EIA – Environmental Impact Assessment 

Page 102



 

Ref: 20/01182/FUL 25 

 

18 EIAR - Ecological Impact Assessment Report  

19 GGA – Glint and Glare Assessment 

20 GCN – Great Crested Newts 

 

Page 103



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Ref: 20/01182/FUL 1 

 

12th November 2021 

 

LANDSCAPE COMMENTS  

Reference:  20/01182/FUL 

Status:  FULL PLANNING APPLICATION  

Proposal:  Installation of a solar farm comprising ground mounted solar PV panels with a net 
installed generating capacity (AC) of up to 49.9MW, including mounting system, 
battery storage units, inverters, underground cabling, stock proof fence, CCTV, 
internal tracks and associated infrastructure, landscaping and environmental 
enhancements for a temporary period of 40 years and a permanent grid connection 
hub. 

Site address:  Land East Of Jericho Covert, Jericho Lane, Barkestone Le Vale 

Grid Reference: SK775361 E:477518 N:336187 

Applicant:   Green Farm Solar Ltd 

1. Executive Summary  
1.1. During my review of all updated and revised available material relating to landscape and visual 

matters, I am pleased to note that in most cases the Applicant has sought to provide additional 
evidence, clarify and justify queries in the previous Comments issued on 1st October 2021 with 
some small omissions which have been commented on within the following sections of these 
Comments.  
 

1.2. The updated and revised Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment by Richard Sneesby 
Landscape Architects is in line with ‘The Landscape Institute’s Guidelines for Landscape and 
Visual Impact Assessment, Third Edition’. It is acknowledged that ‘The Landscape Institute 
Technical Guidance Note 1/20 `Reviewing Landscape Impact Assessments (LVIAs) and Landscape 
and Visual Appraisals (LVAs)’ has been used as reference. As has ‘The Landscape Institute 
published a consultation draft in February 2021: Technical Guidance Note, Consultation Draft 
02/21 “Landscape Value and Valued Landscapes”’ and that this new consultation report has 
informed the assessment of landscape value, an area of the previous LVIA I considered to be 
lacking. 

 
1.3. The updated and revised LVIA information concludes that the Site has Moderate sensitivity to a 

solar farm development. That it is located on low-lying flat land which at a national and regional 
scale is favoured for solar energy production as the effects upon landscape character and visual 
receptors are greatly reduced.  

 

Page 105

Appendix H.2



 

Ref: 20/01182/FUL 2 

 

1.4. The Site benefits from existing hedged field boundaries which will assist in the screening and 
filtering of views to the solar arrays and that no hedgerows are to be removed to allow this 
Development Proposal to take place. As such the pattern of the Site landscape remains as the 
baseline conditions. Principally the Development Proposal will result in a visual change from 
one material, agricultural crops, to solar arrays with a potential change to perceptions of the 
landscape view based upon an individual’s response to this landscape change. As such the 
significance of the effects upon landscape character is assessed as slight.  

 
1.5. The Site lies on low lying land in a comparatively wide-open landscape, with views towards the 

Site hard to find from most directions. The exception are views from the immediate south and 
south-west where the Site is visible from a public footpath which runs across the southern 
boundary of the site. The magnitude of effect from these viewpoints is assessed as large and 
adverse and experienced by high sensitivity visual receptors due to their presence on Public 
Rights of Way and experienced by footpath users.  

 
1.6. Consideration has been given to Belvoir Castle and its setting through the inclusion of 4 

viewpoints and it was found that the significance for residual effects were slight in all cases and 
that the significance is triggered by the high sensitivity of the receptor rather than magnitude of 
change to the view.  

 
1.7. The effects upon visual receptors is assessed in the range of large, through moderate to 

negligible. The small number of receptors experiencing views gives rise to an overall assessment 
of moderate to slight and triggers a recommendation of some mitigation measures to reduce 
adverse effects. 
 

1.8. It is acknowledged that the proposed mitigation measures will not fully screen the proposal and 
the residual effect, following the construction phase, will remain as moderate to slight and 
slightly adverse from these viewpoints. These effects are upon the land cover within the field 
enclosures themselves, rather than any changes to landscape pattern or wider views which will 
remain unchanged. From all other assessed viewpoints the effect will be slight to negligible or 
visual receptors will experience no change to the view. 

 
1.9. It is concluded that views can be mitigated but not screened completely by the mitigation 

proposals and that once mitigation planting has established, within 5 years the residual effect is 
likely to be moderate and slightly adverse. Beyond 10 years, the effect will become slight and 
not adverse. 

 
 
 

Page 106



 

Ref: 20/01182/FUL 3 

 

1.10. Cumulative effects of a solar farm Development Proposal at Jericho Covert on both the 
visual and landscape character have been considered in the LVIA information with two 
operational solar farms found within the 5Km study area. A further solar farm is located 5.8Km 
to the west. It is concluded that “that people’s perception of the landscape, when moving 
through it, will not be adversely affected by the proposed development in combination with 
other solar farms in the area”. 
 

1.11. The mitigation proposals in summary are; 
1.11.1.  to reduce the cutting regime of the hedged boundary to allow them to grow to a 

minimum of 3m in height,  
1.11.2. enhance hedgerows through infill planting where gaps are present, 
1.11.3. provide additional tree planting within the existing and proposed hedged 

boundaries in particular in the proximity to CCTV poles to assist in the screening of 
their presence, 

1.11.4. provide native woodland planting along north-western boundary,  
1.11.5. provide a 5m margin of wildflower grassland around each field margin,  
1.11.6. provide a large area of wildflower meadow in the south-west corner of the site,  
1.11.7. grow short mown grass managed by grazing or strimming rather than used for 

agricultural crop  
 

1.12. It is considered that the proposed mitigation will be an enhancement from intense 
agricultural practice to a less-intense, nature-led, approach to landscape management. 
 

1.13. I agree with all the conclusions drawn by Richard Sneesby Landscape Architects outlined 
above found within section 10 ‘Conclusions’ of the updated and revised LVIA and deem the 
mitigation as outlined in the Landscape and Ecological Management Plan to be acceptable.  
 

1.14. It can be concluded that the solar farm Development Proposals for Jericho Lane are now 
broadly in line with ‘Planning guidance for the development of large-scale ground mounted 
solar PV systems – BRE and Cornwall Council’ following the receipt of the additional 
requested information.  
 

1.15. I believe the additional information provided by the Applicant provides sufficient evidence 
to conclude that the 'wider' landscape is robust enough to absorb this proposal and the 
cumulative effects have been considered with other proposals of this type within this 
landscape. Therefore, I can conclude that this Development Proposal will result in slight / 
negligible visual harm and I see no reason to OBJECT to the Solar farm Development 
Proposal at Jericho Covert. 

  

Page 107



 

Ref: 20/01182/FUL 4 

 

 
2. Introduction 
2.1. These comments are an addendum to the previous comments made on 1st October 2021 for 

which Red Kite Network Limited (RKN) was instructed on behalf of Melton Borough Council 
(MBC) to comment on landscape and visual matters of the above Planning application. These 
Comments are to be read in conjunction with Comments previously issued to the Applicant on 
1st October 2021. Red Kite Network Limited are Landscape Architecture, Green Space and 
Ecology Consultants of Coalport, Shropshire.  

 
2.2. The Application proposal – “The planning application proposes the installation of a solar farm 

comprising ground mounted solar PV panels with a generating capacity of up to 49.9MW, 
including mounting system, battery storage units, inverters, underground cabling, stock proof 
fence, CCTV, internal tracks and associated infrastructure, landscaping and environmental 
enhancements for a temporary period of 40 years and a permanent grid connection hub.” 
(Planning, Design and Access Statement (PDAS) 1.1.3). 
 

2.3. The Site – “The Site extends to circa 183.5 acres (74 ha) of agricultural land to the north of the 
Grantham Canal (disused) and a former railways track (dismantled)” (PDAS 1.1.2).  

 
2.4. These comments are in addition to those previously made, assess whether the information 

outstanding to determine the Application (section 13 of previous Comments) as noted has been 
provided and with sufficient detail in order to recommend a decision of this Application with 
regards to landscape and visual matters.  

 
2.5. My assessment is subjective based on my own professional judgement. The additional 

landscape related documents reviewed are as follows: 
 
2.5.1. ‘Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment’ (LVIA) (Revised and updated October 2021) 

– Richard Sneesby Landscape Architects 
 

2.5.2. ‘Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment Plans and Representative Views’ (Revised 
and Updated October 2021) – Richard Sneesby Landscape Architects 
 

2.5.3. ‘SITE BLOCK PLAN – PROPOSED Rev B’ - Savills ref: 20.11.301 at 1:2500@A1 
 

2.5.4. ‘Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP)’ (Revised and Updated October 
2021) – Richard Sneesby Landscape Architects  

 
2.5.5. ‘Heritage and Archaeological Assessment (HAA)’ (March 2021) – HCUK Group 

 

Page 108



 

Ref: 20/01182/FUL 5 

 

2.6. My comments are based on the review of Landscape and Visual material and the other 
supporting documents for the application as listed above, prepared to date. 
 

3. Revised and Updated ‘SITE BLOCK PLAN – PROPOSED’ 
 

3.1. The Applicant has provided a revised and updated ‘SITE BLOCK PLAN – PROPOSED’ which is now 
revision B of this drawing. Within the previous Comments issued on 1st October 2021 a number 
of corrections to errors and / or clarifications were requested. This included;  
 

3.1.1. clarification of the allocated width for the buffer strip between the existing hedges and 
solar panels (para 13.2) 

3.1.2. inclusion of new standard trees in relation to CCTV poles and provide additional 
screening and filtering of views (para 13.3) 

3.1.3. clarification to the section illustrating the ‘Buffer zone to edge of panel arrays – typical 
detail’ to ensure width between the proposed perimeter fencing and existing hedges is 
between 4-5m (para 13.4) 

3.1.4. the LEMP states that a 2m margin for wildflower to the boundaries will be provided 
(page 5). However, it was not clearly identified on drawing ‘SITE BLOCK PLAN – 
PROPOSED’ if the position of the stock fencing will allow this (para 8.5) 

3.1.5. provide additional notes / labelling of native woodland planting and ponds for GCNs as 
identified within the LEMP (para 13.5) 
 

3.2. These have all been addressed within revision B of the drawing with the exception of 3.1.2 
which is detailed within the updated and revised LEMP rather than illustrated on the drawing, 
refer to section 4 within these Comments for further details.  
 

4. Revised and Updated Landscape and Ecological Management Plan 
 

4.1. The Applicant has provided a revised and updated LEMP by Richard Sneesby Landscape 
Architects, dated 21st October 2021.  
 

4.2. It is noted that ‘SITE BLOCK PLAN – PROPOSED’ referenced within this report is the current 
revision, revision B of this drawing.  

 
4.3. Proposed native woodland planting along north-western boundary will be planted (page 6), and 

a suggested ‘New woodland species’ list is provided on page 30 of the LEMP this was previously 
highlighted as missing in the previous Comments issued to the Applicant on 1st October 2021 
(para 8.4).  

 

Page 109



 

Ref: 20/01182/FUL 6 

 

4.4. The previous revision of the LEMP stated that ‘Management of woodland areas will be carried 
out through coppicing and thinning.’ However, details of this could not be found but it is noted 
that this has been included in the updated and revised LEMP and can be found in section 7.2 
‘Operation 1: New Woodland’ and Item 10.0 of ‘MANAGEMENT SCHEDULE: ROUTINE AND 
ANNUAL MAINTENANCE AND MANAGEMENT’.  

 
4.5. The previous revision of the LEMP did not provide details of the maintenance of the existing 

and mature hedgerows defining the individual field and overall Site boundaries. However, the 
updated and revised LEMP includes a new section; 6.4 ‘Boundary management’ which fills the 
gap of the previous report and a minimum maintenance height of 3m is noted in item 9.0 of 
‘MANAGEMENT SCHEDULE: ROUTINE AND ANNUAL MAINTENANCE AND MANAGEMENT’.  This 
reflects the mitigation measures found in the LVIA, refer to para 5.20 of these Comments for 
further details.  

 
4.6. There remains a confused narrative within section 7.5 ‘Operation 4: Areas of longer grass/open 

herb layer’ (formally section 6.4 within the previous revision of the LEMP) as per the previous 
Comments on this Application (para 8.11). 

 
4.7. I note that the ‘Recommendations for additional Mitigation Measures’ made in the previous 

Comments issued to the Applicant on 1st October 2021, found in section 9, regarding tree 
planting within the field hedges has been incorporated within the Development Proposals. This 
is a welcomed addition to the Development Proposals.  

 
4.8. There remains some outstanding comments and clarification requests from the previous 

Comments issued to the Applicant on 1st October 2021 but it is my opinion that these can be 
included within the Time Determined Conditions, refer to section 9 Recommendations within 
these Comments.  

 
5. Revised and Updated Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment 

 
5.1. The Applicant has provided a revised and updated LVIA by Richard Sneesby Landscape 

Architects which has been reviewed against the list of information outstanding to determine 
the application previously provided to the Applicant in Comments issued on 1st October 
2021. Below summarises the findings of this exercise, para references in brackets cross-
reference to the para number for Recommendations and information outstanding to 
determine the application listed in the Comments.  

 
5.2. Firstly, it is noted that the Site boundary assessed within the revised and updated report 

does reflect that shown on revised drawing ‘SITE BLOCK PLAN – PROPOSED Rev B’ - Savills 
ref: 20.11.301, where the previous reports did not (para 13.12).  

Page 110



 

Ref: 20/01182/FUL 7 

 

 
5.3. A review of and analysis has been completed for Policy EN10 (Energy Generation from 

Renewable and Low Carbon Sources) of the Local Plan within section 5.3 ‘Local Planning 
Policy’ (para 13.6). However, it is noted that other Local Plan Policies such as Policy EN1 
(Landscape) and EN2 (Biodiversity & Geodiversity) have not been reviewed or analysed 
which would add value to the LVIA report.  
 

5.4. A review and analysis of ‘NCA Profile 48’ and ‘Leicestershire County Council Landscape 
Character Type’ has been provided within section 8.4 ‘Response to Described Landscape 
Characteristics’ (para 13.7) of the updated and revised LVIA by Richard Sneesby Landscape 
Architects. However, it is noted that the requested review and analysis of ‘NCA Profile 74’ 
has not been provided. As noted in the previous comments there has been no 
acknowledgement that the Site is close to the boundary with ‘NCA Profile 74’ and that some 
of the key characteristics in this NCA may exert influence on the Site or that the Site and its 
surroundings may display some key characteristics.  
 

5.5. Within the revised and updated LVIA information by Richard Sneesby Landscape Architects, 
a defined study area appropriate to the proposed development and landscape has been 
provided in sections 7.2 ‘Landscape Designations’ and 8.2 ‘Assessment of Effects of the 
Proposal Upon Landscape Value and Character: Wider Context’. A review and analysis have 
been completed as requested. It is noted that Grantham Canal SSSI is not identified within 
section 7.2 ‘Landscape Designations’, which is surprising as this designation is in such close 
proximity to the Site boundary (para 13.8). However, the designation is referred to and 
considered throughout the report.  
 

5.6. A thorough consideration has been given for landscape value of the Site in its existing form 
to establish the baseline of the Site in section 8.2 ‘Assessment of Effects of the Proposal 
Upon Landscape Value and Character: Wider Context’.  Sections 8.8 ‘Summary: Capacity for 
the Landscape to Accommodate a Solar Farm’ and section 8.14 ‘Summary of Residual Visual 
Effects’, discuss the effects of change a solar farm Development Proposal would bring to the 
Site, its landscape character and visual appearances (para 13.9). I agree with the conclusions 
of these sections within the LVIA noted in paras 8.8.8 and 8.14.3. 
 

5.7. As requested, a narrative and justification for the decision to change the landscape 
sensitivity from moderate-high to moderate has been given in the revised and updated LVIA 
information within section 8.2 ‘Assessment of Effects of the Proposal Upon Landscape Value 
and Character: Wider Context’ (para 13.10). I agree with the justification given for this 
decision.  
 

Page 111



 

Ref: 20/01182/FUL 8 

 

5.8. Within the previous revision of the LVIA by Richard Sneesby Landscape Architects the key 
characteristic described in ‘Landscape Sensitivity and Green Infrastructure Study for Leicester 
and Leicestershire’ ‘Ensure that development does not detract from the setting of historic 
buildings and settlements.’ was not addressed (para 13.11). However, this has been done in 
great detail in section 8.13 ‘Visual Effects Upon Heritage Assets’, with which I agree with the 
conclusions given. The key characteristic ‘Retain the valued rural character of the vale and 
avoid urbanising influences’ (para 13.11) is discussed on page 38 of the updated and revised 
LVIA and states that, ‘This could increase the perception of human influence on the 
landscape. This is localised and hidden from most viewpoints.’ Which I believe addresses this 
key characteristic and I agree with conclusion reached.  

 
5.9. A fundamental reason for my deferring a recommendation decision in the last set of 

Comments was the inconsistencies of the viewpoint assessments due to the differing Site 
boundary as outlined in para 5.1 of these Comments (para 13.12) and an inconsistency of 
the receptor sensitivities given against the LVIA methodology (para 13.15).  In addition, it 
was requested that the additional viewpoints found in ‘Additional viewpoints, supporting 
information’ by Tetra Tech include a judgement on the sensitivity of the receptors, 
magnitude of change and significance of change as per GLVIA3 (para 13.22). In reviewing the 
updated and revised LVIA information provided by the Applicant, this has been addressed, 
they are consistent with the LVIA methodology given and I agree with the judgements 
described in pages 12 – 48 of ‘Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment Plans and 
Representative Views’. The revised information provided within this updated LVIA by Richard 
Sneesby Landscape Architects demonstrates that significant views of the Development 
Proposals are found in very close proximity to the boundary or within the Site boundary, 
which is to be expected but not within the wider landscape.  

 
5.10. Further to this, previously missing information for VP 14 has been provided within the 

revised information and is also consistent with the above comments (para 13.14).  
 

5.11. Another gap within the previously submitted LVIA material was the omission and/or lack of 
justification for the omission of viewpoints within the Church of St Peter and St Paul and 
Redmile Conservation Area (para 13.23). The omission of the Church of St Peter and St Paul 
is clarified within the updated and revised LVIA by Richard Sneesby Landscape Architects 
within paras 8.13.2 – 6 satisfactorily. A separate covering email from the Applicant received 
on 21st October 2021 provides justification for the omission of a viewpoint within Redmile 
Conservation Area satisfactorily, however, this justification cannot be found in the updated 
and revised LVIA by Richard Sneesby Landscape Architects.    

 
5.12. In previous Comments, it was requested that LVIA information and consideration is given to 

CCTV poles within the Development Proposals (para 13.16), this can be found and is 

Page 112



 

Ref: 20/01182/FUL 9 

 

discussed in para 8.16.5. In a covering email from the Applicant received on 21st October 
2021, they have outlined that the CCTV poles have reduced in height to 3m, which is a 
welcomed change and as such I agree with the judgements made in para 8.16.5 that they 
will be screened, within 5 years, through the addition of tree planting in their vicinity.  
 

5.13. It was also requested that the new access tracks and upgrade of the existing access track is 
discussed within revised LVIA information (para 13.16).  Para 8.16.2 states that details of this 
information that can be found in the ‘Revised Transport Statement’ by Hydrock and that 
‘Upon completion of the construction phase, the land will be returned to its original 
condition.’ Para 8.16.3 states that upgrades to the access track are now no longer within the 
Development Proposals and this has been discounted from the LVIA for this reason.  
 

5.14. In previous Comments, it was requested that the updated and revised LVIA information give 
further consideration to the Grid Yard which provides a permeant grid connection hub (para 
13.16). Although section 8.15 ‘Visual Effects of the Grid Yard’ remains broadly the same in 
this updated LVIA report, and viewpoints are not illustrated on the plan for this element of 
the Development Proposal, consideration is given to the overall effects within section 8.14 
‘Summary of Residual Visual Effects’, para 8.14.1. I broadly agree with the judgment and 
conclusion reached. 

 
5.15. Finally, it was requested that consideration was given to the construction compound of the 

solar farm Development Proposals within the revised and updated LVIA information (para 
13.16). This is discussed in section 8.16 ‘Visual Effects of the Development Proposal Upon 
Visual Receptors During the Construction Phase and Residual Effects of the CCTV Columns’, 
and para 8.16.1 states that ‘moderately adverse effect during the construction phase’ will be 
experienced. I agree with this judgement, however it would have been valuable to have a 
narrative to how this judgment was reached, a visual or description of the construction 
compound within the LVIA report and consideration of the construction phase for each 
viewpoint within pages 35 – 48 of ‘Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment Plans and 
Representative Views’.  
 

5.16. The updated and revised LVIA considers the seasonal changes when predicting and 
describing visual changes that a solar farm Development Proposal may bring in AVR 1-03 (TT 
VP1), VP5 and when considering the visual effects of the CCTV poles (para 13.17). It would 
have been valuable to the assessment if all viewpoints that are expected to experience 
visual change from the solar farm Development Proposal considered seasonality, particularly 
VPs 5-13 as they are either within the Site boundary or in close proximity to it and screening 
is provided by existing or proposed native hedges.   
 

Page 113



 

Ref: 20/01182/FUL 10 

 

5.17. An additional section, section 9.4 ‘Space for Wildlife: Leicestershire and Rutland Biodiversity 
Action Plan 2016-2026’ has been added to the updated and revised LVIA report. This 
addresses the comments previously made that the previous revision of the LVIA by Richard 
Sneesby Landscape Architects stated that the Development Proposal would contribute to 
wider landscape targets and LPA’s Biodiversity Action Plans without evidence (para 13.18). 
This recent revision of the LVIA thoroughly discusses the considered contributions and 
justifies the mitigation proposals of the solar farm Development Proposals in terms of 
biodiversity and ecology.  
 

5.18. Finally, it was requested in the previous comments that cumulative visual and landscape 
character impacts are considered for the solar farm Development Proposals at Jericho 
Covert (para 13.19).  This has been included in the updated and revised LVIA report by 
Richard Sneesby Landscape Architects within section 9.6 ‘Cumulative Effects’. I agree with 
the conclusions drawn within para 9.6.4, ‘that people’s perception of the landscape, when 
moving through it, will not be adversely affected by the proposed development in 
combination with other solar farms in the area’.  
 

5.19. The additional section 9.5 ‘Effects Following Decommissioning’ within the updated and 
revised LVIA report by Richard Sneesby Landscape Architects adds further valuable 
information to the assessment. It demonstrates that consideration has been given to the 
temporary nature of the solar panels and their associated infrastructure which are reversible 
and that ‘landscape character and visual amenity receptors and their views will ensure that 
the overall residual effect will be, at worst, negligible adverse’ (para 9.5.4). I agree with this 
conclusion.  
 

5.20. Another welcome addition to the updated and revised LVIA report by Richard Sneesby 
Landscape Architects is the in-depth discussion and consideration for mitigation found in 
section 9 ‘Summary of Outcomes of the LVIA Informing Additional Mitigation, Compensation 
and Enhancement’. I broadly agree with all the conclusions within this section and find the 
narrative informative to the Application as a whole for landscape and visual matters.  
 

5.21. An update to the ‘Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment Plans and Representative Views’ 
provided by the Applicant clarifies and corrects errors found in this document within the 
previous Comments issued on 1st October 2021 (paras 13.20 and 13.21), although it is noted 
that errors to the inset plans have not been picked up.   

  

Page 114



 

Ref: 20/01182/FUL 11 

 

5.22. The updated and revised LVIA by Richard Sneesby Landscape Architects concludes that; 
 
5.22.1. Para 10.2.1. ‘The site has a moderate sensitivity to solar farm development’ 

 
5.22.2. Para 10.2.2. ‘The site is located on low-lying flat land. At a national and regional 

scale, this type of site is favoured for solar energy production over undulating of higher 
ground as the effects upon landscape character and visual receptors are greatly 
reduced.’ 

 
5.22.3. Para 10.2.3. ‘The proposal is to install solar arrays within the existing hedged field 

boundaries. No hedgerows are to be removed such that the pattern of landscape 
remains as the baseline condition,..’ 

 
5.22.4. Para 10.2.5 ‘the significance of the effect upon landscape character is assessed as 

slight rather than neutral’ 
 
5.22.5. Para 10.2.6. ‘Described landscape characteristics, especially those listed in landscape 

management guidelines, will be enhanced by changing intense agricultural practice 
into a less-intense, nature-led, approach to landscape management. This will have 
benefits upon local biodiversity, as well as, reducing any residual visual effects.’ 

 
5.22.6. Para 10.3.1. ‘The effect upon visual receptors is assessed in the range large, through 

moderate to negligible. No assessments of very large effects were recorded.’ 
 
5.22.7. Para 10.3.2. ‘The site lies on low lying land in a comparatively wide-open landscape, 

with views towards the site hard to find from most directions.’ 
 
5.22.8. Para 10.3.3. ‘The exception are views from the immediate south and south-west 

where the site is visible from a public footpath which runs across the southern 
boundary of the site. The magnitude of effect from these viewpoints is assessed as 
large and adverse and experienced by high sensitivity visual receptors (footpath users). 
However, the small number of receptors gives rise to an overall assessment of 
moderate to slight and triggers a recommendation of some mitigation measures to 
reduce adverse effects. These views can be mitigated, but not screened completely. 
Once mitigation planting has established, within 5 years the residual effect is likely to 
be moderate and slightly adverse. Beyond 10 years, the effect will become slight and 
not adverse.’ 

 
5.22.9. Para 10.3.4. ‘These mitigation measures will not fully screen the proposal and the 

residual effect, following the construction phase, will remain as moderate to slight and 

Page 115



 

Ref: 20/01182/FUL 12 

 

slightly adverse from these viewpoints. It is important to note that these effects are 
upon the land cover within the field enclosures themselves, rather than any changes to 
landscape pattern or wider views which will remain unchanged. It is principally a visual 
change from one material (agricultural crops) to another (solar arrays), but with a 
potential change to perceptions of the landscape view based upon an individual’s 
response to this type of landscape change’ 

 
5.22.10. Para 10.3.6. ‘From all other assessed viewpoints the effect will be slight to 

negligible or visual receptors will experience no change to the view’ 
 

5.23. I agree with all the conclusions drawn by Richard Sneesby Landscape Architects outlined 
above found within section 10 ‘Conclusions’ of the updated and revised LVIA.  
 

5.24. To conclude, I have found that the updated and revised Landscape and Visual Impact 
Assessment by Richard Sneesby Landscape Architects is in line with ‘The Landscape 
Institute’s Guidelines for Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment, Third Edition’. It is 
acknowledged that ‘The Landscape Institute Technical Guidance Note 1/20 “Reviewing 
Landscape Impact Assessments (LVIAs) and Landscape and Visual Appraisals (LVAs)”’ has 
been used as reference. As has ‘The Landscape Institute published a consultation draft in 
February 2021: Technical Guidance Note, Consultation Draft 02/21 “Landscape Value and 
Valued Landscapes”’ and that this new consultation report has informed the assessment of 
landscape value which is commended. 
 

6. Summary 
 

6.1. In summary the solar farm Development Proposals for Jericho Lane are now broadly in line with 
‘Planning guidance for the development of large-scale ground mounted solar PV systems – BRE 
and Cornwall Council’ following the receipt of the additional requested information.  
 

6.2. The updated and revised Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment by Richard Sneesby 
Landscape Architects is in line with ‘The Landscape Institute’s Guidelines for Landscape and 
Visual Impact Assessment, Third Edition’. It is acknowledged that ‘The Landscape Institute 
Technical Guidance Note 1/20 “Reviewing Landscape Impact Assessments (LVIAs) and 
Landscape and Visual Appraisals (LVAs)”’ has been used as reference. As has ‘The Landscape 
Institute published a consultation draft in February 2021: Technical Guidance Note, Consultation 
Draft 02/21 “Landscape Value and Valued Landscapes”’ and that this new consultation report 
has informed the assessment of landscape value, an area of the previous LVIA I considered to 
be lacking. 

 
 

Page 116



 

Ref: 20/01182/FUL 13 

 

 
6.3. The revised information provided within the updated and revised LVIA by Richard Sneesby 

Landscape Architects demonstrates that significant views of the Development Proposals are 
found in very close proximity to the boundary or within the Site boundary, which is to be 
expected but not within the wider landscape. 

 
6.4. In most cases the Applicant has sought to clarify and justify queries in the previous Comments 

issued on 1st October 2021 with some small omissions which have been commented on within 
the previous sections of these Comments.  

 
 

7. Conclusions 
7.1. I believe the additional information provided by the Applicant provides sufficient evidence to 

conclude that the 'wider' landscape is robust enough to absorb this proposal and the 
cumulative effects have been considered with other proposals of this type within this 
landscape. Therefore, I can conclude that this Development Proposal will result in slight / 
negligible visual harm and I see no reason to OBJECT to the Solar farm Development Proposal at 
Jericho Covert. 
 

8. Recommendations 
Pre-Determined Conditions (should the MBC approve the planning application) 

8.1. Provide details of stripping, storage or replacement of topsoil in compliance with BS 3882. 
Provision of assurances and method statements of appropriate protection of any retained high-
grade topsoil, to ensure this resource is not compacted or tracked through construction and 
operational phases of development. 
 

8.2. Provide details of how the existing hedges and trees will be protected on site during 
construction and associated Tree Survey / hedge assessment compliant with BS 5837. 

 
8.3. Provide a provision that cable moling beneath individual tree RPAs is avoided. 

 
Time Determined Conditions (should the MBC approve the planning application) 

8.4. Provide a detailed Landscape Management Plan and Maintenance Schedule which is specified 
to the detail and appropriate duration (minimum 5years) to enable the Slight/Negligible ratings 
assessed in the LVIA within the wider landscape due to mitigation to be achieved. Ensure that 
the Landscape Management Plan and Maintenance Schedule does not enhance significance 
through poor aftercare of the mitigation proposed. Include for the removal and replacement of 
failed trees/hedgerow planting. Include clarification of amount of strimming required of short 
grass if grazing does not occur. 

 

Page 117



 

Ref: 20/01182/FUL 14 

 

8.5. Provide planting plans including schedules of species, stock sizes and densities for all planting 
within the landscape proposals. Provide information of mulch type and locations, the provisions 
for spiral guards or other protection for the establishment of plants and staking proposals. 

 
8.6. Provide seeding plans of wildflower seeding areas, seed mixes and appropriate cutting regime. 

Refer to para 4.6 of these comments for further details. Provide a cross section illustrating the 
positions of stock fencing to provide the 2m margin for wildflower to the boundaries as stated 
in the LEMP. 
 

8.7. Provide details for the bat, bird and log pile locations and numbers. 
 

8.8. Provide details of pond enhancement to increase the carrying capacity and suitability for Great 
Crested Newts (GCN). 

 

Katie Lewis CMLI 

Landscape Architect 

 

For and on Behalf of Red Kite Network Limited 

 

Footnotes 

The following acronyms have been used: 

1. LVIA - Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment 

2. MBC – Melton Borough Council 

3. LVIA – Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment 

4. VP – Viewpoint 

5. LI – The Landscape Institute 

6. GLVIA3 - The Landscape Institute’s Guidelines for Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment, Third Edition 

7. LEMP – Landscape and Ecological Management Plan 

8. GCN – Great Crested Newts 

 

Page 118



 

 
 

 

July 2021 
 
 

 

Melton Borough Council 
 
Application 20/01182/FUL 
Technical Review of an Agricultural Land Classification Report submitted 
on behalf of the Applicant on Land east of Jericho Covert, Jericho Lane, 
Barkestone Le Vale 

 
 

 

Beechwood Court, 
Long Toll, Woodcote, 
RG8 0RR 

01491 684 233 
www.reading-ag.com 

 

 

Page 119

Appendix I



 

9288 Barkestone le Vale review  

 

Contents 

1 INTRODUCTION ............................................................................................................... 1 

2 BACKGROUND TO AGRICULTURAL LAND CLASSIFICATION ............................................... 2 

3 TECHNICAL REVIEW OF THE SURVEY REPORT ................................................................... 4 

4 CONCLUSIONS ................................................................................................................. 6 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 120



 

9288 Barkestone le Vale review 1 

 

1 Introduction 

1.1 Reading Agricultural Consultants Ltd (RAC) is instructed by Melton Borough Council to undertake 

a technical review an Agricultural Land Classification (ALC) survey report submitted on behalf of 

the applicant in support of application 20/01182/FUL for: 

“Installation of a solar farm comprising ground mounted solar PV panels with a net 

installed generating capacity (AC) of up to 49.9MW, including mounting system, battery 

storage units, inverters, underground cabling, stock proof fence, CCTV, internal tracks and 

associated infrastructure, landscaping and environmental enhancements for a temporary 

period of 40 years and a permanent grid connection hub on Land East Of Jericho Covert, 

Jericho Lane, Barkestone Le Vale”. 

1.2 The ALC report accompanying the application has been prepared by Land Research Associates 

Ltd, and is dated 15 July 2020 and entitled “Agricultural Quality of Green Farm.” The report 

indicates that the site was first surveyed in semi-detail in November 2019 at a density of one 

observation per 5 hectares and subsequently surveyed in detail at one observation per hectare 

in July 2020. The report concludes that all agricultural land at the site is of moderate quality in 

Subgrade 3b, based upon the profiles having clay topsoil and imperfectly drained subsoils.  

1.3 The report comprises: 

• Section 1, Introduction: ½ page describing the size, topography and mapped geology and 

soils of the site; 

• Section 2, Soils: 1 page, describing the typical soil profiles found during the site survey; 

• Section 3, Agricultural land quality (although paragraph numbers in this section are also 

2.x): 1½ pages describing the agro-climatic factors at the site and the factors leading to the 

classification of the site as Subgrade 3b; 

• Appendix: 2 pages of the soil profile data for the 72 points observed; 

• Map 1 showing the location of observations and Map 2 showing the classification of 

Subgrade 3b within the site; 

• Lab results confirming clay textures at three observation points. 

Page 121



 

9288 Barkestone le Vale review 2 

 

 

2 Background to Agricultural Land Classification 

2.1 Guidance for assessing the quality of agricultural land in England and Wales is set out in the 

Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food (MAFF) revised guidelines and criteria for grading the 

quality of agricultural land1, and summarised in Natural England's TIN0492. 

2.2 Agricultural land in England and Wales is graded between 1 and 5, depending on the extent to 

which physical or chemical characteristics impose long-term limitations on agricultural use. The 

principal physical factors influencing grading are climate, site and soil which, together with 

interactions between them, form the basis for classifying land into one of the five grades. 

2.3 Grade 1 land is excellent quality agricultural land with very minor or no limitations to agricultural 

use. A very wide range of agricultural and horticultural crops can be grown, and yields are high 

and less variable than on land of lower quality. 

2.4 Grade 2 is very good quality agricultural land, with minor limitations which affect crop yield, 

cultivations or harvesting. A wide range of agricultural and horticultural crops can usually be 

grown but there may be reduced flexibility due to difficulties with the production of the more 

demanding crops. The level of yield is generally high but may be lower or more variable than 

Grade 1. 

2.5 Grade 3 land has moderate limitations which affect the choice of crops, timing and type of 

cultivation, harvesting or the level of yield, and is subdivided into Subgrade 3a (good quality 

land) and Subgrade 3b (moderate quality land). 

2.6 Subgrade 3a land is capable of consistently producing moderate to high yields of a narrow range 

of arable crops or moderate yields of a wide range of crops. Subgrade 3b is land capable of 

producing moderate yields of a narrow range of crops or lower yields of a wider range of crops 

or high yields of grass. 

2.7 Grade 4 land is poor quality agricultural land with severe limitations which significantly restrict 

the range of crops and/or level of yields. 

 
1 MAFF (1988). Agricultural Land Classification of England and Wales. Revised guidelines and criteria for grading the 
quality of agricultural land. http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/6257050620264448 

2 Natural England (2012). Technical Information Note 049 - Agricultural Land Classification: protecting the best and 
most versatile agricultural land, Second Edition. http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/file/4424325 

Page 122

http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/6257050620264448
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/file/4424325


 

9288 Barkestone le Vale review 3 

 

2.8 Grade 5 is very poor quality land, with severe limitations which restrict use to permanent 

pasture or rough grazing. 

2.9 Land which is classified as Grades 1, 2 and 3a in the ALC system is defined in Annex 2 of the 

National Planning Policy Framework3 (NPPF) as best and most versatile (BMV) agricultural land. 

2.10 As explained in Natural England's TIN049, the whole of England and Wales was mapped from 

reconnaissance field surveys in the late 1960s and early 1970s, to provide general strategic 

guidance on agricultural land quality for planners. This Provisional Series of maps was published 

on an Ordnance Survey base at a scale of One Inch to One Mile (1:63,360). The Provisional ALC 

map shows the site undifferentiated Grade 3. However, TIN049 explains that: 

"These maps are not sufficiently accurate for use in assessment of individual fields or 

development sites, and should not be used other than as general guidance. They show only five 

grades: their preparation preceded the subdivision of Grade 3 and the refinement of criteria, 

which occurred after 1976. They have not been updated and are out of print. A 1:250 000 scale 

map series based on the same information is available. These are more appropriate for the 

strategic use originally intended …" 

2.11 TIN049 goes on to explain that a definitive ALC grading should be obtained by undertaking a 

detailed survey according to the published guidelines, at an observation density of one boring 

per hectare. The site has not been surveyed previously and there are no records on magic.gov.uk 

of any detailed ALC surveys having been undertaken in the locality. The closest survey results are 

over 6km from the site. 

  

 
3 Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government (2021). National Planning Policy Framework. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2 

Page 123

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2


 

9288 Barkestone le Vale review 4 

 

3 Technical Review of the Survey Report 

3.1 The data, report and conclusions have been reviewed, as summarised in the table below. The 

review has concentrated on the methodology and approach used in the survey, the quality and 

consistency of data with published data, and the interpretation of the data in the light of the ALC 

guidelines.  

Review Item Y/N Explanation and Comments 

Have the correct ALC guidelines 

been referenced and used?  

Y The report makes reference to the MAFF 1988 ALC 

guidelines, and follows the methodology within the 

guidelines.  

Has the survey been undertaken at 

the correct observation density? 

Y The original survey of November 2019 was at a semi-

detailed density of one observation per five hectares. 

This was supplemented by a detailed survey in July 

2020 at a density of one observation per hectare.  

Is the site description correct?  Y Correct, although brief. 

Has the correct geology been 

identified?  

Y Yes, although the report does not specify that the 

recorded geology is bedrock and that there are no 

superficial deposits recorded across most of the site. 

There is an additional strip of superficial alluvium 

deposit at the northern edge of the site. 

Has the correct mapped soil 

association been identified, and 

the correct map referenced? 

Y The site is shown on the map Soils of Eastern England as 

having soils of the Evesham 2 association which are 

mainly calcareous clayey soils with impeded subsoil 

drainage. 

Has the correct climate data been 

used?  

Y Climate data as checked is similar although not identical 

(as the grid reference of the climate data point used is 

not given in the report). However, the very slight 

variability in climate data is no consequence for the 

grading.  

Does the soil identified on site 

correspond with the mapped data?  

Y The soils identified on site are generally consistent with 

the mapped soil data. 

Soils are described as clay throughout the profile. Two 

variants are identified: one with calcareous topsoil, 

upper subsoil and lower subsoil; and one with non-

Page 124



 

9288 Barkestone le Vale review 5 

 

Review Item Y/N Explanation and Comments 

calcareous topsoil and upper subsoil, and calcareous 

lower subsoil. 

Are the full soil profile logs 

available and described? 

Y 72 profile logs are appended to the report, representing 

one observation per hectare. 

Do the soil profile logs look 

credible?  

Y There is variability between the profiles, as would be 

expected in a natural soil. The descriptions are 

generally consistent with the mapped soil descriptions.  

Were any soil pits dug? Y Two pits are shown to have been dug on Map 1 and are 

described in paragraphs 2.3 and 2.4 (in Section 2). 

Has the correct Wetness Class 

(WC) been identified? 

Y Profiles in which there is a slowly permeable layer 

within 59cm of the surface are correctly identified as 

WC III. 

Has the topsoil texture been 

verified with laboratory analysis?  

Y Three samples, evenly distributed across the site. 

Has the correct grade been 

allocated? 

Y Although calcareous clay topsoil can lead to an 

improved grade in drier climates (as identified in the 

report at 2.5 in Section 3), the laboratory analysis 

confirms clay contents of between 59% and 68% in the 

topsoils analysed. These soils are therefore not 

upgraded as a result of their calcareousness.  

Have photographs been included 

in the report? 

N For completeness, photographs should be included, 

particularly of the structures identified from soils dug 

from the pits. However, the laboratory analysis, the soil 

descriptions and the descriptions of the mapped soil 

types all correspond. 

Is there any reason to doubt the 

robustness of the survey and/or 

report conclusions?  

N There is no cause for concern over the results of the 

survey. 

 

  

Page 125



 

9288 Barkestone le Vale review 6 

 

4 Conclusions 

4.1 The application site on land east of Jericho Covert, Jericho Lane, Barkestone Le Vale has subject 

to two ALC surveys. The first, undertaken in November 2019, was a semi-detailed survey at one 

observation per 5 hectares. The second, undertaken in July 2020, was a detailed survey, carried 

out in accordance with the established ALC guidelines at a density of one observation per 

hectare. 

4.2 The survey has been carried out by an experienced and qualified soil scientist, and the correct 

approaches and methodologies have been used in the survey and analysis of data. 

4.3 The soil descriptions and logs have been reviewed in the light of the ALC guidelines. There is no 

reason to doubt the robustness of the findings and the conclusion that all of the agricultural land 

at the site is of Subgrade 3b quality. 

Page 126


	Agenda
	3.1 Application 20/01182/FUL
	Appendix A - Summary of Statutory Consultation Responses
	Appendix B - Summary of Representations Received
	Appendix C - Recommended Planning Conditions
	Appendix D - Informatives
	Appendix E - List of Applicable Development Plan Policies
	Appendix  F - Historic England Response - updated
	Appendix G - Site Photographs
	Appendix H.1 - Landscape Assessment Report, 1 October 2021
	Appendix H.2 - Landscape Assessment Report, 12 November 2021
	Appendix I - Agricultural Land Classification Report
	1 Introduction
	1.1 Reading Agricultural Consultants Ltd (RAC) is instructed by Melton Borough Council to undertake a technical review an Agricultural Land Classification (ALC) survey report submitted on behalf of the applicant in support of application 20/01182/FUL ...
	“Installation of a solar farm comprising ground mounted solar PV panels with a net installed generating capacity (AC) of up to 49.9MW, including mounting system, battery storage units, inverters, underground cabling, stock proof fence, CCTV, internal ...
	1.2 The ALC report accompanying the application has been prepared by Land Research Associates Ltd, and is dated 15 July 2020 and entitled “Agricultural Quality of Green Farm.” The report indicates that the site was first surveyed in semi-detail in Nov...
	1.3 The report comprises:
	 Section 1, Introduction: ½ page describing the size, topography and mapped geology and soils of the site;
	 Section 2, Soils: 1 page, describing the typical soil profiles found during the site survey;
	 Section 3, Agricultural land quality (although paragraph numbers in this section are also 2.x): 1½ pages describing the agro-climatic factors at the site and the factors leading to the classification of the site as Subgrade 3b;
	 Appendix: 2 pages of the soil profile data for the 72 points observed;
	 Map 1 showing the location of observations and Map 2 showing the classification of Subgrade 3b within the site;
	 Lab results confirming clay textures at three observation points.

	2 Background to Agricultural Land Classification
	2.1 Guidance for assessing the quality of agricultural land in England and Wales is set out in the Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food (MAFF) revised guidelines and criteria for grading the quality of agricultural land0F , and summarised in Na...
	2.2 Agricultural land in England and Wales is graded between 1 and 5, depending on the extent to which physical or chemical characteristics impose long-term limitations on agricultural use. The principal physical factors influencing grading are climat...
	2.3 Grade 1 land is excellent quality agricultural land with very minor or no limitations to agricultural use. A very wide range of agricultural and horticultural crops can be grown, and yields are high and less variable than on land of lower quality.
	2.4 Grade 2 is very good quality agricultural land, with minor limitations which affect crop yield, cultivations or harvesting. A wide range of agricultural and horticultural crops can usually be grown but there may be reduced flexibility due to diffi...
	2.5 Grade 3 land has moderate limitations which affect the choice of crops, timing and type of cultivation, harvesting or the level of yield, and is subdivided into Subgrade 3a (good quality land) and Subgrade 3b (moderate quality land).
	2.6 Subgrade 3a land is capable of consistently producing moderate to high yields of a narrow range of arable crops or moderate yields of a wide range of crops. Subgrade 3b is land capable of producing moderate yields of a narrow range of crops or low...
	2.7 Grade 4 land is poor quality agricultural land with severe limitations which significantly restrict the range of crops and/or level of yields.
	2.8 Grade 5 is very poor quality land, with severe limitations which restrict use to permanent pasture or rough grazing.
	2.9 Land which is classified as Grades 1, 2 and 3a in the ALC system is defined in Annex 2 of the National Planning Policy Framework2F  (NPPF) as best and most versatile (BMV) agricultural land.
	2.10 As explained in Natural England's TIN049, the whole of England and Wales was mapped from reconnaissance field surveys in the late 1960s and early 1970s, to provide general strategic guidance on agricultural land quality for planners. This Provisi...
	2.11 TIN049 goes on to explain that a definitive ALC grading should be obtained by undertaking a detailed survey according to the published guidelines, at an observation density of one boring per hectare. The site has not been surveyed previously and ...

	3 Technical Review of the Survey Report
	3.1 The data, report and conclusions have been reviewed, as summarised in the table below. The review has concentrated on the methodology and approach used in the survey, the quality and consistency of data with published data, and the interpretation ...

	4 Conclusions
	4.1 The application site on land east of Jericho Covert, Jericho Lane, Barkestone Le Vale has subject to two ALC surveys. The first, undertaken in November 2019, was a semi-detailed survey at one observation per 5 hectares. The second, undertaken in J...
	4.2 The survey has been carried out by an experienced and qualified soil scientist, and the correct approaches and methodologies have been used in the survey and analysis of data.
	4.3 The soil descriptions and logs have been reviewed in the light of the ALC guidelines. There is no reason to doubt the robustness of the findings and the conclusion that all of the agricultural land at the site is of Subgrade 3b quality.




